STRONGER

Together Canadian Standards Ofor Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention





This document was published by the Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse (CCSA).

Suggested citation: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. (2010). Stronger together: Canadian standards for community-based youth substance abuse prevention. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse.

This is a living document that CCSA may revise and update to reflect the latest evidence and research.

© Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse 2010

CCSA, 75 Albert St., Suite 500 Ottawa, ON K1P 5E7 Tel.: 613-235-4048 Email: info@ccsa.ca

This document can also be downloaded as a PDF at www.ccsa.ca

Ce document est également disponible en français sous le titre : L'union fait la force : Normes canadiennes de prévention de l'abus de substances en milieu communautaire.

ISBN 978-1-926705-50-7

STRONGER Together

Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention



Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse

Executive summary

The Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention are part of A Drug Prevention Strategy for Canada's Youth, a five-year Strategy launched by the Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse (CCSA) in 2007 aimed at reducing drug use among Canadian youth aged 10-24. The Strategy is a response to a call-to-action towards reducing substance abuse among Canada's children and youth—a national priority identified by the National Framework for Action to Reduce the Harms Associated with Alcohol and Other Drugs and Substances in Canada (2005).

The development of A Drug Prevention Strategy for Canada's Youth was informed by promising research that indicates that prevention efforts are most effective when multifaceted (i.e., when media messages are used in tandem with prevention programs involving schools, communities and families) and sustained over time. As a result, the Strategy uses three complementary approaches to reinforce and multiply each approach's impact while delivering specific results:

- 1. 1. Forming and maintaining Sustainable Partnerships (e.g., National Advisory Group on Youth Substance Abuse Prevention – YSAP)
- Developing Canadian Prevention Standards.
- Building and sustaining a Media/Youth Consortium (e.g., www.Xperiment.ca, URL-TV)

These Standards have been prepared to support the prevention efforts of all those considering or currently engaged in community-based prevention work. Communities play a key role in preventing substance abuse and promoting the health of community members. How various members of the community go about their business can affect youth health—either promoting or hindering it. Youth substance abuse prevention is a long-term process, but the potential

rewards are great: fewer substance use problems occur among local youth, more youth experience positive development and quality of life in the community improves.

The Standards aim to support community prevention workers by providing them with:

- a benchmark of optimal performance for school
- support and guidance to pursue continuous improvements; and
- practical resources and examples to support change.

These are standards of excellence that strive towards optimal substance abuse prevention initiatives in communities. This destination may be reached by building upon existing strengths within the community and current prevention initiatives. To begin this journey, the Standards serve as a roadmap to help communities reflect on where they are now, where they wish to go and what areas of program development will prove beneficial in their prevention efforts.

The Standards are divided into four sections. The first section provides an introduction to the Standards initiative and highlights the importance of addressing youth substance abuse in the community. The second section outlines the guiding concepts that form the foundation of the Standards and details each of the 18 Standards. The third section provides a workbook with options for a 20-minute self-assessment, an in-depth self-assessment or an external review by a National Review Panel to further strengthen an initiative. Additionally, the third section provides further information regarding how to build a logic model and further elaborates on monitoring and evaluation. Lastly, the fourth section includes appendices that contain further information on risk and protective factors, the theoretical framework for the Standards and the methods used in the development of the Standards. The Standards are based on the principle of continuous improvement and will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis, based on evidence and feedback from those who have implemented them. The Standards address the life cycle of an initiative, which is divided across five phases:

- Assess the situation.
- Organize the team and build capacity.
- Plan a logical and sustainable initiative.
- Coordinate and implement evidence-based activities.
- Evaluate and revise the initiative accordingly.

Depending on where an initiative is in its life cycle and the time and resources available, it may be more practical for some communities to begin by reading and addressing the Standards in the phase most relevant to their recent work or to focus on the area they feel requires most improvement, rather than tackling all of the Standards across the five phases within a short period of time.

The Standards are a tool and, as such, may be used in ways beyond those suggested here. Implementation of the Standards must be made specific to the local circumstances of each community, which requires insight into local realities and professional judgement on the direction of one's initiative. The Community-Based Standards are a national resource designed to empower delivery of effective prevention initiatives within communities and to assist communities to enhance, monitor and evaluate their efforts on an ongoing basis.

Preamble: Community-based Standards

Stronger Together: Canadian Standards for Communitybased Youth Substance Abuse Prevention is part of a portfolio of national standards and guidelines prepared under the leadership of the Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse (CCSA). CCSA is an organization working to reduce alcoholand drug-related harm and has a legislated mandate to provide national leadership and evidence-informed analysis and advice to mobilize collaborative efforts to reduce alcohol- and other drug-related harms. CCSA receives funding support from Health Canada.

These Canadian Standards were developed by a Canadian Standards Task Force: Community- and Family-based Standards with representation from CCSA, partners and other experts:

- Doug Beirness (co-chair), Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse
- Shiela Bradley, Alberta Health and Wellness
- Diane Buhler, Parent Action on Drugs
- Gloria Chaim, Centre for Addiction and Mental
- Heather Clark, Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse
- Michelle Dartnall, Vancouver Island Health Authority
- Asma Fakhri, Canadian Centre on Substance
- Sylvia Kairouz, Concordia University
- Marvin Krank (co-chair), University of British Columbia, Okanagan
- Jodi Lane, Alberta Health and Wellness
- Betsy Mann, Canadian Association of Family Resource Programs
- Crystal Nieviadomy, Saskatchewan Ministry of Health
- Ray Peters, Queens University
- Gary Roberts, Gary Roberts and Associates
- Corry Rusnak, Yukon Health and Social Services
- David Wolfe, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

Development of Stronger Together: Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention has been made possible through a financial contribution from Health Canada's Drug Strategy Community Initiatives Fund. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of Health Canada.

CCSA would like to acknowledge Gary Roberts's contributions to the literature reviews and drafting of this document.

CCSA's Portfolio of Canadian Standards for Youth Substance Abuse Prevention

These Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention is part of CCSA's Portfolio of Canadian Standards for Youth Substance Abuse Prevention, developed to help advance youth-oriented drug prevention programs in Canada. When communities approach the prevention of substance abuse as a "whole community" responsibility—that is, through coordinated efforts in a number of settings—they are more likely to be effective.

CCSA's Standards Portfolio features resources specific to various settings with the aim of strengthening the quality of youth-focused substance abuse prevention initiatives in Canada. To support these efforts and assist in its application, the Standards Portfolio is supported by two databases: a Database of Prevention Resources* to aid in the understanding and implementation of the Standards, and a Database of Canadian Prevention Initiatives** for those looking for examples of initiatives that have been assessed against the Standards.

These Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention were prepared by the Canadian Community-based Standards Task Force, CCSA and partners, and advise community-based teams how to bring together initiatives in various settings (e.g., family, recreational, media, post-secondary institutions, workplaces, bars and nightclubs) into a coherent whole and how to link with school-based efforts. Activities in communities and schools may not always need to be coordinated, but they should at least be consistent with each other. Thus, the School-based and Communitybased Standards are companions, encouraging school- and community-based teams to plan consistent efforts and to connect with each other as needed.

The Canadian Standards for School-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention were prepared by a Canadian Standards Task Force, CCSA and partners, and call on school-based teams to implement a comprehensive approach to prevention that includes attention to the school's social and physical environments, teaching and learning, healthy school policy and links with community initiatives.

The School-based and Community-based Standards call on groups or teams to strengthen their work by aiming towards long-term, comprehensive initiatives within their respective spheres. Thus, the School-based Standards and the Community-based Standards are companions, encouraging school- and community-based teams to strive towards coordinated, broader efforts that are interconnected.

^{*} http://www.ccsa.ca/Eng/Priorities/YouthPrevention/CanadianStandards/Pages/YouthPreResources.aspx

^{**} http://www.ccsa.ca/Eng/Priorities/YouthPrevention/CanadianStandards/Pages/YouthPrevInitiatives.aspx

Table of contents

Executive summary	3
Preamble: Community-based Standards	5
CCSA's portfolio of Canadian Standards for Youth Substance Abuse Prevention	6
Section One: Introduction	11
1. Communities and youth substance abuse	11
2. How to use this resource	17
Section Two: Community Standards	21
Guiding principles	21
A. Assess the situation	27
1. Determine youth substance use patterns and associated harms	27
2. Learn factors linked to local youth substance use problems	31
3. Assess current activities, resources and capacity to act	34
B. Organize the team and build capacity	37
4. Engage youth partners in the initiative	37
5. Develop organizational structure and processes	39
6. Build and maintain team capacity	41
7. Clarify members' perceptions and expectations	43
C. Plan a logical and sustainable initiative	45
8. Ensure plan addresses priority concerns and factors and current capacity	45
9. Develop logic model showing how initiative will bring desired change	48
10. Plan for sustainability of the initiative	50
D. Coordinate and implement evidence-based activities	53
11. Promote quality of existing and planned initiatives	53
12. Strengthen coordination among local initiatives	55
13. Give attention to community policies and processes	57
14. Monitor the initiative	60
E. Evaluate and revise initiative accordingly	63
15. Conduct a process evaluation of the initiative	63
16. Conduct an outcome evaluation of the initiative	65
17. Account for costs associated with the initiative	67
18. Revise initiative based on evaluations	69
Section Three: Workbook	73
1. 20-minute reflection	73
2. In-depth review	75
3. Using a logic model to monitor and evaluate an initiative	130
Section Four: Appendices	139
1. Additional resources	139
2. Methodology	142
3. Bibliography	143
4. References	148

STRONGER Together

Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention

Section One: INTRODUCTION



Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse



. COMMUNITIES AND YOUTH SUBSTANCE ABUSE

A. WHY IT'S IMPORTANT THAT COMMUNITIES **ADDRESS YOUTH SUBSTANCE ABUSE**

The issue

The use of alcohol, medication, tobacco and other drugs is so interwoven into our lives, communities and economies that we

can lose sight of the harms linked to various patterns of use. i Concerted attention must be paid to preventing substance abuse among young people-and for good reason. It's during adolescence when most substance use begins, and it can interfere with important developmental changes (physical, cognitive, emotional and social) that take place throughout this period. Young people tend to use substances in more hazardous ways than older people, and this can result in immediate harms and set lifelong harmful patterns. The earlier a young person engages in regular substance use, the more likely that both immediate and later harm will occur. 2

It's during adolescence when most substance use begins, and it can interfere with important developmental changes (physical, cognitive, emotional and social) that take place throughout this period.

Problems that may arise immediately from use: In many cases, substance use occurs without adverse consequences, but even a single substance-use experience can result in serious problems such as injury, overdose, arrest, argument, sexual assault, fighting and vandalism. Immediate problems are more likely to occur with heavy use (e.g., binging) and with particularly hazardous ways of using (e.g., mixing substances; using in association with sexual activity, driving or by injection).

Problems that may arise from longer-term use: Frequent, ongoing use of alcohol or other drugs over a long period can

> result in a number of personal, community and societal consequences. Personal harms may be subtle, contributing to a lack of direction or not fulfilling one's potential. But they can also be severe and include mental health problems, damage to the brain and a number of other organs, deteriorating family relations, poorer performance in school or work, unwanted and unprotected sexual activity, violence, trouble with authorities, fetal damage from use of alcohol or other substances during pregnancy, and greatly increased risk for bloodborne infections (e.g., HIV, Hepatitis B/C) associated with injection drug use.

¹ This document uses the term substance abuse to refer to any substance use that is hazardous and may result in substance use problems.

Youthful substance use and various harms that arise from it are sometimes passed off by Canadians as part of growing up. But death, injury, unprotected sexual activity and diminished potential should not be accepted as part of becoming an adult.

The opportunity

Various authorities and levels of government certainly share responsibility for preventing substance abuse and promoting the health of Canadians, but communities clearly have a key role. After all, people live in communities: we work and attend schools and community events, play sports and use local recreational facilities, shop in local stores, patronize restaurants, bars and other businesses, and participate in spiritual and cultural activities—and this is where the problems that arise from substance abuse are keenly felt.

Within our communities, we often look to schools to shoulder a large responsibility for preventing substance abuse among youth, but other sectors of a community must share this responsibility. While schools have significant opportunities to influence factors that promote youth development—or on the other hand, that may contribute to substance abuse—many other factors fall largely outside of school boundaries (e.g., various family factors, media influences, availability of various substances, access to alternative activities, community attitudes and cultural values) and need to be addressed by others. Moreover, many of the immediate harms are of concern to the general community (e.g., vehicle crashes, vandalism), as are longer-term harms (e.g., family, legal, occupational problems).

Perhaps the most compelling shared argument for responsibility is that evidencebased prevention efforts are most likely to have a positive effect when they occur in multiple settings across a community and its schools, and when they are linked or integrated. 3 Positive outcomes for youth are most likely when schoolbased prevention teams bundle several measures (i.e., attention to the school's environment,

How various members of the community go about their business can affect youth health—either promoting or hindering it.

the curriculum, targeted populations and connections with parents) and link with community-based teams that integrate initiatives in other settings (e.g., family, recreational, media, post-secondary institutions, workplaces, bars and nightclubs) into a consistent or coherent whole. ⁱⁱ

How various members of the community go about their business can affect youth health—either promoting or hindering it. Youth substance abuse prevention is a long-term process, but wherever a community-based team begins its work, the potential rewards are great: fewer substance use problems occur among local youth, more youth experience positive development and quality of life in the community improves.

B. THE VALUE OF STANDARDS PERTAINING TO COMMUNITY-BASED PREVENTION

The potential rewards of community-based prevention activity are enormous, but preventing youth substance abuse isn't easy. Research shows community-based initiatives iii can work but in real-world situations often *don't* work. 45678 The reasons why this is so are not completely clear, but research and practice suggest two possibilities:

is not a trivial undertaking: Substance use issues are complex, influenced by legislation, policy, media, corporate interests, societal structures and community values. Merging diverse perspectives on these issues into a coherent action plan is challenging. At the same time, substance use can arouse strong feelings, moral views and, at times, simplistic thinking. Prevention takes time, but the voluntary nature of community-based initiatives can make it challenging to maintain focus and momentum.

There is undoubtedly an 'art' to community action that calls for community insight and professional judgment that cannot be captured in any set of standards. Nor can standards impart the positive energy and spirit that can make all the difference when people work together on any initiative. However, standards can offer a roadmap to guide planning, implementation and evaluation. They can help teams avoid ineffective strategies, prompt

[&]quot; The term 'team' is used in these Standards to refer to school or community groups that bring together diverse representatives to take preventative action on local youth substance abuse issues.
"In these Standards, the term 'initiative' is used instead of 'program' or 'project' to reflect that best results occur when prevention is infused into community processes rather than implemented as a separate, time-limited add-on.

them to consider steps and approaches shown to be effective and increase a team's confidence to navigate the challenges inherent in community-based prevention.

There is no single destination when it comes to communitybased preventioneach community will define its priorities and aims in its own way. In one sense, the journey or process of taking action is what is important, and whatever circumstances, community will likely benefit from-and be further strengthened by-evidence-based action on this issue by its residents. In another sense, results are important. Only by monitoring efforts

In one sense, the journey or process of taking action is what is important, and whatever the circumstances, a community will likely benefit from—and be further strengthened by evidence-based action on this issue by its residents.

to keep the initiative on track and evaluating activities to see if they work will a team know for sure whether its efforts are worthwhile. Standards can guide a team's process, increase the likelihood that it reaches its destination and help the team demonstrate success.

2. Community-based teams often do not use all the tools at their disposal: Too often, community-based teams or coalitions overlook the most powerful tool at their disposal—young people themselves. Initiatives that 'target' youth or are 'directed to' youth, rather than 'partnering with' youth will likely have a muted effect. Committing to partner with youth is not necessarily the easiest route for a team to take, but it's undoubtedly more likely to be a dynamic and effective initiative. It is this point that adult team members must come to fully appreciate—encouraging participation, leadership and decision-making among youth partners isn't just good for the youth themselves (although it certainly is), it's vitally important for the outcome of the initiative. Even well-intentioned and well-informed adults are not likely to have sufficient insight and awareness of young people's experiences to develop appropriate strategies and activities.

A 'blueprint' for planning and implementing an initiative that features youth participation isn't as useful as a firm belief that the youth members have the capacity to be agents of change in their community, and a genuine willingness on the part of adult team members to allow youth members the opportunity to find ways of participating that work best in their particular circumstances. 9

A second potentially powerful tool that teams often overlook is policy measures. Substance use patterns do not happen in a void. The various environments in which young people spend time have a significant influence on them, and a 'social ecological' theoretic framework that accounts for factors in various spheres of influence (i.e., personal, family, school, social, community and societal) helps guide understanding and action.10 11 12 Today's young people are growing up in a world that tolerates and promotes many forms of substance use (medical and non-medical, legal and illegal) and some youth environments are largely beyond the direct purview of communities (e.g., the Internet, popular culture). Moreover, broad sociocultural factors such as employment, income levels and how monetary wealth is distributed in a jurisdiction have an important role in determining health and substance use patterns. 13 But local groups, working with all the tools at their disposal, can shift local environments (family, social, recreational, etc.) to provide a buffer from these broader influences and improve community and youth health.

These Standards are based on the premise that the decisions and behaviours of young people cannot be considered separately from the various contexts in which they occur. An ecological view of the factors at play in the lives of young people calls for a 'systems' response by the whole community. Viewing the community as a system reflecting a particular social, political and cultural environment means working within that environmental context to modify aspects of the system that contribute to youth substance use, and strengthening those that promote youth health and development. Hence, community-based initiatives need to partner with young people and address the policy environments in which youth live, work, study and play. 14 15 16 17

Canadians have much to learn when it comes to working with young people to promote their health and prevent substance abuse at the community level. When teams approach their work according to these Standards, they will reap their own rewards; when they share their experiences, they will also help build knowledge on how best to approach this crucial work.

C. DEFINING COMMUNITY-BASED YOUTH SUBSTANCE ABUSE PREVENTION

While the term 'community' may refer to a population with presumed common interests (as in the business, gay or sport communities), for the purpose of these Standards, community refers to a population sharing geographic proximity (e.g., rural region, municipality, neighbourhood). ¹⁸

A number of different terms have been used to refer to community-based health promotion or prevention activity occurring at a local level, and commonly accepted definitions don't exist. For example, 'community-based', 'comprehensive community,' (community coalition', 'community consortium' and 'collaborative partnerships' have all been used to refer to interventions with similar characteristics. These may share various qualities but may also differ in how community- vs. agency-driven they might be, how open-ended vs. explicit their aims are, and whether they focus on a single problem or multiple issues.

To avoid confusion with existing terms, the Community Standards Task Force has adopted the term 'team' to identify a community-based body taking action on this issue. The Task Force defines a community-based substance abuse prevention team as "a group representing diverse interests in a community that organizes itself sufficiently to plan, coordinate, and possibly implement multiple prevention initiatives across multiple settings" (Merzel & D'Afflitti, 2003; ¹⁹ Wandersman & Florin, 2003; ²⁰ Holder, 2000 ²¹).

Most communities already have substance abuse prevention activities in place, usually administered by various individual agencies or organizations. Implicit in the Task Force's definition is that the initiative is not the effort of a single institution; representation from various parts of the community is needed, with particular attention paid to diverse and marginalized groups. Also implied is that the work is characterized by active local citizen participation and bottom-up planning and decision making.

Treatment services (i.e., formal services offering help for problems associated with substance use) are not considered a mandate of a community-based substance abuse prevention team, ²² but the team may link with treatment agencies to ensure a seamless continuum of services. In some communities, treatment agencies are involved in prevention and may play a key role in a community-based prevention initiative.

A team may form specifically for this purpose, or an existing group may include this issue in its mandate. For example, a broad-based drug strategy, community safety or health promotion committee may establish a youth substance abuse prevention subcommittee or team. Significant efficiencies can be gained in undertaking substance abuse prevention within a larger framework; however, if a youth substance abuse strategy is framed within a larger strategy, a team may need to guard against the youth substance abuse strategy being lost within that larger strategy (e.g., ensuring that youth substance abuse prevention objectives are monitored and evaluated). Aside from young people themselves (e.g., representing youth councils, youth agencies and other youth interests) and their parents (through parent councils or advisory committees) who need to play a prominent role on a team, groups or parts of the community that may legitimately see this issue as within their mandate and choose to lead or be part of such a team are varied and may include:

- rural and municipal councils, regional authorities;
- community health, safety or law enforcement committees;
- recreation associations, arts groups and sports leagues;
- social justice and community development committes;
- family/youth service agencies, charitable, cultural and faith-based groups; and
- employee and business associations.

Because every community differs, no ideal make-up exists for a community-based team. But teams will benefit from:

- linking with local school-based initiatives (for example, by including representation from school staff, parent and student councils);
- working hard to engage and meaningfully involve all parts of the youth community, including those less involved in school and other community activities;

- paid coordinating staff, although these teams may be volunteer-driven; and
- having ready access to expertise on youth and substance use prevention issues.

The social ecological theoretic framework discussed earlier and upon which these Standards are based sees the child or youth in the centre of ever-widening spheres of influence (e.g., individual, family, school, social, community and societal factors) affecting substance use and well-being, 2324 and calls for

a 'systems' response by various settings in the community. 2526 a systems approach, communities are called to work within and across the spheres of influence and settings to cultivate an overall environment that contributes to youth health and the prevention of substance use problems. "Settings" refers to various parts of a community that may promote or hinder health, including vouth local families, schools, government, local media, youth sport and recreational bodies, post-secondary

Ultimately, prevention needs to occur "wherever people are", which may require teams to reach out to non-traditional settings such as shopping malls and housing developments.

institutions, places of worship, bars, restaurants, and other local businesses and workplaces. Ultimately, prevention needs to occur "wherever people are", which may require teams to reach out to non-traditional settings such as shopping malls and housing developments. In a systems approach, these various settings are more than catchment areas for prevention activities; they are best seen as forming a dynamic ecology or system in which activity in one setting can affect and be affected by activity in another (that is, they can reinforce each other's efforts or work at cross-purposes). 27

According to the Community Standards Task Force's definition, a team has two basic functions:

- To *organize* itself for action.
- To *implement* the actions.

The Task Force sees three key areas of action:

Strengthen the quality of current youth substance abuse prevention initiatives.

- Improve coordination among current youth substance abuse prevention initiatives.
- Facilitate *filling of gaps* in current activity.

1. Strengthening the quality of existing programming:

Community-based prevention teams may agree to focus on strengthening existing prevention services, programs or activities. This may be achieved by conducting joint training on best practices and guiding principles for prevention and on quality improvement cycles of programming, resulting in better use of existing resources.

- 2. Improving consistency and coordination: Increasing consistency and coordination between prevention activities and programs is often useful, since programs tend to be developed and funded in an ad hoc manner. An important starting point is to define a common framework or language as well as a perspective on the nature of substance use problems, which can otherwise sidetrack groups. The benefits of doing so include more consistent aims and messages among those in contact with youth, better use of existing resources, and the increased potential that comes from various sectors working collaboratively toward the same goal.
- **3. Filling gaps in current activity**: Gaps may be filled by the team itself or it may be preferable for the team to facilitate others to fill them. Gaps may be filled by two kinds of prevention initiatives: 28
 - a) **Program-based initiatives**: These are projects, services or activities that aim to provide broad, growth-promoting activities and experiences for children and young people, or that more specifically aim to increase relevant knowledge, life skills and insights to avoid substance use problems, and to assist children and youth to help others avoid problems.
 - b) Policy-based initiatives: A policy is any established process, priority or structure that is purposefully sustained over time. 29 Policies may be of three types: *substance-based*, pertaining to the way a substance is sold, marketed and controlled, including attention to workplace and bar policies and policing approaches; child/youth developmentbased, including attention to rules governing sports leagues and procedures followed by child and youth agencies; and *policy-based*, including broad

economic and social policies that affect people's access to the determinants of health. ^{30 31} The net effect of all of these approaches can be either health-promoting or health-hindering for young people. A systems approach to community-based prevention seeks to shift these processes in a health-promoting direction.

Strengthening the quality of current programs and linkages between them before embarking on new activity is logical, but local considerations may dictate another route. One must bear in mind that the view of community-based prevention presented here is an ideal based on research. In any context prevention takes time; wherever a team commences its work (e.g., three concerned parents organizing a single initiative in a single setting) is a worthy place to begin and build upon.

Wherever a team commences its work (e.g., three concerned parents organizing an initiative in a single setting) is a worthy place to begin and build upon.

2. HOW TO USE THIS RESOURCE

While these Community-based Standards can be used by anyone who can work with and apply the information presented here, they are intended particularly for those in a position to be a 'prevention resource person'-individuals with the expertise and mandate to help community groups take action to prevent substance abuse among youth, possibly within a broader job description. iv

These Standards assume that prevention resource persons can serve either as members or as advisors for community groups, and that among other possible roles, the prevention resource person will share prevention knowledge with the team in a way that fits with particular circumstances (e.g., through coaching, consultation, training or the normal course of program development and implementation). The Standards support these professionals in their work with community groups by providing them with:

- a benchmark of optimum community-based prevention activity; and
- guidance and tools to pursue improvements in their group's work.

The Standards are researchbased and the Task Force holds that the more fully a community group achieves these Standards, the more likely its efforts will be effective. Nevertheless, numerous decisions must be made on the basis local circumstances and realities; thus, the Standards need to applied with professional judgment and community insight. They can be seen as a roadmap to guide action and help groups reflect on where they are and wish to go. The Standards point to an ideal approach that

Effective, highquality communitybased prevention work is most likely to arise from a social and political environment that views this work as an integral part of the continuum of health activity in a region or municipality.

may be difficult to fully attain, but it's important for groups to understand that any initiative that brings individuals together to pursue prevention aims is a worthy starting point.

It's also important to recognize that effective, high-quality community-based prevention work is most likely to arise from a social and political environment that views this work as an integral part of the continuum of health activity in a region or municipality—one that has the potential to improve lives and communities and to reduce the various health, social, criminal justice and lost productivity costs associated with substance

The Standards pertain to implemented initiatives rather than the program manuals or guides on which initiatives may be based. They are addressed particularly to prevention resource persons in their capacity as members or advisors for community teams. This resource provides a workbook (Section Three) with three options for strengthening a team's work:

Level 1 — **20-minute reflection**: The checklist on page 73 will help teams quickly assess the strength of their communitybased prevention initiative and identify areas of activity that warrant a more in-depth review.

Level 2 — In-depth review: This more thorough selfassessment (p. 75) will indicate where a team is doing well, and where it can further tailor and strengthen its initiative. Through this review, prevention resource persons—ideally working with other team members—may review a particular phase of work or a full prevention initiative to identify strengths and areas to improve.

Level 3 — Review by a national review panel: After the team has prepared the necessary documentation, it is invited to submit the materials to the National Panel on Communitybased Substance Abuse Prevention Standards for guidance and to learn how fully the initiative meets the evidence-informed Standards. It may take more resources than a community team has available to assess all its work in a single assessment, in which case teams are encouraged to assess a particular phase of work and, if they wish, submit it to the national review panel.

The Standards are a tool and, as such, may be used in ways beyond those suggested here. They are not, of course, a 'silver bullet'. Numerous decisions need to be made on the basis of

iv The delivery of prevention services varies across the country. No defined 'prevention worker' or 'professional' designation or training path exists for individuals whose work is the prevention of substance use problems. Nevertheless, these Standards are best interpreted by those whose job descriptions include the prevention of substance use problems and who have a mix of training and experience in addictions, prevention, public health, population health and/or health promotion. Other individuals such as child, youth and family workers; health workers; social workers; community development workers; police; and school personnel have much to contribute to a prevention group's work and may also have an interest in these Standards.

local circumstances; thus, the Standards need to be applied with professional judgment and insight into local realities. \blacksquare

STRONGER Together

Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention

Section Two: COMMUNITY STANDARDS



Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse



GUIDING PRINCIPLES

Several concepts are foundational and are best considered across the Standards and in all aspects of community-based substance abuse prevention work.

A. THE LINK BETWEEN PREVENTION **OPTIONS AND COMMUNITY CAPACITY OR READINESS^V**

Canada is a diverse country. Its communities reflect that diversity, and include rural, remote, small-town, exurban, suburban, and dense urban neighbourhoods with a range of ethnoracial mixes. Some of our communities are economically strong, some aren't; some are stable, while others are going through significant transitions; some possess a positive

community climate, others struggle in that area; some have a history of communityimprovement activism, and others have no experience of that sort. These general factors affect a community's readiness and capacity to generally promote the health and well-being of its citizens with respect to any number of issues. 32 33

Each community possesses its own unique strengths and limitations in relation to a range of factors.

Each community also possesses its own unique strengths and limitations in relation to various substance-specific factors, such as: availability and quality of leadership on this or related issues; history of public engagement on this issue; nature of past prevention efforts; attitudes towards substance use and substance use problems; general knowledge of factors associated with substance use problems; and access to financial resources and expertise on the issue.

A reasonable fit is necessary between a community's level of readiness and the type of prevention initiative implemented otherwise the initiative will not be supported by the community. 34 For instance, if binge drinking is prevalent among local youth but widely tolerated, it may be difficult to mount a significant prevention effort in the community (e.g., one that requires engagement of various parties, including the hospitality industry and local media). In such a case, teams may see the need to build community readiness by improving awareness of the prevalence and harms linked to youth binge drinking—not only among the general community but also among key influencers such as town councillors and local media. If in another instance lack of readiness is a function of having little or poor experience with collaborative or partnership-based activity in the community, the team may focus on building competency by organizing workshops on related topics (e.g., benefits of collaboration, how to resolve turf conflicts).

^{*} For these Standards, capacity or readiness describes the community's potential to take action likely to result in positive outcomes (Goodman et al., 1998).

Building readiness may be seen as an exercise in preparing the ground in the community before commencing with a prevention initiative. 35 In attending to this need, a team must not allow itself to lose focus or become sidetracked. An awareness-raising effort may be necessary to generate support for a prevention initiative, but it is not in itself 'prevention' because it is unlikely to result in changed substance use patterns among youth. 36 Community readiness is fluid and requires ongoing attention through the entire life cycle of an initiative. For example, readiness in the community may improve with an especially skilled and supportive municipal leader, or conversely can decline due to a turf conflict among community players. Community readiness to support an initiative is best nurtured by ongoing communication and engagement with the community throughout the duration of an initiative.

B. POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT AND RESILIENCY

Α positive youth development or 'strengthsbased' approach contends that most people respond best to help that emphasizes builds on one's and capabilities rather than focusing on deficits and limitations. 37 38 Through this approach, young people are seen as active agents with inherent capabilities to be drawn out and strengthened rather than passive subjects

When all the main influences in the lives of children and youth actively and collaboratively promote positive development over the long term, positive outcomes are likely.

with problems and deficiencies that need to be fixed.

Positive youth development approaches call for family, school and community efforts to build protective factors into the lives of all youth, and note that many children are not particularly burdened by risk factors and don't experience significant problems but are still not fully prepared for adult life (that is, they may be coping but not thriving). ^{39 40} Protective factors in the form of general *social and emotional capacities* (e.g., competence, self-confidence, connectedness, character, caring and compassion) and *environmental supports* (e.g., safe,

welcoming and non-punitive settings) that enhance wellbeing while serving to reduce the risk of a range of problems are emphasized over risk factors.

The most effective way to build these personal and environmental capacities is to engage young people as partners in community life as fully as possible. This means fostering environments in which youth are encouraged to become involved and assume increasing responsibility for their own lives and the lives of others.

A positive approach to building individual and system strengths in a community also promotes resiliency in young people. Resiliency is the ability to cope with adversity (e.g., adjusting to living in a new community). Everyone possesses some measure of resiliency, which can be strengthened with appropriate social support and positive environments.

When all the main influences in the lives of children and youth (e.g., parents, schools, out-of-school programs) actively and collaboratively promote positive development over the long term, positive outcomes are likely. A pattern is established in which children and adolescents receive support but also give back to their family, school and community. In this sense, this approach has benefits that extend beyond health promotion and prevention toward citizenship and democracy development.

C. DIVERSITY IN YOUTH POPULATIONS

In every Canadian community are young people with a variety of social and cultural backgrounds. When implementing prevention initiatives it's important to be mindful of the diversity that exists across the community and to ask: How can we make what we do work for the full range of young people in our community? vi Many individual differences exist among all young people—at risk or not. The ability of any child or adolescent to cope with challenges will be determined by the personal, family, school and community resources that can be brought to those challenges. In some senses, all young people, by virtue of the developmental changes they all undergo (e.g., the need to assert independence), and the various societal factors they all experience (e.g., the pace of social change), may be considered at-risk as a population. ⁴¹ Evidence does suggest, however, that the following populations are at heightened risk for substance abuse and ill health.

vi General options are to provide universal programs, taking pains to draw in those less likely to participate, or to target young people for particular programming. Care needs to be taken to avoid labelling or stereotyping those young people.

Aboriginal youth: Approximately 4% of Canadians identify themselves as 'Aboriginal', but within that designation is a diversity of histories and cultures. 42 Aboriginal peoples is a collective term for all of the original peoples of Canada and their descendants. 43 While the term Aboriginal is used to describe First Nation, Métis, Inuit and non-status people, it is important to use terms identified by individuals, families, communities and nations within their own appropriate environmental context. One factor shared by many is the residential school system, which is linked to a number of other factors (e.g., lack of education, lack of employment opportunities, poverty, low self-esteem) that together present significant challenges for Aboriginal people—including youth. While a national picture is not available, provincial data indicate that substance use among Aboriginal youth is higher than among their non-Aboriginal counterparts. 44 Aboriginal youth are over-represented in the youth justice and child welfare systems. 45 46 47 48

Youth disengaged from school and community activities: Young people who are not engaged with school and don't participate in community activities are more likely to experience mental health problems and engage in various health risk behaviours, including substance abuse. Canadian research has found that students with less connection to their school staff are more likely to use marijuana, to smoke, to be sexually active and to report depression. 49 On the other hand, even students who have been suspended or detained but perceive a connectedness with teachers are less likely to become involved in harmful substance use or other problem behaviours than counterparts who don't have that sense. 50

Gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender (GLBT) students: There are indications that GLBT youth need to be viewed as vulnerable to substance abuse, though caution is advised in generalizing findings over a broad cross-section of people estimated to represent 10% of the population. Reasons cited for increased risk among these young people relate to the added stresses of coping with their sexual identity, sharing their sexual orientation with family, friends and classmates, and general stigmatization. 51 Some evidence does show that GLBT youth who do not face stigmatization (e.g., routine taunting) are at no greater risk of using substances or experiencing other social/health issues than their heterosexual counterparts. 52

New Canadian students: The proportion of ethnocultural groups in Canada has increased dramatically over the last few decades, with most recent immigrants arriving from Asia, Africa, the Middle East, and South and Central America (cultures with widely different views on substance-related issues). Young immigrants and refugees who remain engaged with their families and cultures can draw protection from those values; however, they may be vulnerable to substance use and mental health problems due to earlier trauma, economic and social disadvantages, isolation and discrimination. Substance use attitudes and practices vary widely between cultures, but there is some indication of generally poor knowledge of the harms linked to substance use among new Canadians. New Canadian parents tend to be less involved in health promotion and prevention programs due to language and cultural factors. 53

Youth with less access to the 'social determinants of health': A number of factors, such as unemployment, low income, and poor living and working conditions are among a number of "determinants of health" that are understood to have significant impact on health. 54 These determinants may be seen as resources for healthy living; many people in our society experience challenges in accessing these resources. Lower-income Canadians are not as likely as higher-income Canadians to rate their overall health as being strong. 55 That said, the relationship between substance use and social determinants is complex. For example, youth with weaker school attachment and youth with more disposable income are more likely to drink alcohol and smoke marijuana or tobacco. 56

Youth with mental health issues: It has been estimated that 15% of Canadian children and youth will experience challenges from mental illness. The most prevalent mental illnesses in this population are anxiety disorder, conduct disorder, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and depressive disorder. 57 These often emerge in childhood and later increase the risk that a young person may develop substance use problems. For example, an early pattern of aggressive behaviour, as found in cases of conduct disorder, places a child at risk for later problems including violence and substance abuse. Other mental health problems, such as bipolar disorder and schizophrenia, tend to develop during adolescence and young adulthood, at the same time that substance use problems tend to emerge.

Substance use and mental health problems often occur together in adolescence. Substance use may be an attempt to self-medicate—to manage moods and feelings (for example, some studies have found adolescents with ADHD symptoms are much more likely to smoke cigarettes);⁵⁸ however, substance use can worsen symptoms or they may trigger mental health issues in predisposed individuals (e.g., heavy cannabis use and schizophrenia). Some forms of substance use can lead to mental health issues (e.g., heavy long-term use of alcohol, heavy use of amphetamines and heavy cannabis use particularly among youth).

substance use. ⁶⁴ Because girls tend to give greater priority to relationships than do boys, girls are more likely to judge school culture in favourable terms and express a stronger sense of school belonging and attachment. ⁶⁵

D. SEX AND GENDER DIFFERENCES

Much of the past research in this field has not accounted for sex and gender differences when investigating risk factors and effects linked to various kinds of substance use. The research that does exist has found important differences that need to be considered by prevention initiatives, as discussed below. ⁶⁰

Sex and gender (a determinant of health) are important considerations in relation to substance use, both in terms of physiology (sex) and 'cultural construction' (gender, that is the roles and expectations societies assign to boys and girls, and the experience of 'femaleness' and 'maleness').

Girls and women have a lower threshold to the effects of alcohol. Given the same amount of alcohol as young men, young women will become more intoxicated, get intoxicated faster and stay intoxicated longer (worsened still by dieting).⁶¹ While the percentage of male and female students who have used various substances has converged and is similar in many cases, males tend to use more frequently and heavily. Nevertheless, young women tend to experience problems and dependence at about the same rate as young men, ⁶² and women who use frequently over the long term tend to experience health effects sooner than men. ⁶³

Certain protective and risk factors may hold equal importance for boys and girls (for example, social support, academic achievement, and poverty) but are expressed in different ways. Other risk factors tend to be more important for girls, such as negative self-image or self-esteem, weight concerns, early onset of puberty, higher levels of anxiety and depression, or boyfriend's drug use. Similarly, certain protective factors, such as parental support and consistent discipline or self-control, tend to be more important for girls. Girls may be particularly vulnerable to the influence of peers, friends with problem behaviour, and peer or parental disapproval/approval of

The 18 Standards in the right-hand column below provide a benchmark for community teams to aim toward with their youth substance abuse prevention activities. They also represent a planning and implementation cycle. The Standards have been organized according to five phases that can be used to guide a full design, implementation and evaluation process.

While each phase and Standard is important, and is presented in a particular order here, community prevention work is highly organic, so the cycle is best viewed as non-linear and flexible. For example, the optimum time to organize a group will vary and it may not occur where presented in these Standards, following the initial assessment and mobilization effort.

Considering all 18 Standards together may not be practical; it may be more valuable to limit a reflection or selfassessment to a recently completed phase. Teams may also come to these Standards in the midst of their work and refer to them from that point onwards.

Phase	Standards
A. ASSESS the situation	 Determine youth substance use patterns and associated harms Learn factors linked to local youth substance use problems Assess current activities, resources and capacity to act
B. ORGANIZE the team and build capacity	 Engage youth partners in the initiative Develop organizational structure and processes Build and maintain team capacity Clarify members' perceptions and expectations
C. PLAN a logical and sustainable initiative	 Ensure plan addresses priority concerns and factors, and current capacity Develop logic model showing how initiative will bring desired change Plan for sustainability of the initiative
D. COORDINATE and implement evidence-based activities	 11. Promote quality of existing and planned initiatives 12. Strengthen coordination among local initiatives 13. Give attention to community policies and processes 14. Monitor the initiative
E. EVALUATE and revise initiative accordingly	 15. Conduct a process evaluation of the initiative 16. Conduct an outcome evaluation of the initiative 17. Account for costs associated with the initiative 18. Revise initiative based on evaluations

STRONGER TOGETHER: Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention.

A. ASSESS THE SITUATION

The assessment is the foundation of a prevention initiative. The more thorough the team is in completing this work, the more accurate and effective the plan.

1. Determine youth substance use patterns and associated harms

Rationale

To determine whether action is warranted and to respond appropriately, it's necessary to clarify as closely as possible the nature and extent of substance use among local youth and the harms arising from use. Systematic collection of existing and new information on youth substance use from multiple credible sources establishes a firm foundation for an initiative, allowing the community and team to identify priority concerns, focus on the factors at play, and articulate a clear goal for the initiative.

Background

Substance use and problems arising from it are never too far away from public consciousness in Canada. The vast majority of Canadian adults use mood-altering substances in some way—whether caffeine, alcohol, psychoactive pharmaceutical products or illegal substances—and this generates a steady stream of media stories and anecdotes shared among residents in the community. In some cases, these stories involve young people and may alert local residents, agencies or governments to an existing or emerging issue. On the other hand, they may create a perception of a problem that isn't fully accurate. By going beyond media stories and drawing information from as many credible sources as possible, teams will arrive at a deeper, more accurate understanding of youth substance use problems. A helpful way to develop this understanding is to distinguish between the prevalence of use, hazardous use and harms for various substances. The general Canadian picture drawn from several recent provincial student surveys provides a useful context and starting point for understanding local issues. vii

Substance use: Although most adolescents who use substances do not encounter problems as a result, even infrequent use may result in harm example, injury or overdose), and the use of alcohol or an illegal drug by underage youth is against the law and could result in

While many Canadian youth choose not to use any substance through their adolescent years, most eventually do.

being apprehended by police. Nevertheless, while many Canadian youth choose not to use any substance through their adolescent years, most eventually do.

- The most used substances are alcohol, cannabis, prescription drugs (non-medical use) and tobacco.
- The vast majority of Canadian youth have not used any substances when they enter Grade 7, but the percentage that do at least try one substance or another rises dramatically through junior and senior high school to the point where, by the end of the high school years, most have used alcohol and around half have used cannabis (with little difference between girls and boys).
- Typically, less than 15% of students report any use of illegal substances other than cannabis (such as psilocybin, ecstasy, cocaine, LSD, inhalants and methamphetamine). 66 67
- Less is known about the extent of non-medical use of prescribed medications, but it appears to be an emerging concern. 68

vii These surveys do not include students absent from school for various reasons on the day the survey was administered (e.g., sickness, suspension, truancy); these youth are generally at higher risk for substance abuse, consequently, surveys may under-represent the extent of substance use and harms.

- Canadian communities of all sizes typically have a
 population of youth who are socially excluded (i.e.,
 not in school, living out of the mainstream). Their
 use of substances is not fully clear but is believed to
 be higher.
- As young people make the transition to postsecondary studies or the workplace, substance use patterns tend to remain relatively high. ^{69 70}

Hazardous substance use: When a young person reports in a questionnaire that he or she has used a substance at least once in the past year, it's helpful to the research but doesn't reveal much about that individual's relationship with that substance. This response could reflect a single experience arising from curiosity or a more

A hazardous substance use pattern that concerns both parents and experts is using alcohol or another substance to the point of intoxication.

hazardous pattern. A hazardous substance use pattern that concerns both parents and experts is using alcohol or another substance to the point of intoxication. For example, in surveys across the country, around one-half of Grade 12 students typically report having binged or gotten drunk in the past month. ^{71 72} Frequent use of alcohol, tobacco, medications without medical supervision or any illegal substance, especially to the point of intoxication, is particularly hazardous. Other hazardous patterns for which some information does exist are:

- About 12–13% of Grade 10–12 students with licenses in Ontario and Atlantic Canada (NS, NB, NL, PEI) report driving within an hour of consuming alcohol.
- Driving after using cannabis has become more common than driving after using alcohol in jurisdictions reporting this information (e.g., 17% vs. 12% (ON); and 23% vs. 13% (NS)); use of both cannabis and alcohol together is raising concern among road safety experts. ⁷³
- A significant minority of students have been passengers in a motor vehicle with a driver who has been drinking alcohol or using cannabis on at least

- one occasion in the past year (e.g., in the Atlantic region, alcohol: 19% of students; cannabis: 23%). ⁷⁴
- Of sexually active Grade 9, 10 and 12 students in the Atlantic region, about 33% reported having unplanned sex while under the influence of a substance at least once during the course of the year. ⁷⁵
- Use by injection is relatively rare among students (e.g., less than 1% of students in Ontario), but is a particularly hazardous way of using a substance.

Other hazardous patterns for which little national information exists include: using substances of unknown content; using two or more substances at a time; and using a substance in association with sports/other physical activity, and school or studying. ⁷⁶

Harmful substance use: The use of substances in a hazardous way increases the likelihood of harmful consequences to the individual, that person's family, friends and the broader community. The vast majority of young people will not become dependent on alcohol or any other substance, but some will.

- About 6% of Canadian youth aged 15–19 may be dependent on alcohol, and about 3% may be dependent on an illicit drug.⁷⁷
- About 11% of Ontario students who use cannabis show signs of dependence.⁷⁸

As a result of their drinking or other drug use, a higher percentage of youth will injure themselves or someone else, damage things, get into fights and arguments, have trouble with the police, or get sidetracked from their goals and plans. ^{79 80} Some of these harms may be seen as relatively minor; however, some may be fatal or life-changing, and cause ripples through families and communities.

- In 2001, 25% of drivers aged 19 and younger who died behind the wheel and were tested were over the legal alcohol limit.
- Among British Columbia students who reported using drugs or alcohol in the previous year, 31% had experienced passing out from intoxication.

In many Canadian communities (small, medium and large) a population of young people are living on the street or 'out of the mainstream' and are either at higher risk or are already regular or heavy substance users. Because this population is fluid and difficult to study, no Canadian studies exist that

generalize beyond a particular community at a particular time. However, to illustrate the heightened risk of young people living out of the mainstream, a study of street youth in a medium-sized Canadian city found that the vast majority were on the street due to poverty, family dysfunction, sexual, emotional or physical abuse, as well as dissatisfaction or problems with social services and/or child welfare. About 40% described their substance use as problematic or as an addiction. A significant number of youth commented on depression, suicidal ideation and/or suicide attempts, or other mental health issues. 83 Another study in a different mediumsized city found that young people living on the street were less likely to have a history of abuse than a history of frequent moves and dislocation (for example, from one guardian's house to another, or from foster home to foster home). 84

Achieving the Standard

Depending on the size of the team, the community and the available resources, the team may identify an individual or subcommittee comfortable working with this kind of information or data (e.g., university or college researchers, graduate students). Teams have two routes to clarify local youth substance use patterns: to gather existing information and to collect new information.

Existing information: Most Canadian jurisdictions administer reliable school surveys at least on an occasional basis and, in some cases, the results are broken down by region or district (survey reports can be found at: http:// www.ccsa.ca/Eng/Statistics/Canada/SAADUS/Pages/ default.aspx). Depending on how recent the report and how typical the community, these results will, at a minimum, provide a helpful starting point for understanding the local situation. Useful reports with information on hazardous patterns and harms might be obtained from police (e.g., impaired driving incidents), physician groups, public health officials, street agencies, treatment services and local hospital emergency units (e.g., injuries), and school reports on drug policy infractions. Any one of these sources provides only a part of the picture; it's most helpful to collect and integrate information from several credible sources.

New information: In some communities, existing documentation may be scarce, or what does exist may contain significant gaps, making it necessary to gather new information. Useful information for which little documentation may exist includes patterns of use among higher-risk or hard-to-reach youth, and locations of use. Options for gathering new information are key informant interviews, community forums, focus groups, surveys (e.g., web-based) and observation. Candidates for key informant interviews would be knowledgeable personnel from the agencies mentioned above (police, public health, etc.). An addiction counsellor may, for example, have insights into female binge drinking in the community. Schools and school boards tend to be hesitant to give classroom time to student surveys, but if doing so, the team must ensure that the survey instrument is valid and reliable by contacting regional or provincial government addiction authorities.

A key source of information is young people themselves. Information may be gained through a meeting or forum or by administering a survey with technical support from a prevention resource person or researcher. By asking young people about their experiences, a substance abuse prevention initiative sends the message that youth perspectives and involvement are central to the initiative, which will greatly increase the likelihood that efforts are supported. An even stronger base for a future initiative can be established by training and supporting young people

> information gather about substance use in the community.

The process of gathering information provides an opportunity to raise awareness of the team's interest among various parties in the community.

The process of gathering information provides an opportunity to raise awareness of the team's interest among various parties in the community. When approaching those with information, being clear on how the information will be used and offering to share results will increase cooperation. Upon gathering the best available

information on prevalence of use, hazardous use and harmful consequences, the team needs to analyze the information and identify priority concerns and target groups. The analysis and conclusions drawn will form the basis of the initiative, so teams may wish to draw other community members into this process.

STRONGER TOGETHER: Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention.

In the planning phase, once the team has determined its goal and target, the team will need to revisit this information and possibly build on it to arrive at 'baseline' data (e.g., on substance-use-related knowledge, skills, behaviours) against which the initiative can be evaluated.

2. Learn factors linked to local youth substance use problems

Rationale

A range of factors or conditions pertaining to the individual, the substance and the environment (e.g., family, school, social, community and societal factors) influence youth substance use. Understanding the factors that seem most connected to particular substance use concerns in a community is fundamental to a prevention initiative, as these priority factors are what the initiative needs to address. Community institutions and their structures (regulations, policies and procedures) cannot be overlooked for their influence on substance use problems.

Background

During the course of a young person's development, various factors interact to determine whether that individual will use a substance and whether use may become problematic. Some of these factors make substance abuse less likely (that is, they are *protective*), while some increase the likelihood (*risk factors*). Through one's childhood and adolescent years, every person possesses or experiences a mix of these factors. The balance between the intensity (i.e., number, strength and duration) of these risk and protective factors determines the likelihood that problem behaviours will arise. 85

Some of these factors are very close or specific to substance use behaviour (for example, expectations about the rewards and risks associated with cannabis use), whereas other factors are broad (e.g., family cohesion) and may influence the likelihood of any of several youth issues arising (e.g., mental health problems, unhealthy sexual activity, violence, substance abuse).

Significant early childhood risk factors (e.g., prenatal alcohol exposure, physical abuse) may lead to a pathway with lifelong challenges. On the other hand, early protective factors (strong preschool programming) can provide a buffer against risk factors and help set a healthy

While early factors are important in determining a child's pathway through life, each life stage presents challenges and opportunities.

trajectory. While early factors are important in determining a child's pathway through life, each life stage presents challenges and opportunities. For example, a young person who had been faring well can become vulnerable from a combination of risk factors in his or her mid-teens (e.g., feeling abandoned by one or both parents due to their separation, while adjusting to life in a new school or community). Conversely, a child who has struggled may respond well to an adult mentor during elementary school years.

Some examples of important risk and protective factors for substance abuse are listed below (see Appendix for risk and protective factor discussion):

Personal factors:

- genetic make-up
- during pregnancy, exposure to alcohol, tobacco or other substances (risk factor)
- in childhood, mental health problems (especially conduct disorder) (risk factor)
- in late childhood or early adolescence, use of tobacco and alcohol (risk factor)
- in adolescence, a sensation-seeking personality and internalized problems (such as anxiety or a sense of hopelessness) (risk factor)
- in adolescence, confusion about sexual identity (risk factor)
- in adolescence, delinquency and conduct problems (risk factors)
- throughout childhood, social and emotional competence (e.g., ability to trust, confidence in oneself and one's ability to meet demands, the ability to take initiative) (protective factors)
- in adolescence, cautious temperament (protective factor)

Family factors:

- early deprivation (e.g., neglect, maltreatment, or lack of affection from caregivers) (risk factor)
- in late childhood and adolescence, insecurity, transitions or significant changes in family life (e.g., moving to a new neighbourhood or school, loss of a close family member or parental separation) (risk factors)
- in adolescence, parents or siblings with substance use problems (risk factors)

- in adolescence, extreme approaches to discipline and family rules (i.e., being either too permissive or too punitive) (risk factors)
- throughout childhood/youth, family bonding and family time (*protective factor*)
- throughout childhood/youth, parenting competence (e.g., ability to listen, set reasonable expectations, monitor child's activities and model healthy attitudes and behaviours) (protective factors)

School factors (throughout school years):

- learning disabilities (*risk factors*)
- disengagement with learning and poor relationships with peers and teachers (e.g., being bullied, feelings of not belonging) (risk factors)
- positive teacher, learning and social connectedness (protective factor)

Social factors (in adolescence):

- peer influence; perception that substance use is common or 'normative' in social networks (*risk* factor)
- perceptions of higher risk vs. benefit associated with a particular substance (*protective factor*)
- high availability of a particular substance (physically and financially) (risk factor)
- bullying and violence (*risk factors*)
- media influence
- religious or spiritual engagement (protective factor)
- active involvement in healthy recreational activities (protective factor)
- taking increasing responsibility in community affairs (*protective factor*)

Community factors (across life stages):

- poor economic conditions (e.g., inadequate income, employment) (*risk factors*)
- lack of availability and low quality of housing (risk factors)
- high quality of social support networks (protective factor)
- poor working conditions (e.g., jobs with boring tasks, lack of supervision) (*risk factors*)

- poor community conditions (e.g., poorly maintained schools, poor public transport) (risk factors)
- lack of access to recreation and community services (risk factor)
- crime, public drug use and social disorder (*risk* factors)
- strong community cohesiveness and ability to solve common problems (i.e., social capital) (protective factors)
- strong cultural identity (*protective factor*)

Societal factors (across life stages):

 social and economic factors can affect individual and population health and substance use patterns (e.g., growth in part-time and casual jobs, lack of affordable housing, widening gap between the rich and poor in Canada, and strained work-family life balance are risk factors) and are in turn affected by government and corporate policies

Many communities have young people who are particularly vulnerable because they have experienced more than their share of risk factors and relatively few protective factors. The likelihood of these young people becoming involved in substance abuse or any of several other harmful behaviours—such as unprotected sexual activity and criminal behaviour—and also having less socially disruptive internalized problems (such as extreme shyness, depression and anxiety) is higher than for other young people. ⁸⁶ As such, it's important to identify children and adolescents experiencing risk factors or conditions with a view to reducing these conditions or fostering more protective factors in their lives.

While those with a high number of risk factors are likely to engage in more frequent binge drinking and illegal drug use and experience various harms, one must be aware that most young people who engage in binge drinking and tobacco use experience only ordinary levels of these risk factors or conditions. Their substance use may be best understood as arising from various social influences (e.g., media, community drinking patterns) to which all young people are exposed and as risky expression of normal adolescent development. Viii Nevertheless, these students place themselves and others at risk for a range of harms, including arguments, fights, car crashes, injuries and legal problems. 87

viii Tasks of normal adolescent development that substance use may satisfy include: taking risks; demonstrating autonomy and independence; developing values distinct from parental and societal authority; seeking novel and exciting experiences; and satisfying curiosity.

Some have observed that many children are not particularly burdened by risk factors and don't significant experience problems but are still not fully prepared for adult life (that is, they may be coping but not thriving). In this sense, all young people benefit from the protective effects of healthy family, school and community environments, 88 89 and some community-based

It's important to be aware that most young people who engage in binge drinking and tobacco use experience only ordinary levels of these risk factors or conditions.

prevention initiatives focus on cultivating those qualities in the various environments in young peoples' lives in a coordinated way.

Achieving the Standard

Standard 1 advises that substance abuse priority concern(s) be identified after analyzing the data collected, so teams need to consider the particular factors associated with the team's priority substance abuse concerns (understanding that, for example, at least some of the factors linked to binge drinking among boys will likely differ from the factors linked to abuse of prescribed opiates by girls).

As with data on substance use patterns, some of the information on protective and risk factors will already be documented, while other information may need to be collected specifically for this initiative. Broader demographic information will likely be available from municipal, regional or provincial government offices, and documentation on factors affecting family and youth may be available from local agencies. Various techniques can be used to gather new information, including key informant interviews, surveys, focus groups, town meetings, community and youth forums, and use of webbased social networking tools.

As the team proceeds to assess the protective and risk factors at play, it may be helpful to distinguish between factors that appear unique to substance abuse (e.g., community drinking norms, availability of alcohol and other drugs) and those that appear shared with other issues such as mental health and crime (e.g., parenting skills, positive school experience). If the latter types of factors appear most relevant, it may point the team to partnering with others in the planning stage.

It's important to have a broad understanding of the range of possible factors affecting the team's priority substance use concerns, but in the short term, addressing all of the factors at play is likely not possible. Consequently, a team needs to conclude this assessment of associated factors with a tentative consensus on priority factors. This is ultimately a strategic question that will involve a number of considerations (e.g., community capacity, availability of resources, etc.), thus it may need to be revisited and confirmed when entering into the planning phase (Standard 8).

3. Assess current activities, resources and capacity to act

Rationale

An assessment of current relevant activities, resources and capacity positions the team to identify gaps and avoid duplicating activities, and contributes to an overall understanding of the community's readiness to act on youth substance abuse. The assessment also allows the team to gauge where to begin with its work and what size of initiative the team can realistically support. Documenting a solid understanding of the current situation can support evaluation, allowing the team to identify changes in activities, resources and capacity that have occurred as a result of the initiative.

Background

For the purpose of these Standards, relevant activities and resources can be defined as anything that can be brought into play to reduce the likelihood that young people will engage in substance abuse. "Current (or recent) activities" refers to specific prevention activities in the community, whereas "resources" are general assets in the community (youth agencies, cultural groups, etc.) that might be applied to the prevention effort. In one sense, relevant activities and resources represent some of a community's protective factors and they could be accounted for in a review of associated factors (Standard 2). Capacity or readiness is a dynamic quality that is difficult to define, but in the sense used for these Standards, it describes the community's potential to take action that is likely to result in positive outcomes. 90

Every community has its strengths and challenges, and these qualities can shift with changes at the system (e.g., declining or increased budgets) or interpersonal levels (e.g., a leader moves in or away, infighting increases or declines). Readiness to act may be linked to the severity of substance use problems in a community (that is, youth substance abuse may be a significant issue precisely because the community is not prepared to address it, for whatever reason). A lack of readiness may also be associated with a general tolerance or acceptance of the situation (reflected in the sentiment, "This is just the way it is around here"). On the other hand, concern may be widely shared about youth substance use but with little appreciation for the role of the local policy environment to affect the problem.

Upon conducting an assessment, community groups are often pleasantly surprised with how many activities and resources already exist. (To the extent that this is so, relatively less effort may need to be devoted to developing new programs, with more going toward supporting improvements in the quality of existing activities and increasing coordination between them.) Nevertheless, this assessment will likely reveal areas of capacity the team will need to address (see Standard 6). For example, if appreciation for the role of the local policy environment in preventing substance abuse among youth is lacking, resources will need to be devoted to raising awareness of that role among decision makers and the general public. 92

Achieving the Standard

Program-based assessment: The current nature and quality of youth substance abuse prevention or positive youth development activity provides important evidence of community capacity. ⁹³ For example, did previous or current initiatives focus on individual or environmental factors? What level of effort was given to these initiatives (i.e., number of persons involved and hours given to the work)?

Program-based assessment information can be obtained in different ways: by organizing an inter-agency forum; by administering an agency survey; or by interviewing a few carefully selected key informants (i.e., individuals with a sound understanding of community affairs from a prevention, health promotion or social development perspective).

An inventory of prevention activities can be organized or mapped in different ways, for example, according to:

- level of intervention (health promotion/youth development, universal prevention, selective prevention or indicated prevention^{ix});
- life stage (i.e., early childhood (0–6 years); later childhood (7–12 years); adolescence (13–19 years); early adulthood (20–24 years); and
- type of risk or protective factors, distinguishing between personal, family, school, social, community and societal factors.

Depending on the depth of the assessment, it may be useful to develop an inventory of existing programs and activities, including such detail as program/activity name, location of activities, age(s) served, hours of contact per week, protective/risk factors addressed, and whether an evaluation is available.

ix Prevention may be achieved through health-promotion activities that indirectly prevent drug use by generally promoting the health of a population. Universal prevention is directed to whole groups without regard to their level of risk; selective prevention is directed to groups based on risk conditions in their lives but those groups are not engaged in substance abuse; indicated prevention is directed to individuals who are engaged in substance abuse but who do not have a dependency (Weisz et al., 2005).

Policy-based assessment:

The nature of policies and the extent to which they are adhered to or enforced various sectors form important element of a community assessment. Teams can distinguish policies that between substance-based (i.e., pertaining to the sale and marketing of alcohol, tobacco or other substances, and enforcement of controls) and policies that are child/ development-based

The nature of policies and the extent to which they are being adhered to or enforced in various sectors form an important element of a community assessment.

(e.g., how inclusive child and family services, youth agencies, arts groups, sports and recreation associations are in their programming).

Once the review of current or recent program- and policybased activity has been completed, the team needs to ask: 94

- Are the protective and risk factors that the team identified as priorities (Standard 2) being adequately addressed by existing activities (programs, projects, services) and policies?
- If not, can existing activities and policies be strengthened? If so, how?
- Do additional activities and policies need to be selected and implemented to fill in gaps identified through the resource assessment?

General community assessment: Other more general indications of capacity include: 95 86

- current state of knowledge of the broad dimensions of youth substance use problems (i.e., range of protective and risk factors and harms) among leaders and the general community;
- current breadth and level of concern in the community regarding youth substance use issues;
- general community climate and level of trust that exists between relevant groups and agencies (because community-based prevention calls for partnership and joint action);

- history of sound leadership and participation on this or related issues, and willingness to seek input and involvement from diverse parts of community (including sectors less able or willing to participate);
- positive experience from current or recent partnership-based activity and interagency networks on public health or social development issues;
- willingness and ability to reflect on and examine community-based policies (because communitybased prevention calls for attention to policy-based measures, not just prevention 'activities');
- access to expertise and technical assistance (i.e., prevention and youth development); and
- ability to leverage adequate funding for comprehensive community-based prevention.

The assessment exercise involves contact with various agencies and services in the community. This contact can be used to begin to inform the community of the team's intent, providing information on the initiative and inviting participation. 97 By communicating initial intentions about the initiative, team members can begin to learn which organizations or groups are more or less likely to engage with the initiative. Identifying a lead or host organization for the initiative will be important (e.g., outside funding will likely require it), and this process may reveal possible options. 98

B. ORGANIZE THE TEAM AND BUILD CAPACITY

The team needs to organize itself sufficiently and build enough capacity to plan, implement and evaluate an effective initiative.

4. Engage youth partners in the initiative

Rationale

It's important that credible representatives of the youth population be engaged as full partners in the initiative as early as possible. Seeing the youth who are the focus of the initiative as partners rather than targets or recipients positions the initiative to draw on those youths' insights and to harness their energy and capabilities.

Background

According to Canada's Centre of Excellence for Youth Engagement, youth engagement is "meaningful and sustained participation in an activity with a focus outside the self." 99 Youth participation in a youth substance abuse prevention team is critical, with the main variables being the nature of their participation and how to ensure a successful experience for all. When supported and trained, youth have the capability to be involved in all aspects of an initiative, from initial proposal preparation to assessment of the situation, training others, and designing, implementing and evaluating the initiative. The more they are involved, the broader the benefits to the initiative, to the adults involved and to the youth themselves. 100

Youth participants bring real energy, creativity and commitment, and their fresh perspective can influence the outcomes of an initiative in unexpected ways. Bearing in mind that it is youths' social and cultural environment that is the focus of an initiative, their perspective is in fact indispensable—without it, the initiative is less likely to make a difference in the community. Involving young people in community-based initiatives will have the effect of countering any existing negative stereotypes of local youth, and establishes or reinforces a pattern of young people giving back to their community. 101

While the potential benefits are great, so too are the possible pitfalls. Genuine and effective youth involvement requires a serious commitment by the team; while it makes a lot of sense, putting participation into practice can be challenging. Many adults understand the risk of involving young people merely as 'token' representatives, but to involve them more fully requires concerted preparation involved. by everyone

For youth participation to be successful, adult team members need to believe that youth participation is critical to the success of the initiative.

Traditional power dynamics may make it difficult for young people and adults to feel comfortable working together. Adults often underestimate the knowledge and creativity of young people, and are unaccustomed to sharing ideas and decision-making with youth.

The attitudes of even well-intentioned adults can undermine effective youth participation. For example, adults who see youth participation primarily as a skill-building opportunity for young people are largely missing the point of participation. For youth participation to be successful, adult team members need to believe that youth participation is critical to the initiative's success. The ideal situation is when adult team members see the mutual benefits of youth participation that genuine participation by young people enriches adult members, just as adult participation enriches the young people. When this occurs, the benefits for the initiative and everyone involved are considerable. 102 While this may not guarantee successful outcomes, it makes success much more likely.

Achieving the Standard

As a team, clarify the reasons to involve young people:

Before beginning the process of engaging youth participants, adult team members need to take time to clarify their own beliefs, feelings and biases concerning the involvement of young people. ¹⁰³ Determine how many youth members would be appropriate—in most cases, a single youth member would be insufficient to ensure an adequate youth voice.

Use an inclusive and transparent recruitment process:

Without this type of process (e.g., handpicked instead) participants will not likely have credibility with other youth. Some youth are quite experienced in advisory or decisionmaking bodies and their involvement may be appropriate and beneficial; however, depending on the initiative, the perspective and participation of marginalized youth (e.g., youth living in poverty; gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgendered (GLBT) youth; youth of diverse ethnicities; Aboriginal youth; street youth; youth with substance abuse issues) with no positive experience in adult-youth partnerships may be important. The team will likely need to reach out to access 'at-risk' youth (e.g., accessing street youth through youth workers). Depending on their past experiences, youth participants may need encouragement and support to take part, particularly if their views have not been taken into account in the past. Consider offering incentives for taking part, such as cash or gift vouchers to recognize effort and time that may be taken from paid work. 104 105

Conduct orientation sessions for all team members:

It's critical that everyone be clear on the purpose of youth participation, the roles participants will have on the team and, if appropriate, limits to decision-making. Consider orientation/training sessions on listening skills, intergenerational relationships and diversity issues. Address confidentiality concerns that may arise. Some young people may not contribute if they fear the information they give will get back to their family or community.

Review procedures to accommodate youth: It's likely that adult team members envision certain familiar procedures and processes for the team; they will need to take a fresh look at these to accommodate meaningful youth participation. For example, meeting times convenient to adults may be less convenient for young people. Formal settings and meeting procedures can inhibit young people's participation. ¹⁰⁶ Be alert to special considerations and support that will be necessary to allow youth to fully participate (e.g., rides to meetings). To maximize their participation, youth members may need time

to prepare for team meetings and to discuss them afterwards. Jargon should be eliminated so that youth can more easily follow the discussion. Adding interactive elements and opportunities for learning, providing input and fun are important. One way to ensure meetings are enjoyable is to have youth members help plan them. Between meetings, ensure youth members are included in any informal conversations or business that takes place. 107

Be patient and be prepared to take small steps as a team:

It may take more time to gel as a team and to develop trust and rapport with youth members. If genuine youth participation is new to everyone involved, misunderstandings will likely occur; it's most helpful if everyone maintains an open learning posture and learns from mistakes. Depending on experience, youth may want to take on a specific responsibility in partnership with an adult as they take their first steps in participating. ¹⁰⁸ As their capacity for leadership grows, youth members benefit from progressively greater leadership opportunities, such as chairing meetings or subcommittees. ¹⁰⁹

5. Develop organizational structure and processes

Rationale

No single ideal organizational structure or set of processes exists. Planning, implementation and evaluation of comprehensive community-based prevention is a relatively complex undertaking, and a team needs to organize itself sufficiently to ensure quality work.

Background

No ideal structure has been defined for community youth substance abuse prevention teams. Each team needs to find a balance between the effort required to organize itself to identify and plan comprehensive prevention actions and that required to actually implement those actions. 110 111 To a large extent, form needs to follow function; although a team's specific aims and projected activities may not likely be known at the point of organizing the team, teams following these Standards will share three general functions (as indicated in Defining community-based substance abuse youth prevention on p. 14):

- Promote strengthened quality of current youth substance abuse prevention initiatives;
- Improve coordination among current youth substance abuse prevention initiatives; and
- Facilitate filling of gaps in current activity particularly in the area of policy.

To promote strengthened quality and improved coordination among existing initiatives, the team will need to invite membership from groups currently conducting prevention work in the community. Some of these may be relatively informal groups (e.g., youth, parent and cultural groups, neighbourhood associations) or more formal organizations (e.g., local government, sports and recreation associations, media companies, youth agencies, police, hospitality associations, alcohol retailers, faith-based organizations, postsecondary institutions). On a team with diverse membership, disparities may occur in relation to size of participating organizations, power (e.g., between grassroots groups and established agencies), ethnicities and differing levels of training. 112 Unintentionally, broad-based teams can be dominated by established agencies and have the effect of maintaining the marginalization of grassroots groups; consequently, careful consideration helps to ensure an adequate

level of representation from these groups and an effective process for being 'heard'. 113 While seeking a broad member base, teams may discover that some in the community do not support the initiative and it simply may not be practical to have them on the team. 114

Other factors affecting team size and composition are the team's specific concerns and priorities, and its readiness to take a comprehensive approach to prevention. Specific concerns will dictate membership; for example, if a team is concerned about high-risk youth, the team should seek participation of those targeted youth and groups that work with them. If high-risk youth are not on the team, it may be difficult to engage them when the time comes. Because much of the work of these teams involves 'higher-level' activity (i.e., coordinating between organizations, strengthening quality of programming, encouraging others to fill gaps—particularly those in policy), teams may benefit from seeking executive- or director-level representation from invited organizations. 115

The readiness of the team to oversee a comprehensive approach (that is, multiple initiatives in multiple settings) is a large consideration. A broad-based, diverse membership positions a team to organize comprehensive prevention, but is

more difficult to manage and sustain. Some teams may choose to start smaller; however, even when a team is not able to act comprehensively it is encouraged to plan for and move toward comprehensiveaction(it's through comprehensive action that populationlevel change in the

Although access to specialized prevention knowledge is critical, a team needs to also give weight to youth, community and cultural knowledge.

community is most likely to occur). Hence, attention to sound organizational structure and processes are important even for a small team, allowing it to effectively manage current activity and accommodate growth that may occur. 116 117

Achieving the Standard

If it hasn't been confirmed at this point, or if there is possibility for confusion, the team may need to define the boundaries of the community. Brainstorm ideas for potential team members, based on the team's initial concerns and its readiness for comprehensive activity. Seek as diverse a membership as can be managed and balance a task focus with time taken to consider diverse perspectives and forms of knowledge. Even

when starting small, plan for comprehensiveness and establish processes for efficient meetings and maintaining momentum between meetings.

An important initial task will be to seek a host organization for the team. Ideally, the host will have wide credibility in the community, based, for example, on a history of effective and reliable work while demonstrating positive values (e.g., openness, tolerance). Also helpful is if the host organization has sufficient resources to assist with in-kind office space and administrative support for the team.

Because participation on the team is typically voluntary, it's easy for the team's work to drift. This is particularly the case among teams that bring together diverse parts of the community. Terms of reference are helpful, informing members of what's expected of them, what resources they have at their disposal and what decision-making responsibility and authority they have. A decision to contain team discussions and maintain a strong task focus will help keep work on track and members engaged. A strong task orientation means scheduling regular meetings, using an agenda to keep meetings focused and efficient, and maintaining a clear record of the meetings. Clear notes or minutes circulated in a timely manner are fundamental to team functioning, allowing members to keep track of actions and responsibilities. Assigning work groups creates momentum between meetings and allows members to put energies toward tasks that match their particular interest or expertise. All team, committee and individual work needs to be documented, allowing the team to account for resources used, monitor its performance and evaluate its work. While ensuring a sufficient level of structure, a team needs to guard against becoming more wrapped up in creating procedures than in carrying out its prevention plan. 118

A team will need access to a prevention resource person for guidance and will benefit from paid staff (e.g., half- or full-time position) to help with implementation. Although access to specialized prevention knowledge is critical, a team needs to also give weight to youth, community and cultural knowledge.

6. Build and maintain team capacity

Rationale

To undertake effective comprehensive youth substance abuse prevention, it will likely be necessary to augment the assets that members bring to the team by building team capacity. Capacity is a dynamic quality that needs to be viewed in relation to team tasks, including planning, implementation and evaluation. It may be necessary to revisit capacity at different points throughout an initiative's life cycle, but it's important to address various capacities in the initial stages to begin the initiative on a strong footing.

Background

These Standards define "capacity" as the readiness or potential of a team to take action likely to result in positive substance abuse prevention-related outcomes. Capacity has a dynamic quality (e.g., members may join or leave and budgets may

increase or decline) and should be assessed against the tasks that lay before the team. It may be necessary to revisit the team's capacity due to changing circumstances and to ensure capacity for particular phases of a comprehensive prevention initiative. 119 120 It is, however, important to build capacity prior to planning, so the planning process can benefit from a team that understands the full range of options available. The

"Capacity" is the readiness or potential of a team to take action likely to result in positive substance abuse prevention-related outcomes.

organizing stage is also a good point to look ahead to consider the team's capacity in relation to its implementation and evaluation needs. Capacities that are important throughout the course of a team's work and which may need to be augmented before the planning phase include leadership, collaborative, technical, cultural and financial capacities: 121 122 123

Leadership capacity: Regardless of the specific aims of an initiative, leadership is a critical capacity. Most appropriate for community-based teams is a shared or distributed leadership style that: encourages the commitment and participation of team members and their organizations 124; helps the team arrive at and maintain a shared vision 125; guides the team toward its goals; and matches member skills to appropriate aspects of the work. 126 These capacities may be found in one individual, but cultivating distributed leadership broadens participation and builds leadership skills across the team. 127

Collaborative capacity: Because teams strive to bring together diverse parts of a community and since coordination between various community activities is a large role of a team, collaborative and partnershipbuilding capacities are also essential and may include skills in: communication and information sharing, networking, negotiation, bridge-building, brokering, facilitating diverse groups (across differences in power, culture and professional backgrounds), conflict resolution, 128 and creative thinking. 129 130 131 132 133

Technical capacity: This refers to knowledge and abilities specific to implementing and evaluating comprehensive youth substance abuse prevention. As the team approaches the planning phase, it should be clear on the options that exist for effective prevention. These Standards call for teams to coordinate and strengthen the quality of existing activities, fill gaps through activity-based and/or policybased components, and to evaluate and communicate their work. Technical capacities that arise from this general requirement are:

- Substance-use-specific knowledge: knowledge of protective and risk factors—particularly factors associated with youth environments, and an understanding of how teams can shift those environments through attention to various local policies;
- Evaluation knowledge and skills (i.e., how to plan an initiative that can be evaluated, kinds of evaluation necessary, information that needs to be collected, etc.); and
- Media relations skills: these can be extremely helpful in engaging local media who can in turn help influence public opinion and community leaders, generate enthusiasm and create a sense of potential for the initiative. 136

Cultural capacity: This refers to a commitment to cultural competence that includes the following: 137

Acknowledging that cultural differences exist (based on race, religion, social class, sexual orientation,

- ethnicity, etc.) and can influence youth substance abuse prevention programs;
- Committing to try to understand, be respectful of, and respond to evolving diversity (including the complexities of multiple cultures);
- Understanding that people from different cultural groups are best served by persons who are a part of, or at least in tune with, those cultures; and
- Being open to different perspectives, styles and priorities on a team and in a community.

Financial capacity: This refers to the ability to determine costs, and attract and manage funding to implement and sustain a prevention plan. Financial capacity calls for a variety of skills, including proposal writing and other forms of fundraising skills, bookkeeping skills and, depending on the size of the initiative, accounting assistance.

Achieving the Standard

The various capacities may be acquired in different ways, depending on the circumstances of the team and community:

- Some capacities—for example, leadership, cultural and technical capacities—need to be infused as fully as possible into the team and are best acquired by a combination of competent team members and the development of additional knowledge and skills through team training, mentoring, coaching, and access to communities of practice and/or credible web-based resources. Learning opportunities need to be interactive and practical—for instance, combining a workshop on a particular capacity (e.g., collaboration) with time given to actually prepare material based on the new information (e.g., creating a collaboration plan). 138
- Substance-use-specific knowledge can be shared by prevention resource persons.
- Some capacities that are not needed on a full-time basis (e.g., proposal writing, accounting) may be accessed intermittently from community partners or other agencies or businesses. ¹³⁹
- Competence in evaluation is an important capacity for community-based teams and is best met by a basic understanding among team members supplemented by regular access to an evaluation professional.

- Financial capacity may well make the difference between successful implementation and stalling. Actions to acquire this capacity include: 140
 - appoint someone on the team to track funding opportunities that may be available from charitable foundations or municipal, regional, provincial or federal governments;
 - hire a local professional with proposal writing and content area expertise to write or review your proposal; and
 - stay connected with potential funding sources and have plans prepared so the team can move quickly when an opportunity comes its way.

For teams aiming toward a focused, time-limited initiative, frequent, structured capacity building sessions have been shown to be useful. ¹⁴¹ If, on the other hand, the team has an interest in building community capacity or social capital beyond this issue—that is, if it has objectives such as empowerment and fully inclusive planning—then a slower, more deliberate approach to capacity building and planning may be more appropriate. ¹⁴³

7. Clarify members' perceptions and expectations

Rationale

With a new team and initiative, clarifying team members' perceptions of substance use problems and expectations for the initiative is an essential step, because these will likely vary. To ready the team for a productive planning exercise, team members' views should be presented and discussed, and weighed against research-based evidence and approaches.

Background

Team members may or may not have been involved in past prevention initiatives, but they will all bring with them a view of what they believe an initiative entails. Whether undertaken as a distinct activity as presented here, or integrated into capacity building or planning activities, clarifying perceptions and expectations of team members must take place. Doing so creates an opportunity for members to contribute their views to the creation of the initiative and the direction it will take. In some cases, perceptions may not reflect evidencebased approaches to community-based youth substance abuse prevention; this will provide an opportunity to discuss these approaches. In other cases, expectations may bring insight to the team's task and be reflected in the planning stages.

With a diverse, broad-based team, perceptions about youth substance and its prevention may be equally diverse. Various forms of substance use may hold different meanings for different cultural groups. Among the differences may be those between youth and adult team members; what adult members consider

With a diverse, broad-based team, perceptions about youth substance abuse and its prevention may be equally diverse.

'deviant' behaviour may be viewed differently by youth members. Youth members may perceive social or emotional benefits to substance use that adult members downplay. Other key perspectives and expectations that will need to be accounted for at some point include those of the evaluator and the funder.

Achieving the Standard

Upon its creation, the team will benefit from inviting members' perceptions of youth substance abuse and its prevention, expectations for this initiative, and what personal outcomes members hope to derive from their participation. It's likely that team members will not fully understand the range of factors linked to substance use problems and the evidence supporting prevention. Various perceptions need to be expressed, but it will be necessary to consider them against data on youth substance use, evidence of most promising activities in community-based prevention, and to ultimately arrive at a consensus on the general direction of the initiative. Particularly important is taking time to explain the evidence base behind policy measures that aim to reduce the availability of substances to youth, as community groups tend to shy away from 'supply reduction' measures. Community groups also tend to focus on illegal drug problems even when evidence shows use of legal drugs causes more harm. Out of this discussion, a team will be well positioned if it arrives at a commitment to employ evidence-based programs and approaches, and resists the temptation to adopt programs and approaches that may be popular but not supported by evidence (e.g., standalone public awareness campaigns).

When presenting data and information on evidence-based prevention, terms must be explained and, where possible, jargon should be avoided. Elements or features of promising community-based prevention approaches that are important to present to the team are the need to:

- take an ecological view of protective and risk factors, considering the full range of individual, family, school, social, community and societal factors at play in the lives of local youth;
- take a systems-based response, linking with initiatives in local schools and other key local settings or environments;
- give priority to prevention policies, without neglecting activities (that is, programs or services) directed to a population; and
- see this initiative being as much, or more, about coordinating and strengthening existing programs or services as it is about establishing new ones; if establishing new programs or services, it may or may not be the role of the team to do so.

Among the expectations that need to be clarified for team members is "What's in it for me or my group?" It may not be fully possible to organize an initiative that directly intersects with, supports and strengthens the work and interests of representative groups and organizations, but team members need to be able to articulate how participation on the team is at least indirectly serving their interests.

From this exercise, a team should aim for a general consensus on the direction and scope of the initiative, what partners can expect to get out of it, and what they have agreed to contribute.

C. PLAN A LOGICAL AND SUSTAINABLE INITIATIVE

The plan is the blueprint for action against which progress will be measured.

8. Ensure plan addresses priority concerns and factors, and current capacity

Rationale

Upon assessing the situation, organizing itself, building capacity and sharing perceptions, the team needs to begin to bring focus to its work by laying out the broad parameters for an initiative that effectively address community concerns and fit with the team's capacity.

Background

Before commencing detailed planning, the team benefits from laying out the broad parameters for its work, considering several factors—principally, its assessment of the current situation and its current capacity (following its efforts to build capacity). 150 This Standard calls for teams to be 'strategic' by weighing the various considerations to arrive at general parameters for an initiative that is both useful and feasible that is, finding a balance between undertaking an evidencebased effort of sufficient intensity and duration to have an effect and taking on work that is beyond the capacity of the team.

Finding the correct balance calls for an objective appraisal of: the length of time required to achieve project goals; the demands of project implementation and coordination; team commitments required; the time to develop local networks and establish partnership arrangements; and the resources required to administer the work, maintain funding, conduct training, plan and implement the initiative, and undertake evaluation and dissemination activities. 151

Achieving the Standard

Among the parameters the team needs to consider as it lays out a broad direction are: theoretic underpinnings, possible goals, priority factors, means of addressing priority factors, and priority gaps in current services/activities.

Theoretic underpinnings: A sound theory(ies) can help guide team activity. Other theories are relevant, but these Standards present the social ecological and systems theories as evidence-based and broad enough to accommodate a comprehensive approach to communitybased prevention. Ecological theory provides a broad basis for understanding the range of protective and risk factors found in the individual, family, school, social, community and societal spheres of influence; systems theory sees prevention occurring when different parts or spheres of the community modify their activities and policies in a direction that helps prevent youth substance abuse and supports youth health and development.

Possible goals: In order to be considered a communitybased youth substance abuse prevention initiative, the long-term or ultimate goal needs to address substance abuse in some way (e.g., delay onset of use, reduce prevalence of hazardous use, reduce prevalence of harms). From the situation assessment (Standard 1), one or more youth substance-specific problems or concerns will emerge to become the focus of the team's long-term goal(s). Because it's challenging to shift substance use behaviour at the population or community level, teams are encouraged to limit the number of goals they set for themselves to one or two, and recognize the goal will likely need long-term, comprehensive attention. 152 Depending on the capacity of the team and community, this may require that the concerns of some team members be deferred, but it allows for a team's limited resources to be applied in a more focused manner. 153

Priority factors: The situation assessment (Standard 1) revealed protective and risk factors associated with the team's youth substance abuse concerns (Standard 2). These factors will exist in the realm of the individual young person (i.e., their overall wellness and their drug literacy) and one or more of the community environments or settings that influence the person's behaviour (i.e., family, school, social or other community settings). The goal(s) that a team chooses to focus on may have a number of associated factors, and prioritization of several key factors will likely be necessary. Considerations for the team in identifying priority factors include: Which risks are most prevalent in your community? Which protective factors are most lacking? At what

The team may see from the situation assessment that, for example, very few structured programs successfully engage adolescent girls in the community, and may consider bolstering sports and arts opportunities for this population.

developmental periods are children most at risk in the community? Is there an identifiable 'cluster' of protective or risk factors that, addressed together, could provide a synergistic response (e.g., availability of substances; family factors; out-of-school factors)? Which factors fit with the current capacity of the team and might be best tackled first? Again, in order not to dissipate scarce resources, teams are advised to limit the number of factors to be addressed to fewer than five. ¹⁵⁴

Means of addressing priority factors: A number of options will likely exist for teams to address their priority factors. These Standards call teams to focus on strengthening quality and increasing coordination among existing services and activities, and filling gaps that appear from the situation assessment. How much weight to give these or other activities will depend on a number of considerations, primarily the current situation (that is, how does the proposed initiative fit with other local efforts addressing substance use issues?). For communities that already have a variety of prevention programs and services in place, coordination and strengthening of these services may become a team's priority. ¹⁵⁵

Priority gaps: A large consideration is how much attention the team will give to filling gaps in existing activities and services. Gaps can be mapped in several ways:

- According to level of prevention (health promotion, universal, selective and indicated prevention^x): For a population in which there is little current policy or programming attention, a universal strategy directed to all members of that population may be the most appropriate way to address priority risk/protective factors. For example, the team may see a pattern of binge drinking among many boys and girls as they enter mid-adolescence, which may suggest a universal program/strategy directed to all youth of that age. When universal strategies are in place but don't appear to be sufficient, protective/risk factors and gaps may be best addressed with selective or indicated prevention strategies. For example, if family management problems are a priority risk factor but the situation assessment shows that several local programs already offer parenting programs for the general population, the team may consider implementing a selective or indicated strategy directed to particular populations with identified risks. 156
- According to settings (family, school, social, recreation and sports, media, faith-based, cultural, bars, etc.): Teams should identify settings not engaged in prevention that could help address the team's priority protective/risk factors. The team may, for example, see from the situation assessment that very few structured programs successfully engage adolescent girls in the community, and may consider bolstering sports and arts opportunities for this population. Gaps can also be filled by engaging settings that serve other under-served populations (e.g., particular age/developmental groups, cultural groups). All community initiatives need to connect with and ensure strong coordination with school programming. 158 Depending on the team's capacity, the team may identify fewer and smaller settings to begin to address gaps. 159
- According to activity-based vs. policy-based initiatives:
 A common gap in many communities is policy-based attention, either in the form of policies controlling the marketing and availability of particular substances, or policies that promote positive youth development in various youth settings. Community prevention programs have tended to focus on individual-centred

^{*} Prevention may be achieved through health promotion activities that indirectly prevent drug use by generally promoting the health of a population. Universal prevention is directed to whole groups without regard to their level of risk; selective prevention is directed to groups based on risk conditions in their lives but are not engaged in substance abuse; indicated prevention is directed to individuals who are engaged in substance abuse but who do not have a dependency (Weisz et al., 2005).

education and awareness strategies rather than environmentally oriented policy-based strategies that have shown greater potential in leading to populationlevel changes. If this is the case in a community, policy-based attention may very well be a gap to be filled, but the team will need to consider whether it and the community have the capacity to engage on policy issues at this time. Some teams will decide to pursue a policy-based direction but see the need to revisit the team's structure and membership. 160

Working through these considerations will position the team for detailed planning and bring a clearer understanding of the team's general role and how it intends to operate in the community.¹⁶¹ Checking in with other members of the community formally or informally through this process will provide crucial input and allow the team to share thinking to date. Teams will find it helps to be clear but also flexible in both goal setting and methods used; as an initiative unfolds, unforeseen opportunities or barriers may arise that require a shift in plans. 162

9. Develop logic model showing how initiative will bring desired change

Rationale

A logic model represents a team's theory on how it will achieve the desired change in the community. The process of preparing one allows a team to check its assumptions and, once completed, helps the team stay on track.

Background

Upon defining general parameters and gaining consensus on the general direction of the initiative, the team needs to undertake detailed planning by developing the logic for its initiative. A logic model becomes the team's theory for how the various elements of the initiative will lead or contribute to some form of change among youth in the community. ¹⁶³ The plan needs to be supported by empirical evidence that suggests that the activities can be effective in producing the desired change, but it also needs to intuitively 'make sense'. ¹⁶⁴

A logic model with intuitive logic is one in which:

- Resources that the team brings to the initiative (e.g., team member expertise, training, etc.) in response to an *initial assessment* will produce...
- *Activities* or *Outputs* that can be expected to lead to changes called...
- Immediate and Medium-term Outcomes (e.g., new policies, increased drug literacy among youth) that

can realistically be expected to produce...

 Long-term Outcome, which is your team's ultimate goal.

An initiative working to achieve these Standards may include a long-term outcome or ultimate goal that addresses other interests of the team and community (e.g., greater citizen participation in community youth health issues), but it also should include a substance-abuse-specific goal. ¹⁶⁵

Changing substance use behaviours in a community takes time, and the ability of any one initiative to do so will be limited by other factors beyond the reach of the team and community.

Changing substance use behaviours in a community takes time. The ability of any one initiative—even a comprehensive one—to do so will be limited by other factors beyond the reach of the team and community. However, it's still important to set an ultimate substance-abuse-specific goal. Take care not to overreach in setting the goal; for instance, reduced substance abuse among all youth in the community is less likely than among the youth directly participating in the initiative. ¹⁶⁶ Although prevention goal statements may be stated in other ways, they commonly include one or another of the following:

- Prevent or delay first use of alcohol, tobacco, cannabis and other substances;
- 2. Prevent or reduce negative consequences linked to substance use by:
 - preventing the transition to, or minimizing the extent of, *hazardous* use among students (e.g., reducing the frequency of use; amount used; use of more than one substance at a time; use in association with driving, unintended sexual activity, school work or sports/physical activities); and
 - preventing or minimizing the severity of harmful consequences that arise from hazardous use (e.g., car crashes, sexually transmitted diseases, pregnancies, injuries, overdoses).

The goal statement also usually includes a short description of the main target(s) of the program's intervention (e.g., all Grade 9 students; or parents of children ages 6–12 years).

The team can then work up other elements of the initiative after articulating its long-term goal. Medium-term outcomes are often the protective/risk factors being targeted by the initiative. ¹⁶⁷ The logic model is formed when the various elements are put together in a table or graphic format with arrows depicting the casual connections.

Resources (inputs)

What we invest

₩

Activities (outputs)

What we do and who we reach

Immediate outcomes

What changes as a result of activities

₩

Medium-term outcomes

What changes as a result of achieving immediate outcomes

Goals (long-term impacts)

What changes as a result of reaching medium-term outcomes

The logic model amounts to a series of 'If...then' statements (i.e., if we these resources, then we can conduct these activities; if we conduct these activities, then we will see these changes; and so on). When outlining the activities, immediate and medium-term outcomes and goals, the performance indicators for each of these should be considered (see Standard 16).

Preparing and working from a logic model has a number of benefits for a team. Completing a logic model as a team effort builds a sense of ownership among members and brings everyone onto the same page in terms of what the initiative is really about. It provides a roadmap to keep the team on track, and it will serve as the basis of the process and outcome

evaluations. The process of developing a logic model brings a sense of realism to the team and others about what can be accomplished with any one initiative. It helps communicate the initiative to others in a clear, succinct way. 168 169 Further details on developing a logic model can be found in Section Three: Using a logic model to monitor and evaluate an initiative.

Most differences in perceptions and expectations about the initiative will likely have been resolved through earlier discussions. Nevertheless, developing the logic model together may bring other differing assumptions to the surface, which will need to be resolved. Upon completing a logic model draft, the team needs to confirm whether the various components of the initiative have the 'power' to bring about the desired changes. 170 Community conditions are constantly changing, so in a sense, community-based initiatives are aiming at a moving target. 171 Given this, and the fact that team thinking around the initiative may evolve, the team will need to update or refine the logic model as necessary.

Achieving the Standard

Engage as many team members and partners as possible in developing the program's logic model. Attempt to avoid turf issues, treat all input with respect and forge consensus; this helps build a sense of common purpose and shared direction. 172

- Avoid beginning with an activity, program, or service that seems like a good idea and trying to make it fit the situation or problem. 173
- Once the logic model is complete, check to ensure that each step enables the next step in a clear and logical sequence, and that there are no gaps. 174
- Regularly review and update the logic model to see what has changed, to keep track of progress and to make modifications either in your work or the model. 175

10. Plan for sustainability of the initiative

Rationale

Community-based prevention of youth substance use problems requires long-term attention. Consequently, though they may vary greatly in nature and scope, all community-based initiatives need to consider how they will sustain their effects beyond the initial phase. Initiating sustainability planning early in the life of an initiative and continuing to reflect on it helps to achieve long-term goals.

Background

Despite the enthusiasm, energy and good intentions of those

who work in and support prevention, if prevention does not become embedded into the routine processes of a community, the longterm value of those efforts will be largely lost to the community. 176 For the purpose of these Standards, sustainability is defined as the longer-term continuation of a prevention effort that is showing positive effects for a community. 177 In operational terms, sustainability most commonly means outliving original funding.

If prevention
does not become
embedded into the
routine processes
of a community,
the long-term
value of those
efforts will be
largely lost to the
community.

With a view of the community as a system reflecting a particular social/political environment, embedding preventative policies or activities into a community's routine processes means working within that environment to modify aspects of the community system. Thus, preventative policies or activities must be accepted and sustained by the community. ¹⁷⁸ The amount of effort required to sustain a prevention initiative will be a function of the community's readiness for a particular approach. In some cases, prevention-oriented processes will be met with enthusiasm (e.g., adoption of positive youth development-based policies and activities by all youth and family services), or they may be met with resistance (e.g., regulations limiting the number of alcohol outlets in a community).

Sustainability may take different forms, depending on the nature of the initiative:

- For a policy-based initiative, sustainability means that the policies or regulations live on even though the initiative to establish them has ended;
- For an activity-based initiative (i.e., new service or program), sustainability may mean that the new activity or way of presenting an activity has been woven into existing programming, or it may mean that an ongoing funding and accountability stream has been established;
- For a capacity-building initiative (e.g., one that includes increased citizen participation as an outcome), sustainability may be indicated by the number and quality of future related initiatives.

Despite possible initial resistance, the value of local changes in by-laws or regulations is that the change becomes institutionalized and will not require ongoing funding or emphasis to be sustained. ¹⁸⁰ However, adequate enforcement of new policies must be monitored and teams will need to anticipate how this will be managed. ¹⁸¹ For activity-based changes (i.e., involving new programs, services), either new external funding will be required to continue an initiative or a partner organization(s) will need to put its own resources into continuing the initiative. ¹⁸² Prevention initiatives emphasizing community capacity building may see sustainability differently—as an increase in the community's willingness and ability to collaborate and work together on other future youth health promotion issues and initiatives. ¹⁸³

Threats to sustainability may creep into an initiative immediately at the outset, for example, through weak administration (e.g., poorly organized meetings), inadequate planning, or lack of leadership, or they may become an issue at any later point (e.g., high turnover in staff or volunteers). Community-based teams or coalitions often lack capacity to carry out a sound evaluation—this may loom as a significant barrier to sustainability because credible evaluation of current work will be important to future funders. ¹⁸⁴ ¹⁸⁵ It could be argued that unsuccessful models or approaches ought not to be sustained; however, these Standards take the position that community-based initiatives, when carefully monitored and evaluated, are in a strong position to make appropriate revisions and ought not to be abandoned. ¹⁸⁶

Sustainability can be promoted by: seeking diverse funding streams from the outset; finding a stable, resourceful host agency that fully buys into the initiative; aligning efforts with community values and culture; employing local staff; grooming enthusiastic advocates or champions; cultivating a broad base of community support and active involvement of local government; maintaining flexibility in the face of evolving needs or circumstances; and leveraging previous efforts (e.g., by documenting, publicly celebrating and building on them). 187 188 189 190 191 192 Integrating some means of accessing ongoing technical assistance (e.g., for implementing a quality improvement cycle, for evaluation) beyond an initiative's funding period may increase sustainability. More broadly, local initiatives benefit when different levels of government give the issue priority and visibility (e.g., through provincial/ territorial/municipal drug strategies; National Framework for Action to Reduce the Harms Associated with Alcohol and Other Drugs and Substances in Canada).

Achieving the Standard

In addition to carefully planning, implementing and evaluating an initiative, the best single measure a team can take to ensure sustainability is to prepare a strategic or sustainability plan that covers three to five years. A strategic or sustainability plan brings together the documentation from the situation assessment, the vision and mission statements and the logic model to form a clear, convincing plan for bringing together the key resources necessary for an initiative to continue. This kind of plan helps the team clarify where they are and where they want to go, and helps others decide whether and how to assist. Developing a good sustainability plan involves sketching out a long-term map of what the team wants to accomplish. This map may include strategies to obtain resources that will support the initiative. It may also identify challenges and obstacles that the initiative might encounter as it works to attain its goals, as well as strategies that may help to overcome these challenges. Once a sustainability plan has been developed, it may be helpful to review and revise it as circumstances require. 193

STRONGER TOGETHER: Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention.

D. COORDINATE AND IMPLEMENT EVIDENCE-BASED ACTIVITIES

A comprehensive community-based prevention initiative aims to strengthen the quality of, and coordination between, existing prevention activities and/or fill priority gaps.

11. Promote quality of existing and planned initiatives

Rationale

Depending on the current situation in the community and plans made by the team, the team will oversee a mix of existing and planned initiatives (i.e., policies, projects, programs and services). When a team promotes high-quality implementation among these initiatives, positive effects are more likely and resources will be better used. High-quality implementation can be achieved by phasing in new policies or activities, and encouraging organizers to: give preference to evidence-based approaches; deliver activities as designed; monitor their implementation; and use a quality improvement cycle.

Background

According to these Standards, teams are encouraged to strengthen current prevention activity in their community before facilitating implementation of new activity. The team can promote high-quality implementation in its community by encouraging local organizers to: give preference to evidence-based approaches; exercise care when adapting evidence-based programs; monitor their implementation; use a quality improvement cycle; and consider phasing in new policies or activities.

Give preference to evidence-based approaches: Those seeking to introduce a new activity-based initiative need to base the initiative on research rather than intuition. In some cases, assessed needs can be met by an evidence-based program (that is, a program that has been found by research to be effective). xi However, most evidence-based programs have been researched with populations in the

U.S., so the extent of sociocultural fit between the studied population(s) and a local Canadian population would need to be assessed.

Exercise care when adapting evidence-based programs: When selecting an evidence-based program, programmers need to be aware of and monitor the balance that needs to be achieved between delivering the program as intended (i.e., fidelity) and adapting it to fit the local community or cultural environment. Adaptations need to retain the theoretic basis and core elements of the program (for example, the intended number of sessions or contact hours). ¹⁹⁴

Refer to best practice guidelines: If, based on its assessment and planning processes, the team or local programmers choose to develop rather than adopt or adapt a program, quality implementation can be supported by close adherence to best practice principles prepared by credible bodies, such as Health Canada's *Preventing Youth Substance Use Problems—A Compendium of Best Practices* (2001) xii or *Preventing Drug Use among Children and Adolescents—A Research-Based Guide* published by the U.S. National Institute on Drug Abuse. xiii Quality programming can be supported by auditing or cross-referencing activities and approaches against established guidelines or principles such as these. 195

Monitor and critically reflect on prevention work: Monitoring occurs during the course of implementation and is concerned with resources used, the extent to which the initiative is reaching its target population and the quality of implementation. ¹⁹⁶ Monitoring is best achieved by organizing regular opportunities for critical reflection among those involved. Reflection may be based on the following questions:

xi Seek credible government sources for listings of model or evidence-based programs; for example, Communities that Care Prevention Strategies Guide. US Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration: http://download.ncadi.samhsa.gov/Prevline/pdfs/ctc/CTC%20Prevention%20Strategies%20Guide%20_pdf.pdf

xii http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hc-ps/pubs/adp-apd/prevent/index-eng.php

xiii http://www.drugabuse.gov/pdf/prevention/redbook.pdf

- Does the activity require the planned financial and human resources? If not, why?
- Is the activity/component unfolding as planned? If not, why?
- Are we reaching the number and kind of people we intended?
- Are participants engaged? Satisfied? Has anyone dropped out? If so, why?
- Are we doing any tasks not in our original plan?
- Is anything we're doing not working?
- Have we created new activities to take place of any that are not working?

Programmers
need to be
encouraged to
incorporate
a quality
improvement
cycle into their
work.

By systematically monitoring their work, documenting findings and reflecting on improvements that they can make, prevention programmers ensure good use of their resources and contribute to positive effects and to a culture of quality in prevention work in their community. Documentation of these prevention activities contributes to and greatly assists the team in evaluating the overall prevention initiative in the community.

Incorporate quality improvement cycle into prevention work: Whether adopting an existing program or creating a new one, programmers need to be encouraged to incorporate a quality improvement cycle into their work. Many examples exist—in fact, the Phases identified for these Standards (Assess, Organize, Plan, Implement, Evaluate) represent a quality cycle. A simpler cycle such as Plan, Do, Reflect, Revise may be more appropriate for some programs. A programming or funding cycle becomes a quality cycle when lessons learned from an activity are documented, monitored and used to improve future similar efforts.

Phase-in new prevention activity: It's best to limit the introduction of new community-based prevention activities to the number that can be managed in a high-quality manner. This may mean prioritizing initiatives

and introducing them incrementally. In some cases, the evidence also supports phased-in elements, such as addressing attitudinal and other social environmental changes (i.e., raising awareness) to 'prepare the ground' before implementing interventions that focus on individual behaviour change (i.e., skills-based), ¹⁹⁸ or undertaking public education and advocacy prior to making policy changes. ¹⁹⁹

Achieving the Standard

Promoting high-quality implementation may be achieved by establishing a local network or community of practice among prevention programmers. A collegial, strength-based approach to this work could involve use of meetings, workshops or web forums to raise awareness of and build capacity on use of best practice principles and quality improvement cycles. A case presentation method, in which programmers bring a particular programming experience or challenge to the network to explore the case (for example, to explore how best to apply best practice principles), is a practical way to build a culture of quality prevention programming in a community.

12. Strengthen coordination among local initiatives

Rationale

Promoting increased consistency and coordination between existing substance abuse prevention activities and programs is critical, because programs are often developed and funded in an unsystematic manner. Teams also need to identify others in the community who share an interest in promoting youth health and development, and explore ways and means of mutually supporting each other.

Background

facilitating According Standards, before to these implementation of new prevention activity, teams are encouraged to increase consistency, coordination and integration of current prevention activities in their community. Coordination may occur among substance-abuse-specific programs and among programs that more generally aim to promote youth health and development.

Coordination among substance abuse prevention programs: Youth substance abuse prevention aims are most likely to be achieved when a comprehensive array of wellcoordinated prevention-oriented policies and activities (i.e., projects, programs, services) are implemented and sustained in a community. School- and community-based prevention initiatives may be funded and implemented on an ad hoc basis as leadership and funds become available. This may lead to fragmentation between initiatives unless coordination is given focused attention. 200 Fragmentation may take different forms—for example, a situation in which initiatives deliver messages to youth that are inconsistent with each other, or in which several initiatives serve the same target group while other parts of the youth community are under-served.

Some communities and teams may see the need for coordination as an enviable problem because it implies that there are a few prevention initiatives active in a community. Teams may be pleasantly surprised by the range of activities already in place in their community upon reviewing the current situation (Standard 3). Even if existing prevention activities are relatively few, they should be coordinated as much as possible. Doing so maximizes available resources and establishes a pattern of coordination when new activities are planned and implemented. Increased

coordination will likely bring a common framework, language and perspective on substance use problems in the community, leading to greater efficiencies.

Increased coordination among community prevention activities may be seen as both a process and a goal. There

is no one model of coordination that can be applied in all situations; rather, coordination tailored be must each individual to community's situation. In all situations, though, a collaborative leadership style important. is Αn emphasis collaborative responses that fit with local needs

Increased coordination among community prevention activities may be seen as both a process and a goal.

and circumstances is also key. For many community-based teams, it may make most sense to begin with an exploration of inconsistencies among programs. Other communities with a history of informal collaboration may wish to explore more formal, long-term partnership arrangements that shift or reform basic local systems. 201 Agencies or programs may fear that close coordination or integration will lead to a loss of their unique identity; however, demonstrating coordination may lead to the community attracting more support, because the collaborating groups have a more attractive array of services to offer. 202

Coordination among initiatives promoting youth health and development: Canadian communities and schools are being called to take action on a wide range of youth health and social issues—for example, violence, substance use (including tobacco use), sexual health, criminal activity and dietary issues. They also need to consider the disabling effects of less socially disruptive youth issues such as extreme shyness, depression and anxiety. Many-but not all-of these issues share the same roots (e.g., family health, school attachment and community conditions). Even seemingly unconnected issues like alcohol abuse and poor dietary practices have been found to share similar risk factors (i.e., belief that the unhealthy behaviour will lead to immediate gratification and social advantages) and protective factors (i.e., the skill and self-confidence to not engage in the behaviour). 203

Clearly, a community-based substance abuse prevention team may well find other initiatives in the community with

shared interests. Exploring mutual interests other youth health and initiatives development may lead to important efficiencies, such arriving at a common language, sharing data collection, technologies and other resources, and devising complementary activities and messages for local youth. Various youth health promotion

Exploring
mutual interests
with other youth
health and
development
initiatives
may lead to
important
efficiencies.

and development initiatives increasingly employ a positive youth development orientation or framework that follows several principles: 204

- General social and emotional capacities and environmental supports can enhance well-being while also serving to reduce risk for a range of problems;
- 2. Young people are best seen as active agents with inherent capabilities to be drawn out and strengthened, rather than as a passive focus of problems and deficiencies that need to be fixed;
- 3. Long-term commitment to activities and supportive relationships are required to be effective;
- 4. Benefits are more likely when all main actors in the lives of children and youth (i.e., parents, schools, out-of-school programming) actively support positive outcomes; and
- A reciprocal relationship can evolve between positive development of youth and their community; children and adolescents benefit from and, in turn, make positive contributions to, health, social, economic or civic aspects of their communities.

The positive approach has strong intuitive appeal, and because it takes a broad perspective, it transcends specific issues and sidesteps issue-specific language or terms that can serve as barriers to collaboration.

Achieving the Standard

Practical ways to increase the level of prevention coordination in a community include:

- Dedicate staff/volunteer time to building relationships and processes for cooperation;
- Increase opportunities for staff and volunteers involved in prevention work to become familiar with others and their programs (e.g., by establishing a prevention network);
- Explore possible inconsistencies, common interests, perspectives, aims and an overall framework and language;
- Schedule shared meetings in which key staff discuss prevention-related issues;
- Prepare and disseminate a shared prevention newsletter;
- Consider temporarily sharing or exchanging staff to benefit from new perspectives and expertise;
- Share funds, meeting rooms, materials, technologies or other resources;
- Share staff training, data collection and other activities;
- Build overlapping community boards so common members can identify more sharing and coordination opportunities;
- Establish formalized agreements to coordinate activities:
- Explore protocols to ensure higher-risk youth (i.e., those benefiting from selective or indicated prevention) receive seamless attention and are not falling through cracks; and
- Identify ways in which agencies can collaborate, rather than compete, to attract new funds.

13. Give attention to community policies and processes

Rationale

Youth substance use decisions arise from interactions between the young person and his or her various environments. Consequently, attention to health-promoting policies and processes can be a powerful component of a community-based substance abuse prevention initiative. Relevant policies include those pertaining to the availability of various substances in the community, those dictating the way youth-serving groups work with young people and, more broadly, social policies that influence access to determinants of health (e.g., employment, education and family support policies).

Background

Each part or sector of a community has its own way of doing things; these separate approaches collectively form a community environment. An environment may be health-promoting or health-hindering in a variety of ways—for example: policies that limit discounting of alcoholic drink prices by local retailers; policies to reduce poverty and social exclusion; heavy promotion of alcohol by local retailers; or youth programming that unintentionally excludes a large proportion of local youth.

Environments are most powerfully addressed by attention to policies. ²⁰⁶ ²⁰⁷ ²⁰⁸ Policies may be written or unwritten, and may be found as rules, codes, processes, priorities, or structures that are maintained over time and determine how an organization or sector operates. Beyond the fundamental family environment, the various environments affecting youth health (such as out-of-school recreation, arts and sports; places of worship; cultural centres; child and family agencies; bars; post-secondary institutions; and employers) often operate as they do because they serve economic, political or cultural interests, or in other cases, because no one took the initiative to actively shape or reshape them.

Three general policy types that can bring about significant reductions in substance abuse are: *regulatory* policies (e.g., restricting access to a substance, law enforcement); *programmatic* policies that institutionalize health-promoting

ways of approaching youth work; and social policies that increase access to determinants of health (employment, education and family support policies). ²⁰⁹ [See *Appendix on p. 139 for examples of community-level prevention policy options*]

1. Substance-specific policies (i.e., alcohol, tobacco, medication and illegal drugs) concerning marketing and sales, and their regulation and enforcement: Various policy measures to limit youth access to alcohol and tobacco (physically or economically) are known to be among the most effective in preventing youth use, and 'supply reduction' measures may also be effective in reducing pharmaceutical drug misuse harms. xvi A team will

need to consider readiness the its community to focus on such reduction supply measures, which will depend on the cultural context example, the role and influence of the alcohol (e.g., industry hospitality industry, government alcohol corporations) the willingness of various community sectors to challenge industry interests. 210

Different parts
or sectors of a
community have
their own way
of doing things;
these separate
approaches
collectively form
a community
environment.

2. Programmatic policies or procedures followed by organizations that work with youth (sports leagues, recreation associations, youth agencies, etc.): Simply by virtue of providing alternative activities for children and youth, these programs have important benefits. But with a concerted focus on positive youth development, these programs can be strengthened significantly. What determines the outcomes of participation for young people are the processes and conditions under which these programs are presented (i.e., the 'how'). Youth

xvi Supply reduction for illegal drugs relies on enforcement of Canadian laws regarding illegal drug importation, production and sale, and the effectiveness of illegal drug law enforcement as a supply reduction measure has not been established [Holder, H. (2003). Strategies for reducing substance abuse problems: What research tells us. Paper presented at the NDRI International Research Symposium: Preventing Substance Use, Risky Use, and Harm: What is Evidenced-Based Policy? Fremantle, Australia.].

agencies may—or may not—have written policies to guide their programming. Regardless, a 'hidden policy' is always present and is revealed in the way young people experience the program. Research on positive youth development suggests that agency, league or association policies that actively support positive youth development principles are likely to be effective in promoting youth health and preventing various problematic behaviours.

3. Social and economic policies that decrease some people's access to determinants of health: The team's initial community assessment may present a picture of some families under particular strain due to economic circumstances (e.g., one- and twoparent families working longer hours and straining to balance family and work life). Community teams may be able to take local measures to provide more support to vulnerable families, children and youth, but the root causes of vulnerability may rest with provincial, territorial or federal government social and economic policies (e.g., lack of affordable child care and other family supports) that result in a strain on families. Community-based teams may see broad social and economic policy as beyond the scope of their work, or they may see a role for themselves in advocating for policies that provide greater support to children and families. The logic is strong and the evidence persuasive: jurisdictions that invest in supporting children and families achieve better outcomes in terms of child health, well-being and social functioning 211 (including mental health 212 and substance use problems 213) than those that do not make this investment a priority. 214

Achieving the Standard

With all of these policy types, policy-level change is about shifting the status quo—and this usually generates some resistance. Consequently, policy-focused prevention initiatives require a measure of tactical thinking (that may not be necessary for activity-based initiatives). ²¹⁵ Questions that need to be posed by the team include: ²¹⁶

- Where does the policy rest (agency, corporate or local, regional, provincial or federal government)?
- What is the rationale for the present policy?
- Who needs to be involved (in terms of team/ subcommittee composition, or partnership) to achieve the policy change?

- Where will resistance or interference come from, and how can these effects be reduced or neutralized?
- What is the best sequence of steps to achieve policy change?
- What type, size and timing of effort are required to bring about the change?

Timing is an important consideration, and attention to policy may be particularly appropriate when: ²¹⁷

- an election has been announced
- passage of a harmful law or regulation is looming
- the issue is already under discussion, especially for the first time
- public opinion is generally supportive
- media coverage brings attention to the issue
- the issue has reached a crisis point

Broad-based teams that represent many points of view are well positioned to advocate policy change. A team that includes a wide cross-section of the community (e.g., leaders, opinion makers and particularly community members affected by the issues) have strong credibility and can generate practical ideas on how to proceed. Attention to policy issues requires teams to conduct the necessary research to become knowledgeable on existing policy and contextual issues. Drawing in and involving young people or families adversely affected by present policies is important.

Depending on the nature of the policy change, advocacy may be required. Advocacy is active promotion of a principle or cause, and is considered a key health promotion strategy. ²¹⁸ Broad-based community teams may be more free to advocate for policy change than other groups or entities in a community.

Examples of advocacy include: 219

- meeting with a policy-maker (e.g., town councillor, MP, or CEO) to talk about a social problem;
- publishing a newsletter that provides information about an issue or specific piece of legislation, and your team's position on the legislation;
- producing and disseminating credible research reports or studies on a policy issue;
- talking to the media about an issue or specific legislative proposals;

- pressing for better enforcement of existing laws (e.g., those that control alcohol sales to minors);
- pressing for establishment and enforcement of private or voluntary policies (e.g., restrictions on alcohol purchases in an arena); and
- conducting public education campaigns to influence public opinion (e.g., a mass media educational campaign about the influence of socioeconomic status on the health of community members).

In one sense, once a policy change has been established, the task is complete, but it's more appropriate to see it moving into another phase: monitoring enforcement. 220 221 In some cases a policy or law may be quite sufficient but its enforcement has become inadequate. Unless a policy is actively enforced by relevant parties, it will have little influence. Many factors contribute to enforcement problems for new or existing policies. For example, the agency charged with overseeing a law may lack the resources to investigate or pursue violations, may not know about violations, or may be pressured by powerful interests to overlook violations. Monitoring enforcement means:

- learning about the law or regulation that is not being enforced and possible reasons for lack of enforcement;
- obtaining background information about how the issue is affecting the community;
- becoming familiar with the structure and operation of the violator as well as of the regulatory body;
- identifying specific individuals in the violating and regulatory organizations with whom it would be most effective to negotiate;
- reporting the violation or filing a formal complaint to the appropriate regulatory body;
- applying public pressure; and
- taking direct and/or legal action.

14. Monitor the initiative

Rationale

While preparing to evaluate its work upon completion of the initiative or a funding cycle, the team will benefit from monitoring its work throughout the implementation period to ensure the initiative is proceeding as intended.

Background

In Standard 11, the team is called to encourage program monitoring among community prevention programs and services as a way to strengthen the quality of its work. In this Standard, the team is called to 'walk the talk'—to take steps to monitor its own work. Doing so will build a culture of quality that will increase the likelihood of achieving desired outcomes, and that will serve as a strong role model for others in the community.

Monitoring is distinct from evaluation, in that monitoring provides ongoing feedback to allow the team to determine if the initiative is progressing as intended, while evaluation helps the team make judgments about whether the initiative had the desired effect upon completion. In initiatives with limited resources, tension often exists between 'doing' and reflecting on what is being done, and each team needs to find the best balance between the two. Community-based teams tend to be most interested in getting things done, but it's important to give time to reflect on what is being done.

Monitoring calls for the team to routinely step back from the initiative to determine if activities are unfolding as they were planned in the logic model and action plan. The logic model and action plan will provide targets or 'indicators' for what the team hoped to achieve (e.g., in terms of who is being reached and their level of satisfaction with participation). The clearer the plans, the easier it will be for the team to monitor whether it is on track. Doing so allows the team to make timely changes mid-course

Monitoring calls for the team to routinely step back from the initiative to determine if activities are unfolding as they were planned in the logic model and action plan.

rather than waiting for the final evaluation. Based on what is learned through monitoring, the team may see the need to adjust or restructure the way activities are implemented, or to modify the plans (thus, the logic model and action plan are best viewed as 'living' documents, to be revised as necessary).

Information collected through the monitoring process is used to provide feedback to those team members, staff, volunteers and youth who are implementing activities for the initiative, providing them a formal opportunity to review the information and participate in decisions to improve the initiative.

Systematic monitoring will place the team in a strong position to respond to funding partners' documentation requirements on the quality of the implementation process. Documentation generated through monitoring can also be used to keep other partners (including the media) informed of successes as they occur. At the end of this process, the team will have a good record of the initiative, which can be fed into the process evaluation.

Achieving the Standard

Systematic monitoring means going through the team's activities as they are identified in the action plan. The action plan will identify planned activities, and for each activity include such information as when it will be implemented, for how long, with what resources (human, financial and technical) and the number of people it was expected to reach.

Depending on the scope of its work, the team may be directly involved in implementing particular activities or it may bring coordination to activities implemented by others. Regardless of who is implementing, for each activity or cluster of activities, it's useful to monitor implementation in relation to resources used, the extent to which the initiative reached its target population and the fidelity or quality of implementation, asking such question as:

- Did the activity require the planned financial and human resources? If not, why?
- Did the activity reach the intended population?
 How many? Age? Gender?
- Was the activity implemented as planned? If not, why?
- Were participants engaged? Satisfied? Did anyone drop out? If so, why?

From the perspective of the overall initiative, broader questions may be appropriate, such as:

- Are the different elements or activities of the initiative interacting well and forming a coherent whole?
- Is the organizational structure effective in supporting implementation?
- Do activities appear to match community readiness?

Each of these measures is referred to as an 'indicator', in that the response provides an indication of whether the team has achieved what it set out to accomplish.

Depending on the scope of the initiative, the team may find it useful to create a reporting process for organizations responsible for implementing various parts of the plan (for example, those implicated in Standard 11). Their reports will feed into an overall description of the initiative's implementation as it unfolds. It is important that the collected information be reviewed and fed back to those who need to know; consequently, time should be taken on a regular basis to review the information. The review need not be elaborate; a discussion in a weekly or monthly meeting or a chat with team members, staff or volunteers may be enough. At some point it may be helpful to assess the monitoring process—that is, to reflect on how the monitoring is going and whether anything could be done to improve the process. Good quality monitoring sets up a good evaluation.

STRONGER TOGETHER: Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention.

E. EVALUATE AND REVISE INITIATIVE ACCORDINGLY

By asking questions such as "What happened?", "Did it work?" and "Did the outcomes justify the costs?", evaluations allow a team to demonstrate effects and improve its work.

15. Conduct a process evaluation of the initiative

Rationale

An outcome evaluation provides a judgment on the extent to which outcomes were achieved. A process evaluation provides an indication of the quality of implementation and the extent to which it followed plans. Without a process evaluation, it will not be possible to know why outcomes were achieved or not.

Background

A process evaluation draws from monitoring documentation to assess the extent to which the initiative was implemented as planned and the quality of the implementation at the end of the initiative. Whereas the focus of an outcome evaluation is the extent to which outcomes are achieved, the focus of a process evaluation is the extent to which planned outputs were met. 234 (See Standard 9: Develop logic model showing how initiative will bring desired change for further detail on developing a logic model and outlining planned activities.)

Process evaluation complements outcome evaluation in that it contributes to the analysis of outcomes. If, for example, final outcomes are less than expected, without a process evaluation it won't be possible to determine whether the weakness lay with the plan or with the quality of its implementation. If the quality of the implementation was strong, the team could conclude that the weakness lay with the adequacy of the plan (as reflected in the logic model and action plan). A sound process evaluation provides a rich understanding of what happened with an initiative, along with how and why, whereas the outcome evaluation determines whether it made any difference in terms of youth substance abuse and factors linked to it in the community.

Documentation of the process of implementation (e.g., persondays spent on specific tasks, the quality of implementation) provides a concrete indication of the team's capacity to take on future similar tasks. ²³⁵ Together, process and outcome evaluations can provide important information on how future initiatives can be better implemented, which, if acted upon, creates a quality improvement cycle that will lead to greater effectiveness. When evaluation discussions and decisions are

Resources (inputs) → What we invest	Activities (outputs) → What we do and who we reach	Immediate outcomes → What changes as a result of each activity	Medium-term outcomes → What changes as a result of achieving each immediate outcome	Goals (long-term impacts) What changes as a result of achieving each medium-term outcome
Process evaluation		Outcome evaluation		

open to the broader team, a culture of quality is developed that can empower the team and contribute to positive outcomes. ²³⁶

Achieving the Standard

The initiative's logic model and action plan are integral to producing process evaluations because they present the team's plans against which actual implementation (which may include not only planned, but unplanned and alternative activities) needs to be compared. Between them, the two will contain the team's plans for activities to be undertaken,

resources needed for each activity, the number of people the team intended to reach through each activity, and tasks and timelines for each activity. ²³⁷

Resources: This refers to the human, financial and technical resources used to implement each activity and whether they varied from what was planned.

Reach: This is concerned with the number of participants, or members of the community engaged by the initiative. It's helpful to discuss how reach was achieved (i.e., recruitment approach) and to identify possible explanations for problems with reaching intended numbers. Recommendations for further action may also be presented.

Acceptability: This addresses the extent to which participants are satisfied with the initiative, asking such questions as: Were participants engaged? Satisfied? Did they feel listened to, understood? Were leaders engaged? Were participants able to relate to them (e.g., in relation to ethnicity, age, experience)? Were facilities, location, costs and timing of activities acceptable? Did anyone drop out?

Fidelity: This is concerned with whether all the activities of the initiative were implemented as planned, whether any unexpected problems arose and if adjustments needed to be made. It is also concerned with 'dosage' received by participants. For example, if a family skills program consists of 12 sessions but families typically attended 10 of them, this could very well have an effect on outcomes. ²³⁸

In the course of monitoring the initiative, the team will have tracked information on these aspects of implementation. For monitoring purposes, this information was used to

Together, process and outcome evaluations can provide important information on how future initiatives can be better implemented. make mid-course adjustments to the plan or its implementation as necessary. This same information can now be used at the conclusion of a funding cycle or initiative to make judgments on what happened through the initiative. ²³⁹ ²⁴⁰

If the team is coordinating or overseeing several specific initiatives (e.g., family-based and youth agency programming), its evaluation will be greatly enhanced if it can count on receiving process evaluations from each of its partners. From the perspective of the overall initiative,

the team may wish to analyze broader questions, such as:

- Were the different elements or activities of the initiative interacting well and forming a coherent whole?
- Was the organizational structure effective in supporting implementation?
- Did activities appear to match community's readiness?

Various methods can be used to obtain information for process evaluation, including surveys, interviews, focus groups, observation and document analysis. ²⁴¹ ■

16. Conduct an outcome evaluation of the initiative

Rationale

It can't be assumed that prevention efforts will have the desired effect. With the best of intentions and good quality implementation, prevention efforts can still fall short. By planning and implementing an initiative with attention to quality, positive outcomes are more likely, but the only way to truly know is to evaluate the outcomes of the initiative.

Background

While a process evaluation asks the general question "What happened?" during the course of implementing an initiative, the outcome evaluation asks "Did it work?" Given the various

investments that go into an initiative (from team members, others in the community and funding partners), a prevention team needs to estimate when it will whether investigate the investments made a difference in the lives of a population young people. Outcome evaluation will be most opportune after the initiative's functioning has been

Outcome evaluation will be most opportune after the initiative's functioning has been evaluated through a process evaluation, revisions have been made and the initiative is working well.

evaluated through a process evaluation, revisions have been made, and the initiative is working well.

As with the process evaluation, the team's logic model provides the basis for an outcome evaluation. The immediate, mediumand long-term outcomes presented in the logic model identify the desired changes the team aimed to effect in the lives of targeted youth when planning the initiative. While effecting changes in substance use behaviours is challenging, the team needs to bear in mind that even a small reduction in the level of risk within a population can have a significant public health impact. 243

Sometimes an outcome evaluation will reveal unintended outcomes—things that occurred that were not anticipated in the initial planning of the initiative, but that are nevertheless important. An evaluation may also show that the initiative didn't have the desired positive effect. This is important information, because along with the process evaluation, it can serve as the basis for adjustments and improvements to the initiative. More broadly, knowing what lies behind failures as well as successes contributes significantly to the prevention knowledge base in this country.

Achieving the Standard

The key tasks in undertaking an outcome evaluation include: 244

1. Involve the broad team in planning the evaluation:

While much of the planning may be best undertaken by a subcommittee, the full team may wish to make the final decisions concerning the purpose and priorities for an evaluation, because these decisions delve into the heart of what an initiative is about. It's not unusual for team members and other stakeholders to have different views of what the initiative's evaluation is supposed to achieve, and it's important to resolve differences as fully as possible with outcomes that are meaningful to the team and community. 245 246

Resources (inputs) → What we invest	Activities (outputs) → What we do and who we reach	Immediate outcomes → What changes as a result of each activity	Medium-term outcomes → What changes as a result of achieving each immediate outcome	Goals (long-term impacts) What changes as a result of achieving each medium-term outcome
Process evaluation		Outcome evaluation		

- 2. Clearly state the change(s) the initiative will produce: To allow the initiative to be evaluated, the team needs to identify what it wants to change (outcome indicators) when preparing the logic model. Indicators specify the type of change that is expected and the percentage of people for which change is anticipated. For initiatives addressing substance use, long-term impacts focus on substance use behaviour, and medium-term outcomes usually address protective or risk factors or determinants of health shown to be linked to the substance use behaviour in question. 247 A working principle for prevention is that if there is an effect on the protective/risk factors for an outcome, there will likely be an impact on the outcome. 248 Immediate outcomes often focus on increasing knowledge or awareness. An immediate outcome indicator may, for example, specify an increase in knowledge of the hazards associated with binge drinking in 70% of the players in a midget hockey league.
- 3. Identify the information to be collected and methods of doing this: Outcome indicators can be quantitative or qualitative: qualitative indicators assess people's perceptions and experiences, while quantitative indicators count numbers of things that happen. Common methods for gathering qualitative information are focus groups, observation, interviews, surveys and document review and analysis. Quantitative indicators are measured through survey instruments. A group may develop its own questionnaire; however, existing instruments often have the advantage of having their validity (the extent to which measures actually measure what they intend) and reliability (the extent to which the measures give consistent results) confirmed.
- 4. Design the evaluation to increase confidence that observed effects are due to the initiative: It's important to gather information on the change(s) the team expects to produce through the initiative before beginning so that a baseline can be established, against which results can be compared. A stronger evaluation (i.e., one that rules out more alternative explanations for any changes found in the outcome indicators) is to compare one group of people participating in the initiative with another group

- that doesn't participate (i.e., comparison or control group). ²⁴⁹ However, designing an evaluation with comparison or control groups is very challenging for community-based initiatives and requires direct involvement of knowledgeable researchers. ²⁵⁰ ²⁵¹
- 5. Conduct the outcome evaluation: Decisions to be made by the team include timelines for when the information will be collected, how many people the information will be collected from (i.e., sample size) and who will be in the sample. Once these decisions are made, the team can collect the information (e.g., conduct interviews), record it as accurately as possible and analyze it.
- 6. Share and use the outcome evaluation: An evaluation report that is simple, brief and logically organized is easy to read. It can be helpful to present the information in different ways to various audiences (e.g., formal report, verbal presentation, poster, newsletter article). Reporting back to those participating in the evaluation (i.e., those who gave you outcome information and those who collected it) is important.

17. Account for costs associated with the initiative

Rationale

Calls for return on investment are increasingly common in the non-profit sector, and while giving attention to determining how an initiative worked and whether it met its intended outcomes, community-based initiatives need to consider costs associated with an initiative against what it has achieved. This means assigning dollar figures to the initiative's inputs identified in the logic model.

Background

Community-based initiatives have good potential to prevent youth substance abuse but by their nature (activity in a number of sectors of the community, etc.), they are also likely to be relatively costly. For this reason, studies to estimate the cost-effectiveness of community-based prevention initiatives would be beneficial to the prevention field and Canadian communities. 252 Members of the prevention field and their community supporters may be satisfied to know that an initiative is showing positive effects, but those outside these sectors may rightly question whether community-based prevention is the best way to use scarce resources directed to the community.

Accordingly, organizers of substance abuse prevention, along with the non-profit sector in general, are increasingly being called to consider their initiatives' 'return' in relation to the 'investment'. For example, an initiative may be relatively cheap but in effective, or effective but more expensive than alternatives. By paying more attention to costs and demonstrating good return on investment, those involved in prevention can begin to build crucial support among those who don't necessarily share a prevention or social justice perspective. ²⁵³

Cost or economic evaluations are based on several principles: 254

- Scarcity of resources—possible uses of community resources may exceed their availability;
- Choices—communities have options in how resources are to be used; decisions are often difficult or implicit but cannot be avoided; and
- Opportunity cost—choosing to use resources in one way means they won't be available to be used in another (perhaps better) way.

It's difficult to measure all the costs against the benefits of a program, as many costs and benefits may not be obvious or they may be difficult to calculate. However, community-based prevention initiatives can begin to lay the foundation for cost evaluation by accounting for the various costs and keeping sound financial records.

Achieving the Standard

In considering costs, it's important to be consistent (particularly if different partners are tallying costs) and

to document decisions on what the team deems is a 'cost'—and what isn't. 255 As mentioned above, the team must estimate opportunity costs—the value of all goods and services that society must give up in order to have the initiative, regardless of who pays for them. A costing of a community-based initiative assumes opportunity costs to community facilities (i.e., which could be used for other purposes if they weren't being used for the initiative). This

Those outside the prevention sector may rightly question whether community-based prevention is the best way to use scarce resources directed to the community.

allows for cost-effectiveness comparisons with other drug demand reduction methods that usually include facility costs, such as treatment and incarceration.

Examples of other costs include: staff salary and benefits; value of in-kind volunteer time; program materials; facility rental; equipment (e.g., computer); communications (e.g., postage, Internet connectivity, telephone calls); printing; travel and consultant costs (e.g., evaluator). In a full accounting of costs, program research and evaluation costs should also be included. As a rule of thumb, around 10% of a program budget is often set aside for evaluation costs. 256

An accounting of costs will allow a team to conduct a cost analysis, exploring questions such as:

- Is the initiative worth doing? Do the benefits justify the costs?
- What is the cheapest or most efficient way to get results from the initiative?
- What are the cost implications of expanding or shrinking the initiative?

- How do the initiative's costs affect its sustainability?
- What are the cost implications of implementing the initiative elsewhere?

Simple cost analysis can also be used to build support for an initiative. For example, a team could calculate how much its activities have cost to date and divide this by the number of people reached. This is not an actual cost evaluation, but it might nevertheless be useful for advocacy purposes by showing that achieved outputs cost relatively 'little'. 257

18. Revise initiative based on evaluations

Rationale

Documentation on planning, implementation and outcomes helps the team understand an initiative and its effectiveness. While documentation is essential to have at hand, its greater value is when it is viewed as a feedback mechanism and applied to a new program cycle or initiative. Establishing a continuous feedback and improvement cycle is central to developing a culture of quality in prevention programming, and to institutionalizing effective prevention in a community.

Background

Teams and communities that commit to long-term, ongoing attention to prevention position themselves well for effectiveness. They will also be able to apply lessons to similar future efforts. The five phases of the Standards reflect a program planning, implementation and evaluation cycle; a team that is renewing an initiative may choose to begin by referring to these phases and the 18 Standards. However, when a team has the benefit of documentation (i.e., situation assessment, logic model, action plan, process evaluation, outcome evaluation, cost accounting) from a previous effort and systematically applies lessons learned from it, improvements are more likely.

Achieving the Standard

Documentation from an initiative will help teams identify components of an initiative that worked well or not so well (or perhaps didn't work well for particular populations) and provides a strong basis for adjusting the planning and implementation of similar future initiatives. How lessons learned are applied will depend on the nature of the initiative (e.g., whether it was program- or policy-based):

- If the initiative was program-based, it will likely need to be sustained in order to be effective—hence, documentation can be directly applied to the next cycle of activity;
- If the initiative was policy-based, the work of the current team may be complete, although enforcement monitoring will remain a task for some entities—thus, documentation will be helpful for future teams that engage in any form of prevention/ health promotion policy work in the community.

The current context (e.g., whether community needs and capacities have changed) will also have a bearing on how lessons learned are applied:

- Whether the needs of the target group (i.e., substance use problems and associated protective/ risk factors) have shifted since the previous initiative was begun—will the same long- and medium-term goals be appropriate or will new ones be necessary?
- Whether the situation in the community has changed (in terms of capacity or resources available to address identified needs) for the community or team since this initiative was begun.

With documentation from a previous initiative, teams may benefit from reflecting on additional questions, including: 258 259

- 1. Did the previous team structure work well? Can new arrangements be made?
- 2. Does the program continue to fit for the host organization (in terms of mandate, location, etc.)? Will a new host organization be needed?
- Is new scientific evidence available on communitybased prevention that may be relevant to current needs and circumstances?
- 4. How well did the previous plan (logic model and action plan) work? Were the logic model and action plan fully clear

and logical?

5. How well was the previous plan implemented? Was the plan followed closely? Can the main conclusions from the process evaluation be applied or reflected in this initiative?

An important effect of a continuous improvement cycle is to further engrain or institutionalize effective prevention in the community.

How well did the monitoring process work? Can improvements be made?

- 7. To what extent did the previous initiative achieve its intended outcomes (immediate, medium- and long-term)? Are changes required to achieve intended outcomes? Can the main conclusions from the outcome evaluation be applied or reflected in this initiative?
- 8. How well did the evaluations (process/outcome/cost)
- 9. Might there be less costly ways to achieve positive results?

Taking sufficient time to reflect on these questions and consider their implications for a new initiative positions the team to undertake quality work. An important effect of a continuous improvement cycle in community-based prevention is to further engrain or institutionalize effective prevention in the community.

STRONGER Together

Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth
Substance Abuse Prevention

Section Three: WORKBOOK



Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse



. 20-MINUTE REFLECTION

The purpose of this 20-minute reflection is to provide prevention resource persons and community teams with a tool to identify gaps in their current

programming and springboard for further consultation and discussion around strengthening existing initiatives developing new ones. The reflection exercise allows for review of a full initiative, but more typically teams may come to review their work upon completing a particular phase. Terms used in this exercise are discussed in Section Two: Canadian Standards.

It's vital that teams see substance abuse prevention as a process rather than a destination.

The Standards are grouped into five phases. Each of the following 18 reflection questions pertains to one of the Standards. Depending on your situation, certain phases or reflections may not be immediately applicable, but action on all Standards is recommended.

A. Assess the situation

- Have we determined youth substance use patterns and harms?
- Did we identify the factors that strengthen our youth or alternatively place some at risk for substance use problems?
- Have we assessed our community's activities, resources and capacity to act?

B. Organize the team and build capacity

- Have we engaged targeted youth in the initiative?
- Have we developed an effective organizational structure and processes?
- Did we build and maintain the team's capacity?
- Have we clarified perceptions and expectations?

C. Plan a logical and sustainable initiative

- Did our plan reflect priority harms, relevant factors and team capacity?
- ☐ Have we developed a logic model showing how initiatives will bring desired change?
- Have we taken steps to build sustainability into the initiative?

D. Coo	ordinate and implement evidence-based activities
	Did we promote the quality of existing and planned
	programs?
	Have we developed internal and external coordinating
	mechanisms?
	Did we give attention to community policies and
	processes?
	Did we monitor the initiative?
E. Eval	luate and revise initiative accordingly
	Did we conduct a process evaluation of our initiative?
	Did we measure the initiative's outcomes?
	Have we accounted for costs associated with our
	initiative?
	Were we in a position to use lessons from this
	initiative for future similar efforts?

This reflection and the in-depth review that follows are intended to provide an indication of how well a communitybased team is addressing youth substance abuse. However, it's vital that teams see the prevention of substance use problems among youth as a process rather than a destination.

The in-depth review addresses the five phases and 18 Standards presented in this Community-based Standards document. It is a self-assessment that enables a community-based team to:

- identify the strengths of, and possible areas of improvement for, the team's efforts to address substance abuse;
- assess the extent to which the team's initiative meets the Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention; and
- ready the initiative for assessment by an expert panel, if the team wishes to pursue it.

The five phases represent a full program cycle. Conducting the in-depth review as a team brings more insight and situates the team to address the review's findings. The team may find it most valuable to reflect on its work after completing a particular phase (consisting of several Standards) while it is fresh in everyone's mind. This should take approximately one full morning or afternoon.

Each Standard has several elements; teams will be asked to reflect on and briefly explain the effort or process undertaken to achieve each element of the Standard, and the results of those particular efforts. At the conclusion of each Standard, the team is invited to reflect on anything it might do differently in retrospect, to note whether any accompanying documentation is attached for the review panel, and to provide the team's estimation of the extent to which it meets that Standard, using this scale:

FULLY ✓	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	
---------	-----------	--	-------------------	--	----------	--

Page 129 contains a Canadian Standards Rating Sheet to tally all of the team's responses for the 18 Standards as follows:

FULLY	3	PARTIALLY	2	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	1	NOT DONE		
-------	---	-----------	---	-------------------	---	----------	--	--

This tally allows the team to assess its efforts in relation to a particular phase or across all phases. The Canadian Standards reflect the highest standards in prevention work. The point of the review is to help teams better understand the quality of their current efforts. Totals help identify those areas of activity that are working well and others that may be strengthened.

1. Have we dete	rmi	ned youth substance	use	patterns and harms?		
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 27.

A1 .	r efforts and results and describe: What was done to learn about the extent of use, hazardous use and harms (and age/gender differences) among locating people, including those living out of the mainstream?
A2.	. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What was learned about the substance use patterns of local youth?)
	. What was done to learn whether specific substances or substance use patterns need to be addressed through ou iative?

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What was learned about specific substances or patterns of concern? What is the quality of the evidence?)
C1. What was done to try to draw from more than one reliable source for information on usage patterns (e.g., provincial/district student survey, emergency room and police data)?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., In the end, which sources did the team refer to? Did they prove to be satisfactory?)

ooking back, please provide reflections on what went well and what might have been approached differently in elation to this Standard.								
relation to this standard.								
Overall, in your opinion, which the team was able to de	· ·		s the extent to which this Stand use patterns and harms)?	ard w	vas met (i.e., the exte	nt to		
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE			
Supporting documentation	attached 🏻							

2. Have we learn substance ab		ngth	en our youth or place them	at :	risk for	
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 31.

	and describe: aderstand the factors that seem connected to the substance use patterns of greatest concern in o
community?	
A2. What resulted from patterns of most concern	these efforts? (i.e., What does the team understand to be the most relevant factors linked to t
	nderstand the unique risk factors experienced by some young people or subpopulations due der, sexual orientation, culture and ethnicity?

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What was learned about the unique risk factors faced by some young people in the community?)
C1. What was done to understand the impact of the broad determinants of health (e.g., family income and paren
educational levels, early childhood experiences) for some youth in our community?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Was the team able to draw any conclusions concerning the impact of the social determinants on local youth substance use?)

ooking back, please provide reflections on what went well and what might have been approached differently in elation to this Standard.							
• •	~		s the extent to which this Stand k factors linked to local youth su			nt to	
witch the team was able to de	termine the protective an	10 113	x factors filliked to local youth se	iostai	ince use).		
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE		
Supporting documentation attached							

3. Have we asse	ssec	l our community's ac	tivit	ties, resources and capacit	y to	act?	
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 34.

sider efforts and results and describe: A1. What was done to learn whether any community frameworks exist (e.g., healthy community, safe community) within which prevention of youth substance abuse might be addressed?
A2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Are there any broad frameworks that could accommodate youth substandabuse prevention? How strong is the fit between them and the team's interests?)
B1. What was done to learn the number and breadth of agencies and groups working to address substance abuse and yout health and development in the community?

	these efforts? (i.e., What di	d the team conclude about the comm	nunity's general readiness or
capacity to undertake com	prenensive prevention work:	.)	
Looking back, please prelation to this Standard		vent well and what might have been	approached differently in
relation to this Standard			
• •		eflects the extent to which this Standar	rd was met (i.e., the extent to
which the team was able to	o assess the community's activ	vities, resources and capacity to act)?	
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE
Supporting documentat	ion attached 🏻		

4. Have we engage	ged youth partners in th	e initiative?								
FULLY										

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 37.

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	results and describe: one to clarify the purpose of involving youth in the initiative?
A2. What resulted clear consensus o	ed from these efforts? (i.e., What did the team determine to be the role of youth on the team? Was the n the decision?)
	one to arrive at an inclusive and transparent recruitment process and to engage marginalized young peops directed to them)?

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., How diverse and representative is youth involvement in the initiative? What evidence exists to support this statement?)
C1. What was done to ensure everyone on the team clearly understood the roles that youth members were to have on the team?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What roles did the team decide upon? What limits, if any, were identified concerning their role in decision-making? How strong was the consensus among team members for these roles?)
D1. What was done to orient and prepare youth and adult team members to work effectively with each other?

D2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., How ready are youth and adult team members to work with each other What evidence exists to support this statement?)
E1. What was done to ensure youth members can be effective in meetings (e.g., helped with transportation, given preparation time, eliminated jargon)?
E2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., How engaged are youth members in participating and leading team efforts What evidence exists to support this statement?)

Looking back, please provide reflections on what went well and what might have been approached differently in relation to this Standard.						
relation to this Standard.						
Overall, in your opinion, wh to which the team was able t			cts the extent to which this Stand	ard v	was met (i.e., the ex	xtent
to which the team was able t	o engage youth partners	111 (11	c initiative).			
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	
Supporting documentation	attached 🗆					

		PARTIALLY	UNDER D	DEVELOPMENT	NO	OT DONE
discussion on this S	Standara	l saa h 30				
sider <i>efforts</i> and <i>re</i>		_				
		re the team had the typ	es and range of team	n members to prom	ote compreh	ensive action
A2. What resulted	from the	se efforts? (i.e., Did the	team arrive at a men	nbership that was d	liverse, represo	entative and
A2. What resulted with its general aim		se efforts? (i.e., Did the	team arrive at a men	nbership that was d	liverse, represo	entative and
		se efforts? (i.e., Did the	team arrive at a men	nbership that was d	liverse, repress	entative and
		se efforts? (i.e., Did the	team arrive at a men	nbership that was d	liverse, represo	entative and
		se efforts? (i.e., Did the	team arrive at a men	nbership that was d	liverse, represo	entative and
		se efforts? (i.e., Did the	team arrive at a men	nbership that was d	liverse, repress	entative and
		se efforts? (i.e., Did the	team arrive at a men	nbership that was d	liverse, represo	entative and
with its general aim	ns?)	se efforts? (i.e., Did the				entative and
		se efforts? (i.e., Did the	team arrive at a men	nbership that was d	liverse, represo	entative a

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Has the team avoided power or turf struggles? Are all members satisfied with their voice? What evidence exists to support this statement?)
C1. In team meetings, what was done to balance a task focus with consideration of diverse views?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., How well are team meetings working? What evidence exists to support th view?)
D1. What was done to identify a credible host organization for the initiative?

D2. What resulted from the	se efforts? (i.e., Was an acce	eptable host organization identified?)
Looking back, please provi relation to this Standard.	de reflections on what we	ent well and what might have been	approached differently in
Overall, in your opinion, wh		flects the extent to which this Standa l structure and processes)?	ard was met (i.e., the extent
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE
Supporting documentation	n attached 🏻		

6. Are we taking	j ste	ps to build and main	tain	team capacity?	
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 41.

	der <i>efforts</i> and <i>results</i> and describe: 1. What was done to build and maintain leadership capacity on the team?
_	
_	
-	
Α	2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Does current leadership appear adequate for the initiative?)
_	
_	
	81. What was done to build or access technical capacity (e.g., knowledge of substance abuse issues, monitorin valuation)?
_	

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Does the team have sufficient access to specialized knowledge and skills?)
C1. What was done to build and maintain cultural capacity on the team?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Does the team appear more ready to engage relevant cultural groups? Doe evidence exist to support this statement?)
D1. How was done to build and maintain financial capacity on the team?

D2. What resulted from	these efforts? (i.e., Does t	he team pr	oduce acceptable financi	al documentation? Is	there
adequate backup?)					
	ovide reflections on what w	ent well an	d what might have been	approached differen	tly in
relation to this Standard	•				
	which of the following best 1	reflects the e	xtent to which this Stand	lard was met (i.e., the e	xtent
to which the team built ar	id maintained capacity)?				
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UN	DER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	
IOLLI	TAITIALLI		DER DEVELOT MERT	HOT BOILE	
Supporting documentati	ion attached 🏻				
Supporting documentati	on attached 🏻				

Have we clarified members' perceptions and expectations?		
FULLY PARTIALLY UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 43.

sider <i>efforts</i> and a	results and describe:
A1. What was do	ne to seek team members' perspectives, including youth members?
	ed from these efforts? (i.e., What is the range of perspectives on the team? How much distance is the
between extreme	positions?)
B1. What was do	ne to understand the expectations of other stakeholders, including the evaluator and funders?

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Summarize the expectations of stakeholders.)
C1. What was done to align members' expectations with the general requirements of an evidence-based initiative?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., To what extent do team members support taking an evidence-based approach to the team's work?)

Looking back, please provi relation to this Standard.	de reflections on what v	went	well and what might have be	en ap	proached differen	tly i
Overall, in your opinion, whi which the team clarified men	· ·		s the extent to which this Stand cions)?	lard v	vas met (i.e., the exte	ent to
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	
Supporting documentation	n attached □					

8. Have we ensured our plan addresses priority concerns and factors and current capacity?							
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 45.

12. What resu	lted from these efforts?	(i.e., What theorie	es were identified to	guide the initiative?)	
31. What was	done to determine a cle	ar long-term goal((s) for substance abu	se prevention?	

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What is the long-term goal? To what extent does it address community concerns? Is it within the team's capacity to accomplish?)
C1. What was done to narrow the protective or risk factors the team aims to focus on?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What factors did the team decide to focus on?)
D1. What was done to determine the team's focus between coordinating existing activities, strengthening existing activitie or filling existing gaps?

STRONGER TOGETHER:	Canadian Stanc	dards for Community	y-based Youth Substance	e Abuse Prevention.
--------------------	----------------	---------------------	-------------------------	---------------------

D2 W/I 1. 1.C 1	(C) (: W/I: 1 C.1	C	. (
D2. What resulted from thes	se efforts? (i.e., Which of the	nese functions did the team decide	to focus on?)
-			
	de reflections on what we	nt well and what might have bee	n approached differently in
relation to this Standard.			
Overall, in your opinion, whi	ch of the following best refl	ects the extent to which this Standa	ard was met (i.e., the extent to
which the team's plan address	es priority concerns and fac	tors and current capacity)?	
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE
Supporting documentation	attached □		

9. Have we prep	are	d a logic model to sh	ow l	now our initiative will bring	ab	out the desired	
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 48.

	e to engage as many team members as possible in developing the logic model?
A2. What resulted How long did the p	from these efforts? (i.e., How many members were involved in the development of the logic mode
F	
	e to verify the adequacy of the logic model? (i.e., What was done to ensure that each step enables the logical sequence, there are no gaps and the initiative has sufficient power to bring about the desired

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., How satisfied are team members with the logic model?)
C1. How often was the logic model reviewed and who was involved?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Were modifications made to the work plan or the model?)
D1. What was the logic model used to communicate the initiative to others?

Overall, in your opinion to which a logic model v	vas prepared to help guid		DER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DO	NE	
• •	vas prepared to help guic					\neg
					., the exte	nt
Looking back, please prelation to this Standar		hat went well and	d what might have bo	een approached di	fferently	in

10. Have we pla	anne	ed for sustainability	of th	ne initiative?		
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 50.

d from these effo	orts? (i.e., Was a	sustainability pla	n prepared?)		
ne to align the ir	nitiative with cor	nmunity values a	nd culture?		
				d from these efforts? (i.e., Was a sustainability plan prepared?) ne to align the initiative with community values and culture?	

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Does evidence exist that shows the initiative is resonating with community members?)
C1. What was done to cultivate support for the initiative among both key influencers and the general community?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., How much support does the initiative enjoy from key influencers and the general community?)
D1. What was done to secure evaluation assistance through to the conclusion of the initiative?

STRONGER TOGETHER	: Canadian Standards for	Community-based Youth	Substance Abuse Prevention.
-------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------------

D2. What resulted from th	ese efforts? (i.e., Does the t	eam have sufficient access to an eval	uator?)
22	(i.e., 2 000 tile (uuco11)
_			
Looking back, please prov	vide reflections on what w	ent well and what might have beer	approached differently in
relation to this Standard.			
Overall, in your opinion, we to which we planned for the	_	reflects the extent to which this Standative)?	lard was met (i.e., the extent
FILLY	DARTIALLY	LINDER DEVELORMENT	NOT DONE
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE
Supporting documentation	on attached □		
oapporting accumentant	in actualizar i		

11. Have we promoted high-quality implementation of prevention activities in our community?							
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 53.

Consider	efforts	and	results	and	descril	be:
----------	---------	-----	---------	-----	---------	-----

A1. What was done to promote high-quality implementation of prevention programs, activities or services in the community (e.g., promoting a network or community of practice among prevention programmers in the community; promoting program monitoring, use of best practice principles and a quality improvement cycle)?
A2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Was a community of practice established? Are more learning sessions planned on prevention topics? Are more programmers monitoring their programs, referring to best practices?)

	de reflections on what v	went	well and what might have been	approached differen	ıtly ir
relation to this Standard.					
			cts the extent to which this Standa eed prevention was promoted)?	ard was met (i.e., the	exten
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	
Supporting documentation	n attached □		·	_	

12. Have we strengthened coordination among prevention and youth development initiatives? **FULLY PARTIALLY UNDER DEVELOPMENT NOT DONE**

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 55.

	as done to build relationships and processes for cooperation between those conducting substance abutivities in our community (e.g., dedicating volunteer/staff time for this purpose?)
A2. What resaligned?)	ulted from these efforts? (i.e., Does evidence exist of activities being integrated or messages to youth bei
	s done to strengthen coordination with groups and activities aiming to more broadly promote youth heal tent in the community?

	these efforts? (i.e., Does evide	ence exist of activities being integrat	ed or messages to youth being
aligned?)			
			1 1 1 1
Looking back, please prelation to this Standar		went well and what might have be	en approached differently in
		reflects the extent to which this Star ntion and youth development initia	
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE
Supporting documenta	ition attached		
oupporting documents	mon attached in		

13. Have we give	ven :	attention to policies	and	processes in our communi	ty?		
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 57.

sider <i>efforts</i> ar	nd results and describe:
A1. What was	done to determine community readiness to address the policy issues in question?
A2. What resi	ulted from these efforts? (i.e., What conclusion did the team come to in terms of community readiness t
	nt policy issues?)
D. 1111	
B1. What was	done to develop or add to the team's capacity to address policy issues?

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Does evidence show that the team is more capable of addressing policissues?)
C1. What was done to understand the current local policy environment?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Provide a brief description of the environment.)
D1. What advocacy efforts were undertaken to support the team's policy change activity?

D2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Were new allies found? Was the team successful with achieving policy change?)
E1. What was done to monitor enforcement or adherence to the new policy?
E2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Has adequate enforcement occurred to date? Does it appear that the policies being adhered to? Does evidence exist to support this view?)

Looking back, please provice relation to this Standard.	de reflections on what v	vent	well and what might have been a	pproached differen	tly in
Overall, in your opinion, wh to which policies and process	· ·		cts the extent to which this Standar dressed)?	d was met (i.e., the e	exten
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	
Supporting documentation	attached 🗆				

14. Have we me	onite	ored the initiative?			
FULLY		PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 60.

sider <i>efforts</i> and <i>results</i> an	ad describe: ure the initiative's implementation would be sufficiently documented?	
A1. W hat was done to enst	the the initiatives implementation would be sufficiently documented:	
A2. What resulted from th to be conducted?)	ese efforts? (i.e., Is documentation sufficient to allow monitoring and, lat	ter, process evaluatio
B1. What was done to mor Who was involved?)	nitor the initiative? (e.g., Was time taken to critically reflect on the docum	entation? How ofte

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Did the team adjust its work plan? Was the logic model changed? Were recommendations made for a future program cycle?)
C1. Program documentation and monitoring by those providing specific programming within the team's comprehensive initiative will contribute to the team's monitoring efforts. What was done to encourage program monitoring by prevention programming in the community?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Did any groups provide documentation from their work?)

Looking back, please prov relation to this Standard.	ride reflections on what v	went	well and what might have been	n ap	proached differen	tly i1
Total of this standard.						
Overall, in your opinion, wh which the initiative was adec	•	eflect	ts the extent to which this Stand	ard w	vas met (i.e., the exte	ent to
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	
Supporting documentatio	n attached 🏻					

15. Did we con	duct	: a process evaluatio	n of	our initiative?		
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 63.

A1	er efforts and results and describe: . What was done to plan for the process evaluation? (e.g., Did planning start at the beginning of the initiative? Did not access evaluation expertise at the outset?)
A 2	2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Was a process evaluation plan established?)
B1	. What was done to gather information on participation in the initiative?

B2. What can the team report about how many were involved, who they were and how satisfied they were with their involvement?
C1. What was done to gather information on fidelity of implementation?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What can the team report about how closely implementation followed the plans? About adaptations that were made?)
D1. What was done to document human, financial and material resources used?

	nese efforts? (i.e., What car	n the team report about human,	financial and material resources
used?)			
-			
Looking back, please provelation to this Standard.	vide reflections on what w	vent well and what might have	been approached differently in
Overall, in your opinion, w to which a process evaluation	•	reflects the extent to which this S	standard was met (i.e., the exten
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE
Supporting documentation	on attached 🏻		

16. Did we con	duct	: an outcome evaluat	tion	of our initiative?		
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 65.

A1. \	efforts and results and describe: What was done to plan for the outcome evaluation? (e.g., Did planning start at the beginning of the initiative? Did
team	access evaluation expertise at the outset?)
	What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Was an outcome evaluation plan established? If so, what indicators did the te fy for its objectives?)
B1. V	What was done to gather baseline information on participants before beginning the initiative?

B2. What can the team say about participants prior to the initiative (e.g., in terms of knowledge, skills, attitudes)?
C1. What was done in terms of evaluation design and data collection (e.g., to be practical but also have confidence in the results)?
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What were the outcomes? How confident is the team that the results refle what actually occurred?)
D1. What was done to disseminate findings?

D2. What resulted from the conferences?)	se efforts? (i.e., Did the to	eam receive any feedback or i	nquiries or invitations to me	etings/
conferences:)				
Looking back, please provi relation to this Standard.	de reflections on what w	vent well and what might ha	ve been approached differen	ntly in
Overall, in your opinion, whi		eflects the extent to which this	Standard was met (i.e., the ex	tent to
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPM	NOT DONE	
Supporting documentation	attached 🗆			

17. Have we ac	coui	nted for costs associa	ated	with our initiative?		
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 67.

711. W Hat wa	s done to define and account for program costs?	
A2. What res	ulted from these efforts? (i.e., What can the team say about its program costs?)	
B1. What wa	s done to compare or analyze costs in relation to the effects of the initiative?	

B2. What can the team say	y about costs in relation to	the initiative's effects?	
·			
Looking back, please pro relation to this Standard.		vent well and what might have bee	n approached differently in
	hich of the following best rowith the initiative were acco	eflects the extent to which this Standa unted for)?	ard was met (i.e., the extent to
FULLY	PARTIALLY	UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE
Supporting documentation	on attached 🏻		

18. Have we re	vise	d the initiative based	l on	evaluations?		
FULLY		PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT	NOT DONE	

For discussion on this Standard, see p. 69.

A1. W	forts and results and describe: That was done to identify lessons learned from the initiative? (e.g., Did the team assemble and systematically resentation from the initiative? Who was involved? How much time was given to this task?)
	,
A2. W	That resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What lessons did the team identify?)
B1. W initiati	That was done to determine if new evidence on community-based prevention existed that could be applied to a ve?

B2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., Was any relevant research identified?)				
C1. What was done to determine if community needs and capacities had changed since the previous initiative?				
C2. What resulted from these efforts? (i.e., What did the team conclude about community needs and capacity?)				

Looking back, please provi	de reflections on what v	vent	well and what might have bee	n ap	proached different	tly ir
relation to this Standard.						
Overall, in your opinion, whi which the initiative was revise	· ·		s the extent to which this Stand	ard w	vas met (i.e., the exte	ent to
FULLY	PARTIALLY		UNDER DEVELOPMENT		NOT DONE	
Supporting documentation	attached 🗆					

Canadian Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Standards Rating Sheet

	Fully in place	Partly in place	Under development	Not done
A. Assess the situation				
1. Determine youth substance use patterns and associated harms				
2. Learn factors linked to local youth substance use problems				
3. Assess current activities, resources and capacity to act				
B. Organize the team and build capacity				
4. Engage youth partners in the initiative				
5. Develop organizational structure and processes				
6. Build and maintain team capacity				
7. Clarify members' perceptions and expectations				
C. Plan a logical and sustainable initiative				
8. Ensure plan addresses priority concerns, factors and current capacity				
9. Develop logic model showing how initiative will bring desired change				
10. Plan for sustainability of the initiative				
D. Coordinate and implement evidence-based activities				
11. Promote quality of existing and planned initiatives				
12. Strengthen coordination among local initiatives				
13. Give attention to community policies and processes				
14. Monitor the initiative				
E. Evaluate and revise initiative accordingly				
15. Conduct a process evaluation of the initiative				
16. Conduct an outcome evaluation of the initiative				
17. Account for costs associated with the initiative				
18. Revise initiative based on the evaluations				

3. MONITOR AND EVALUATE AN INITIATIVE

Introduction

Monitoring and evaluation ask the kinds of questions people pose to themselves and others every day: What happened? Did it work? In fact, these two questions reflect the two main purposes of an evaluation—to improve and to prove. Everyone wishes to improve one's efforts and, increasingly, programmers are required to prove to others that an initiative has worked. Evaluation is occasionally seen as something imposed from outside; as with everything else, evaluation works best when the motivation is internal—when evaluation is done because it is seen to provide value to an initiative.

One route to a positive view of evaluation is to build a culture of evaluation on a team: seeing a team as an inquiring and learning group, creating an atmosphere in which everyone feels free to discuss and question the assumptions that have gone into the initiative, and communicating a genuine openness to findings and willingness to learn and change as a result of them.

Another way to get motivated about monitoring and evaluating is to take control of it early and ensure that it serves the needs of the team (recognizing it may need to serve others, such as funders or administration, as well). Monitoring and evaluation does take time and resources that are usually extremely precious, so it's important to use them well and arrive at a monitoring and evaluation plan that fits the size of your initiative and helps your team make decisions.

There is no single right way of conducting monitoring and evaluation. Every initiative operates out of a unique community context and the evaluation process needs to fit those particular circumstances. The approach suggested here is in line with those required by governments and other funding bodies.

Defining monitoring and evaluation

Monitoring is about collecting information that will help the team know what's happening with its initiative (e.g., resources spent, activities that have taken place, number of participants, significant issues arising), while it unfolds, so it can make adjustments as necessary. The information collected also positions the team to conduct process and outcome evaluations and to account for costs when it comes time to evaluate.

Evaluation is about using monitoring and other collected information to fully clarify what happened with your initiative *upon completion* of a phase or funding cycle, so that you can make changes and improvements and ultimately make judgments about your initiative (i.e., did it work?).

Setting up your initiative for monitoring and evaluation

It may sound obvious, but the ultimate goal of any substance abuse prevention initiative needs to prevent some form of substance abuse. However, there are critical elements and steps along the way that will need to be attended to in order to ensure a useful evaluation plan—and the resources associated with these Standards will help. The goal of an initiative may be stated in another way, but substance abuse prevention goals commonly include one of the following:

- Preventing or delaying *first use* of alcohol, tobacco, cannabis and other substances.
- Preventing or reducing negative consequences linked to substance use by:
 - preventing the transition to, or minimizing the
 extent of, *hazardous* use among students (e.g.,
 reducing the frequency of use; amount used;
 use of more than one substance at a time; and
 use in association with driving, unintended
 sexual activity, school work or sports/physical
 activities); and
 - preventing or minimizing the severity of harmful consequences that arise from hazardous use (e.g., car crashes, sexually transmitted diseases, pregnancies, injuries, overdoses).

Achieving a substance abuse prevention goal generally takes a comprehensive, well-resourced initiative several years. Consequently, it's acceptable to consider medium-term goals that aim to address factors (protective or risk) known to be linked to substance abuse (e.g., school engagement, life skills). If a team can effect a positive change on protective/risk factors known to be linked to substance use, substance use will likely be impacted as well. On the way to achieving medium- and long-term goals, how does the team know the initiative is tracking as expected? The most practical way is to develop a logic model as introduced in Standard 9. A logic model sets out the steps on the way to long-term and less tangible outcomes (e.g., promoting healthy development).

RESOURCES \Rightarrow ACTIVITIES \Rightarrow OUTCOMES \Rightarrow LONG-TERM (immediate, medium term) GOAL

Teams typically give much thought to how an initiative and its various components will work; a logic model invites the team to project those thoughts onto a table or chart format. Any shape is fine—what's important is that it shows the causal connections between different parts of the initiative. Some teams take the time to 'dress up' their logic model and use it to create a sense of ownership among team members and to explain the initiative to others.

The process of building a logic model pushes the team to a clarity of thinking that can spell the difference for an initiative. Preparing a logic model as a team focuses its efforts and gets

everyone on the same page; it helps everyone clearly understand what the initiative is trying to accomplish and how. It also providesagreatopportunity for the team to challenge its assumptions about how the initiative will work.

The history of prevention is a history of questionable assumptions that sometimes go unstated (e.g., if we frighten them, they will avoid that behaviour; if we givethemgoodinformation,

The process of building a logic model as a team pushes it to a clarity of thinking that can spell the difference for an initiative.

they will act on it). A logic model calls on the team to make its assumptions explicit (e.g., if all youth-serving agencies, sports leagues and arts groups strive to reach out to all youth in the community and make all participants feel they belong, they experience stronger relationships and engage more fully in positive activities; if youth develop stronger relationships and engage more fully in positive activities, they will be less likely to engage in substance abuse). A weakness or a gap in the initiative (e.g., an incorrect assumption, an activity that doesn't appear to contribute to a desired outcome) can easily be identified and rectified through a logical and consensusbuilding process. When completed, it presents your team's theory of how the various elements of the initiative will lead to some form of change among youth in the community.

Elements of a logic model

To prepare a logic model, the team needs to itemize the following clearly and concisely:

Resources/inputs: What the school/community/funders invest into an initiative, including staff time, materials, budget, research, facilities, volunteer time, etc.

Program components: Sets of closely related activities directed to the attainment of the goals of the initiative (e.g., attention to school environment, substance use education, substance use policy, services and partnerships).

Activities/outputs: What the program seeks to deliver to, or produce for, specific target clients or systems.

Outcomes: Results or changes from the initiative as changes in knowledge, awareness, skills, attitudes, intentions, opinions, aspirations, motivation, behaviour, practice, decisionpolicies, making, action, condition or status. Outcomes may be intended or unintended, positive or Outcomes fall negative. along a continuum from immediate (short term), to intermediate (medium term) to final outcomes (long term), sometimes referred to as ultimate goals or impacts.

Arrows linking these elements show the main 'logic' of the program. The basic logic depicted in the graphic here is that:

Resources or inputs that the team brings to the initiative (e.g., team member expertise, training) in response to an initial assessment (Standards 1–3) will produce...

Resources (inputs)

What we invest

Activities (outputs)

What we do and who we reach

Immediate outcomes

What changes as a result of activities

Medium-term outcomes

What changes as a result of achieving immediate outcomes

Goals (long-term impacts)

What changes as a result of reaching medium-term outcomes

Activities that produce Outputs or deliverables that are expected to lead to changes called ...

Immediate Outcomes (for example, increased knowledge or shifts in attitudes among students and staff), which lead to...

Medium-term Outcomes (for example, new school policies and activities and increased life skills among students) that can realistically be expected to produce...

Long-term Outcomes such as reduced substance abuse or healthier development.

This kind of plan amounts to a series of 'If...then' statements (i.e., if we invest these resources, then we can conduct these activities; if we conduct these activities, then we will see these immediate changes; and so on).

Good logic needs to connect all the elements of your plan; that is, the resources you have available to you need to be sufficient to undertake the activities in your plan; your team needs to, in turn, be confident that the activities planned will achieve the

immediate and medium-term outcomes you've identified; and finally, your medium term outcomes, if achieved and if the initiative is sufficiently comprehensive, need to be sufficient to address the long-term goal the team has identified for the initiative.

Below is an outline of a completed logic model for a comprehensive community-based initiative that includes the three general components (sets of activities that have common objectives) that have been presented through these standards: attention to strengthening program quality; increasing coordination and integration among programs; and filling gaps with new policies and programs. Each of these components could have a logic model prepared to provide a more detailed indication of how each one works.

Components	Strengthen program quality				Fill gaps with new policies and programs	
Resources (inputs) What we invest	•				r the team,	
₩	↓	Ψ	↓	₩		
Activities (outputs) ^{xv}	Implement various quality improvement activities (developing local community of practice, workshops on logic		Organize meetings to explore coordination and integration of activities and messages	Launch anti-binge drinking strategy		
What we do	modelling, evaluati	on, etc.)				
Who we reach	Prevention and youth service programmers		Prevention and youth service programmers	Team members and/or partners		
↓	↓	↓	↓	₩	↓	
Immediate outcomes What changes as a result of activities	Increased awareness, knowledge and skills in relation to quality programming		Increased awareness, knowledge and skills in relation to coordination and integration among groups working with youth in the community	Increased awareness, knowledge of prevalence and harms linked to binge drinking among various prevention partners, and skills to develop evidence-based preventive responses		
↓	↓	↓	\	₩	V	
Medium-term outcomes What changes as a result of achieving	Change in programmers' behaviour regarding use of logic models, and monitoring and evaluating their efforts		Change in programmers' behaviour regarding coordination with others	partners in	haviour of prevention terms of preventive esponses	
immediate outcomes ↓	V	Ψ	V	₩	4	
Goals (long- term impacts) What changes as a		Reduced substance abuse				
result of achieving immediate outcomes						

xv In some logic models, outputs signify the product resulting from the activity. For example, an activity might be 'deliver services' and the output would be '# of services actually delivered'.

Building a logic model provides a powerful base from which to monitor and evaluate an initiative—its layout can guide the monitoring and evaluation processes. A logic model helps identify key components and activities to monitor. It's likewise straightforward to organize the evaluation and match it precisely to the team's needs, because each element of a logic model has a form of evaluation associated with it. It's ideal when a team can systematically evaluate all aspects of an

initiative, however, scarce resources may mean the team won't be able to evaluate everything it might wish. The logic model helps the team prioritize what it can do. For instance, it may ask, "Do we have the resources to evaluate all components this year, or will we limit the evaluation to the school climate component? Shall we conduct a process evaluation, outcome evaluation or both?"

Logic models and common types of evaluation

	Type of evaluation	Questions to ask
Resources (inputs) ↓	Situation assessment:	What are the problem and associated factors? What are the characteristics, needs, priorities of target population? What is the context for delivering initiative? What are the potential barriers/facilitators?
Activities (outputs) ↓	Process evaluation:	How is the program implemented? Are activities delivered as intended? What is the fidelity of implementation? Are participants being reached as intended? What are the participant reactions?
Immediate outcomes ↓	Outcome evaluation:	To what extent are desired changes occurring? To what extent are goals being met? Who is benefiting/not benefiting? How? What seems to work/not work? What are the unintended outcomes?
Medium-term outcomes ↓		
Goals (long-term impacts)	Impact evaluation:	To what extent can changes be attributed to the program? What are the net effects? What are the final consequences?
Costs	Cost analysis:	Is the initiative worth doing? Do the benefits justify the costs?

As a monitoring tool, a logic model enables the team to identify any breakdowns in the early stages and take steps to revise it before proceeding too far. Using a logic model to track achievements along the way (i.e., outputs and immediate outcomes) relieves some of the pressure to demonstrate medium- and long-term impacts in the first year or two of a complex initiative, or if the team has little to report about the initiative for several years. If necessary, a logic model allows the team to modify its theory or logic based on what they are learning and, in doing so, increase the potential for achieving long-term impacts.

Full evaluation of an initiative (that is, the initial situation, the process, outcome and cost) is necessary to achieve the Standards. However, if for whatever reason your team does not evaluate the initiative at this time, having a logic model that reflects what the team is doing will make the initiative at least 'evaluable'—the least that health promotion and prevention professionals and managers need to strive for with a prevention initiative.

Tips in preparing a logic model

- Make each statement as clear and concise as possible.
- Use arrows and feedback loops to show the links between inputs, outputs and outcomes.
- List only those activities that are clearly related to the attainment of the goal(s); it's not necessary to detail every task performed, such as administrative tasks.
- Logic models don't usually include a Needs/ Situation Assessment, but it's important to ensure the initiative and logic model respond to an assessment (Standards 1–5) or, at the very least, a needs statement that can be clearly articulated (for example, "a high percentage of our community's 15- to 16-year-olds drink to intoxication at least monthly").
- Although a Situation Assessment precedes development of a logic model, it's important to get the initial assessment right, otherwise everything that flows from it will be misguided.
- Distinguish between outputs and outcomes; remember that outputs are what you do, while outcomes are differences or changes resulting from what you do.

- Planned activities and strategies do not always logically lead to desired outcomes; check your 'ifthen' statements and ensure they make sense and lead to the outcomes the team wants to achieve.
- Make sure the output and outcome statements are measurable; this will permit the team to evaluate whether the initiative achieves what it set out to do.
- Remember that programs commonly measure client (in this case, programmer or young person) satisfaction; this is reasonable, but it's important to note that participant satisfaction is an output, not an outcome, because although being 'satisfied' may lead to change or improvement (or it may not), it does not in itself mean that someone has changed or improved.
- Pay attention to unintended or unexpected outcomes—positive, negative and neutral— as well as expected outcomes.

It's important to bear in mind that a logic model is the team's intention for the initiative—it is not reality; evidence-based substance abuse prevention initiatives present dynamic interrelationships that rarely follow a clean sequence. Don't be concerned about the model being perfect; the team can go back to it as new insights arrive or the situation changes. What's most important is that it serve as a roadmap for the initiative and guide to monitoring and evaluating the initiative.

Conclusion

Beyond learning what has happened with an initiative, another purpose of evaluation is to discover new knowledge about effective practice. Most of our knowledge of what works in preventing substance abuse among youth is drawn from studies undertaken elsewhere (usually the U.S.). Community teams that monitor and evaluate their initiatives will contribute important knowledge on the effectiveness of program models in a Canadian context. This contribution hinges on further nurturing a culture of evaluation and quality programming in this country. Community-based teams have a large role to play, but so, too, do governments, NGOs, universities, and funding bodies. Everyone in this country with a stake in the prevention of substance abuse among youth needs to play an active role in supporting high-quality program design, implementation and evaluation.

For further information, please refer to the following:

Drug Strategy Community Initiatives Fund. (February 2009). Guide for Project Evaluation and Performance Reporting. Ottawa: Health Canada.

Ogborne, A.C. (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

Public Health Agency of Canada. (1997). Program Evaluation Tool Kit. http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/php-psp/toolkit-eng.php

Taylor-Powell, E. & Henert, E. (2008). Developing a Logic Model: Teaching and Training Guide. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Extension.

W.K. Kellogg Foundation. (1998). Evaluation Handbook. Battle Creek, MI: Author.

W.K. Kellogg Foundation. (2004). Logic Model Guide. http://www.wkkf.org/knowledge-center/resources-page.aspx **STRONGER TOGETHER:** Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth Substance Abuse Prevention.

STRONGER Together

Canadian Standards for Community-based Youth
Substance Abuse Prevention

Section Four: APPENDICES



Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse



ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

A. DISCUSSION OF RISK AND PROTECTIVE **FACTORS**

Personal factors

A person's genetic make-up may produce a vulnerability to substance use problems that may or may not be expressed, depending on the person's environment (e.g., parent and community attitudes towards substance use) and specific individual experiences. Exposure to alcohol, tobacco or other substances during pregnancy can either subtly or dramatically affect a child's future physical, cognitive, behavioural and social development, depending on the specific substance and the timing and extent of exposure. Childhood mental health problems, especially conduct disorder and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), are associated with later substance use. In adolescence, a sensation-seeking personality is a risk factor for substance use, but so are internalized problems (such as anxiety or a sense of hopelessness). ²⁶² Early use of tobacco and alcohol (i.e., in late childhood or early adolescence) may stem from earlier challenges and is a risk factor for later substance use.

In early childhood, an easy-going temperament is a protective factor that buffers the influence of risk factors, reducing the likelihood of later harmful substance use and other problematic behaviours. Important protective traits or abilities throughout childhood include the ability to trust, confidence in oneself and one's ability to meet demands that arise, the ability to take initiative, having a well-formed sense of identity, and the ability to experience and express intimacy. 263 264 In terms of substance use specifically, as a child proceeds into adolescence, a shy and cautious temperament is a protective factor. ²⁶⁵

Family factors

The quality of family life looms large as a factor affecting health and behaviour throughout childhood and adolescence. ²⁶⁶ Early deprivation (e.g., neglect, abuse or lack of affection from caregivers) often has a profound affect on a child's trajectory and subsequent development. The quality of family life can be affected by low socioeconomic status (SES) or social position. It has been postulated that low SES can create chronic stress affecting one's mental health and immune responses, and reduce access to resources such as mental health services and recreation. ²⁶⁷ Children of substance-dependent parents are at particular risk for later problematic use. In adolescence, discipline and family rules are factors, with extreme approaches (i.e., being either too permissive or too punitive) associated with problems.²⁶⁸ Transitions or significant changes in family life (e.g., moving to a new neighbourhood or school, loss of a close family member, parental separation) can place any young person at risk. ²⁶⁹ Parents who are good listeners, set reasonable expectations, monitor their child's activities and model healthy attitudes and behaviours have a protective effect.

Social factors

Social influences play an increasingly prominent role as children approach adolescence. Young people tend to be influenced by their perceptions of how common or 'normative' substance use is in their networks. If friends smoke, drink or use other substances, a young person is more likely to do so. Decisions on use of a substance are also linked to perceptions of risk associated with that particular substance. The concept of risk is best considered in relation to the benefits perceived by the young person. Some young people may perceive unhealthy behaviour such as substance use as having important social benefits (e.g., to support a desired identity, to make friends). Consequently, knowledge about substance risks does not serve as a protective factor in itself, but belief that the relative risks of substance use outweigh the benefits does. Religious or spiritual engagement, active involvement in healthy recreational activities and taking increasing responsibility in community affairs are all important social factors that provide protection through the adolescent years. ²⁷⁰ ²⁷¹

School factors

The quality of a child's school experience has an impact on the child's health and on the likelihood of engaging in risk behaviours, including substance use. Young people who are not engaged with learning and who have poor relationships with peers and teachers (e.g., being bullied, feelings of not belonging) are more likely to experience mental health problems and to be involved in various health-risk behaviours, including substance abuse. Students with positive teacher, learning and social connectedness fare best in terms of later mental health and resistance to health risk behaviours, and are more likely to have good educational outcomes. ²⁷² Schools that give systematic attention to promoting bonds among teachers, parents and students provide an important protective effect in terms of both learning and well-being. ²⁷³

Community factors

The way alcohol, tobacco, prescribed medications and illegal drugs are sold and marketed, and the way controls are enforced, are important community-level factors. Beyond this, many of the foregoing factors affecting young people arise from community conditions and other broad social factors (e.g., adequacy of income, employment and housing, the quality of social support networks). Not having access to means of a reasonable income is a risk factor, as are jobs with boring tasks, lack of supervision and lack of opportunity for promotion. Insufficient personal resources are deepened by poor community conditions such as poorly maintained

schools, inadequate public transport and lack of access to recreation and community services. Weak communities are more likely to experience crime, public drug use and social disorder which can, in turn, further weaken those communities. Social capital—that is, a community's cohesiveness and ability to solve common problems—is an indicator of community health that may have a bearing on a number of issues, including substance use. ²⁷⁴

Societal factors

Increasingly, scientists are postulating that the way a society is organized through social and economic policy can have a profound effect on individual and family health. Various policies have led to growth in part-time and casual jobs—particularly for youth—and lack of affordable housing. They have also led to a widening of the gap between the rich and poor in Canada and other Western nations. ²⁷⁵ While complex, these broad phenomena may well have an effect on family health and youth substance use patterns in various ways (e.g., by delaying transitioning into marriage and starting a family among young people, straining parents who are balancing family needs with increased work demands). ²⁷⁶

B. EXAMPLES OF COMMUNITY-LEVEL PREVENTION POLICY OPTIONS

Alcohol

- Limits on hours or days of sale
- Restrictions of density, location or types of outlets
- Responsible beverage service and 'safer bar' policies
- Monitoring of special occasion sales permits
- Restrictions on advertising and promotion
- Restrictions on consumption in public places
- Compulsory compliance checks for minimum purchase age and administrative penalties for violations
- Establishment of minimum age for sellers
- Restrictions on alcohol use at work and work events
- Restrictions on sponsorship of special events
- Police walkthroughs at alcohol outlets
- Undercover outlet compliance checks
- Mandatory checks of age identification
- Prohibition of alcohol on school grounds or at school events
- Enforcement of school policies
- Establishment of enforcement priorities against adults who illegally provide alcohol to youth
- Sobriety checkpoints
- Media campaigns about enforcement efforts
- Identification of source of alcohol consumed prior to driving-while-intoxicated arrests (law enforcement agencies)

Tobacco

- Mandatory seller training
- Minimum age for sellers
- Penalty for underage use
- Counter advertising
- Prohibition of tobacco use on school grounds, in buses and at school events
- Enforcement of school policies
- Mandatory checks for age identification
- Incentives for checking age identification
- Undercover shopper or monitoring program

Other drugs

- Control of production and distribution
- Community policing to reduce local drug selling
- Zoning and building codes that discourage drug activity and penalties for property owners who fail to address known drug activity
- Employer drug policies
- Enforcement of school policies
- Drug policies (staff, patron) for bars, nightclubs
- Surveillance of high-risk public areas
- Enforcement of zoning and building codes
- Appropriate design and maintenance of parks, streets and other public places (e.g., lighting, traffic flow)

Positive youth development

Seek youth association, league, agency or club policies that reflect the following principles:

- Ensure physical and psychological safety and security
- Create opportunities for children to feel they belong and are included
- Build supportive relationships between coaches/ leaders and children
- Emphasize positive social norms (e.g., respect, fair play)
- Help youth feel they are capable (i.e., self-efficacy)
- Focus on improving skill rather than emphasizing results
- Ensure activities are age or developmentally appropriate
- Strive for involvement that has sufficient duration and intensity
- Reinforce connections between family, school, sport and community youth development initiatives **•**

2. METHODOLOGY

To prepare standards, it's critical to arrive at a method that will lead to the highest possible confidence in the Standards and the information supporting them. The method needs to ensure that two questions are addressed: (a) what approaches work?; and (b) how do they work?

To answer the first question, these Standards referred to good-quality empirical research (i.e., experimental or quasi-experimental study design) showing positive effects on substance use-related measures. Of particular interest were replications of empirical studies of an initiative or model with various populations ('effectiveness' research). Evidence from single good-quality empirical studies showing that an initiative can be effective in controlled conditions ('efficacy' research) was also accounted for. Evidence from these types of evaluations was sought from systematic reviews, meta-analyses and primary studies in peer-reviewed and grey literature. Other forms of evidence, such as other good non-randomized study designs or expert opinion, were considered when empirical literature was insufficient to formulate the Standards.

To answer the second question, "how do effective approaches work?", these Standards referred to process evaluations, qualitative research and evidence-based program materials. Efficacy and effectiveness studies tend to provide insufficient detail on how an initiative is implemented. These other forms of research can shed important light on how an initiative worked and what processes or factors promoted or impeded implementation—information that is crucial to ground and elaborate on the Standards. This literature is viewed by some to be particularly helpful in understanding community-based and health promotion initiatives. ^{xvi} This literature was

accessed through searches of databases of peer-reviewed and grey literature.

The Task Force aimed to have the Standards rest on Level 1 and 2 research to answer both questions; however, Level 3 materials (i.e., program guides, expert discussion) were referred to in order to fill gaps. All important points in the supporting discussion are cited and, in the end, the language used in the Standards and accompanying discussions relied on the judgment of the Task Force.

Search criteria

The literature of interest is empirical and qualitative research, process evaluations and program materials on community-and family-based substance abuse prevention interventions (universal, selective and indicated) that aim to prevent substance abuse among youth ages 10–24.

This literature was drawn from a review of:

- Systematic or otherwise credible academic or government reviews of relevant literature from 1999. This includes comprehensive reviews of prevention or health promotion that cover various settings/health-risk behaviours. "Credible" in the sense used here refers to reviews with clear objectives and search criteria, and that include only good-quality studies (e.g., well controlled experimental or quasi-experimental research design).
- Selected primary studies or other items drawn upon on an as-needed basis to fill gaps or elaborate on information found in the reviews.

Databases searched

The following databases were searched using a mixture of the keywords community, drug, substance, prevention: PubMed, Project Cork and Google Scholar.

Hierarchy of evidence

What approaches work? *	How do they work? *
Level 1: A body of effectiveness research Level 2: Individual efficacy studies Level 3: Other (e.g., naturalistic observation, other non-randomized designs, expert discussion)	Level 1: Process evaluation/qualitative research on models showing effectiveness or efficacy Level 2: Research on models reflecting similar principles to evidence-based models Level 3: Other (e.g., program materials, expert discussion)

^{*} In all cases, excluding poor quality research and giving preference to Canadian literature.

xvi Because community-based initiatives, particularly those that are health promotion-oriented, tend to be complex, take their direction from participants and have emergent, long-term aims, various researchers question the ability of experimental research to adequately capture the depth and complexity of what is occurring (see, for example, Casswell, 2000; Berkowitz, 2001).

I. Community-specific & substance use-specific review-type articles

- Adelman, H. S., & Taylor, L. (2003). Creating school and community partnerships for substance abuse prevention programs. The Journal of Primary Prevention, 23(3).
- Casswell, S. (2000). A decade of community action research. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 55-74.
- Cheon, J. W. (2008). Best practices in community-based prevention for youth substance reduction: Towards strengths-based positive development policy. Journal of Community Psychology, 36, 761-779.
- Chinman, M., Imm, P., & Wandersman, A. (2004). Getting To Outcomes: Promoting Accountability Through Methods and Tools for Planning, Implementation, and Evaluation. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention & RAND Corporation. Retrieved from: http://www.rand.org/ pubs/technical_reports/TR101/
- Collins, D., Johnson, K., & Becker, B. (2007). A meta-analysis of direct and mediating effects of community coalitions that implemented sciencebased substance abuse prevention interventions. Substance Use & Misuse, 42(6), 985-1007.
- Commission on Social Determinants of Health. (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: www.who.int/social_determinants/final_report/en
- Dzierzawski, D., Florin, P., Hawkins, J. D., Holder, H. D., Kressler, H., & Wilson, G. H. (2004). Community coalitions and prevention: A panel discussion. Science & Practice Perspectives: A Publication of the National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2(2), 56-62. National Institutes of Health. Retrieved from: http://www.drugabuse.gov/PDF/Perspectives/ vol2no2/06Perspectives-Coalitions.pdf
- Flynn, R. J. (2008). Communities That Care: A Comprehensive System for Youth Prevention and Promotion, and Canadian Applications to Date. *Institute* for the Prevention of Crime Review, 2, 83-106. Retrieved from: www. sciencessociales.uottawa.ca/ipc/pdf/8_IPCR2%20-%20Flynn.pdf
- Gates, S., McCambridge, J., Smith, L. A., & Foxcroft, D. (2006). Interventions for prevention of drug use by young people delivered in non-school settings. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, (1). Art. No.: CD005030. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD005030.pub2. Retrieved from: www.cochrane.org/reviews/en/ab005030.html
- Giesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J. (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 31-53.

- Hingson, R., & Howland, J. (2002). Comprehensive Community Interventions to Promote Health: Implications for College-Age Drinking Problems. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 14(Suppl.).
- Holder, H. D., & Moore, R. S. (2000). Institutionalization of community action projects to reduce alcohol-use related problems: Systematic facilitators. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 75-86.
- Holder, H. (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. Addictive Behaviors, 25, 843-859.
- **Kaftarian, S.** (2000). Prevention Works through Community Partnerships: Findings from SAMHSA/CSAP's National Evaluation, DHHS Publication No. (SMA) 00-3374. Bethesda, MD: Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://ncadi.samhsa.gov/govstudy/ms666/ findings.aspx#Ackn#Ackn
- Shiner, M., Thom, B., & MacGregor, S. et al. (2004). Exploring community responses to drugs. York, United Kingdom: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Retrieved from: http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/1859352685.pdf
- Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. Journal of Primary Prevention, 23, 371-404.
- Vimpani, G. (2005). Getting the mix right: Family, community and social policy interventions to improve outcomes for young people at risk of substance misuse. Drug and Alcohol Review, 24, 111-125.
- Wandersman, A., & Florin, P. (2003). Community interventions and effective prevention. American Psychologist, 58, 441-448.

II. Community-based health promotion review-type articles

- Berkowitz, B. (2001). Studying the Outcomes of Community-Based Coalitions. American Journal of Community Psychology, 29(2).
- Herrman, H., Saxena, S., & Moodie R. (2004). Promoting mental health: Concepts, emerging evidence, practice. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from:http://www.who.int/mental_health/ evidence/en/promoting_mhh.pdf
- Kreuter, M. W., Lezin, N. A., & Young, L. A. (2000). Evaluating communitybased collaborative mechanisms: Implications for practitioners. Health Promotion Practice, 1, 49-63.
- Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. American Journal of Public Health, 93, 557-574.
- Roussos, S. T., & Fawcett, S. B. (2000). A review of collaborative partnerships as a strategy for improving community health. Annual Review of Public Health, 21, 369-402.
- **St Leger, L.** (2008). Evaluating community-based health promotion initiatives: an ongoing necessity and challenge. Health Promotion International, 25(4).

- Wolff, T. J. (Ed.). (2001). Special section: Contemporary issues series I community coalition building—Contemporary practice and research.
 American Journal of Community Psychology, 29(2).
- III. Comprehensive reviews that contain discussion relevant to community-based prevention

A. Canadian sources

- **Health Canada.** (2002). Preventing Substance Use Problems among Young People: A Compendium of Best Practices. Ottawa: Author. Retrieved from: www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hc-ps/pubs/adp.../prevent/index-eng.php
- **Paglia, A., & Room, R.** (1999). Preventing substance use problems among youth: A literature review and recommendations. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 20(1), 3–50.
- **Roberts, G.** (2009). Best practices for preventing substance use problems in Nova Scotia. Halifax: Department of Health Promotion and Protection. Retrieved from: www.gov.ns.ca/HPP/publications/pg/Best_Practices_Substance_Abuse.pdf

B. International sources

- Foxcroft, D., Ireland, D. J., Lister-Sharp, D., Lowe, G., & Breen, R. (2003). Longer-term primary prevention for alcohol misuse in young people: A systematic review. *Addiction*, 98, 397–411.
- Hawks, D., Scott, K., & McBride, M. (2002). Prevention of psychoactive substance use: A selected review of what works in the area of prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/en/prevention_intro.pdf
- Loxley, W., Toumbourou, J. W., & Stockwell, T. (2004). The prevention of substance use, risk and harm in Australia: A review of the evidence.

 Perth, Australia: Department of Health and Aging. Retrieved from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/wcms/Publishing.nsf/content/health-publith-publicat-document-mono_prevention-cnt.htm
- McGrath, Y., Sumnall, H., McVeigh, J., & Bellis, M. (2006). Drug use prevention among young people: A review of reviews [Evidence briefing update]. London, United Kingdom: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Retrieved from: http://www.nice.org.uk/aboutnice/whoweare/aboutthehda/hdapublications/drug_use_prevention_among_young_people_a_review_of_reviews_evidence_briefing_update.jsp
- **Toumbourou, J. W., Williams, Waters, E., & Patton, G.** (2004). What do we know about preventing drug-related harm through social developmental intervention with children and young people? In Stockwell et al. (Eds.), *Preventing harmful substance use: The evidence base for policy and practice.* John Wiley and Sons.

Nation, M., Crusto, C., Wandersman, A., Kumpfer, K. L., Seybolt, D., Morrissey-Kane, E., & Davino, K. (2003). What works in prevention. Principles of effective prevention programs. *American Psychologist*, 58(6/7), 449–456.

IV. Primary studies/articles

- **Adelman, H. S., & Taylor, L.** (2003). Creating school and community partnerships for substance abuse prevention programs. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 329–369.
- Andreasson, S., Sjostrom, E., & Branstrom, R. (2007). A six-community prevention trial to reduce alcohol and drug use-related problems in Sweden: Planning and early findings. Substance Use & Misuse, 42(12/13), 2017–2027.
- Arthur, M. W., & Blitz, C. (2000). Bridging the gap between science and practice in drug abuse prevention through needs assessment and strategic community planning. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(3), 241–255.
- **Beebe, T. J. J., Harrison, P. A., Sharma, A., & Hedger, S.** (2001). The community readiness survey: Development and initial validation. *Evaluation Review,* 25(1), 55-71.
- Biglan, A., Ary, D. V., Smolkowski, K., Duncan, T., & Black, C. (2000). A randomised controlled trial of a community intervention to prevent adolescent tobacco use. *Tobacco Control*, 9(1), 24–32.
- Brown, E. C., Hawkins, J. D., Arthur, M. W., Briney, J. S., & Abbott, R. D. (2007).
 Effects of Communities That Care on prevention service systems: Findings from the Community Youth Development Study at 1.5 years. *Prevention Science*, 8, 180–191.
- **Chinman, M., Hunter, S. B., Ebener, P., Paddock, S. M., Stillman, L., Imm, P., & Wandersman, A.** (2008). The Getting to Outcomes Demonstration and Evaluation: An Illustration of the Prevention Support System. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *41*, 206–224.
- Clark, S. (2007). Youth access to alcohol: Early findings from a community action project to reduce the supply of alcohol to teens. Substance Use & Misuse, 42(12/13), 2053–2062.
- Conway, K., Greenaway, S., Casswell, S., Liggins, S., & Broughton, D. (2007). Community action—challenges and constraints—implementing evidence-based approaches within a context of reorienting services. Substance Use & Misuse, 42(12/13), 1867–1882.
- **Crowley, K. M., Yu, P., & Kaftarian, S. J.** (2000). Prevention actions and activities make a difference: A structural equation model of coalition building. *Evaluation and Program Planning, 23*, 381–388.
- Edwards, R. W., Jumper-Thurman, P., Plested, B. A., Oetting, E. R., & Swanson, L. (2000). Community readiness: research to practice. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(3), 291–307.

- Embry, D. D. (2004). Community-based prevention using simple, low-cost, evidence-based kernels and behavior vaccines. Journal of Community Psychology, 32(5), 575-591.
- Fagan, A. A., Hanson, K., Hawkins, J. D., & Arthur, M. W. (2008). Bridging science to practice: Achieving prevention program implementation fidelity in the Community Youth Development Study. American Journal of Community Psychology, 41(3/4), 235-249.
- Fagan, A. A., Van Horn, M. L., Hawkins, J. D., & Arthur, M. W. (2007). Using community and family risk and protective factors for community-based prevention planning. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 35, 535-555.
- Feinberg, M. E., Chilenski, S. M., Greenberg, M. T., Spoth, R. L., & Redmond, **C.** (2007). Community and team member factors that influence the operations phase of local prevention teams: The PROSPER project. Prevention Science, 8(6).
- Feinberg, M. E., Greenberg, M. T., Osgood, W., Sartorius, J., & Bontempo, D. (2007). Effects of the Communities That Care model in Pennsylvania on youth risk and problem behaviors. *Prevention Science*, 8(2), 61–270.
- Feinberg, M. E., Greenberg, M. T., & Osgood, D. W. (2004). Readiness, functioning, and perceived effectiveness in community prevention coalitions: A study of communities that care. American Journal of Community Psychology, 33(3/4), 163-176.
- Feinberg, M. E., Riggs, N. R., & Greenberg, M. T. (2005). Social networks and community prevention coalitions. Journal of Primary Prevention, 26, 2 79-298.
- Feinberg, M. E., Kim, J. Y., & Greenberg, M. T. (2008). Personality and community prevention teams: Dimensions of team leader and member personality predicting team functioning. Evaluation and Program Planning, 31(4), 403-409.
- Flewelling, R. L., Austin, D., Hale, K., LaPlante, M., Liebig, M., & Piasecki, L. et al. (2005). Implementing research-based substance abuse prevention in communities: Effects of a coalition-based prevention initiative in Vermont. Journal of Community Psychology, 33(3), 333–353.
- Florian, P., Mitchell, R., Stevenson, J., & Klein, I. (2000). Predicting intermediate outcomes for prevention coalitions: A developmental perspective. Evaluation and Program Planning, 23(3), 341–346.
- Foster-Fishman, P. G., Berkowitz, S. L., Lounsbury, D. W., Jacobson, S., & Allen, **N.A.** (2001). Building collaborative capacity in community coalitions: A review and integrative framework. American Journal of Community Psychology, 29(2), 241-261.
- Giesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J. (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 31-53.
- Gomez, B. J., Greenberg, M. T., & Feinberg, M. E. (2005). Sustainability of community coalitions: An evaluation of Communities That Care. Prevention Science, 6, 199-202.

- Graham, K., & Chandler-Coutts, M. (2000). Community action research: Who does what to whom and why? Lessons learned from local prevention efforts (international experiences). Substance Use & Misuse. 35(1/2), 87-110.
- Green, L. W., & Kreuter, M. W. (2002). Fighting back or fighting themselves? Community coalitions against substance abuse and their use of best practices. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 23(4), 303-306.
- Greenberg, M. T., Feinberg, M. E., Gomez, B. J., & Osgood, D. W. (2005). Testing a community prevention focused model of coalition functioning and sustainability: A comprehensive study of Communities That Care in Pennsylvania. In Stockwell, T., Gruenewald, P. J., Toumbourou, J. W., & Loxley, W. (Eds.), Preventing Harmful Substance Use: The Evidence Base for Policy and Practice. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. 129-142.
- Hallfors, D., Cho, H., Livert, D., & Kadushin, C. (2002). How are community coalitions "fighting back" against substance abuse, and are they winning? American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 23, 237-245.
- Hawkins, J. D., Catalano, R. F., & Arthur, M. W. (2002). Promoting sciencebased prevention in communities. Addictive Behaviour, 27(6), 951-976.
- Hawkins, J. D., Catalano, R. F., Arthur, M. W., Egan, E., Brown, E. C., & Abbott, **R. D. et al.** (2008). Testing Communities That Care: The rationale. design and behavioral baseline equivalence of the community youth development study. Prevention Science, 9(3), 178-190.
- Hawkins, J. D., Oesterle, S., Brown, E. C., Arthur, M. W., Abbott, R. D., Fagan, A. A., & Catalano, R. F. (2009). Results of a type 2 translational research trial to prevent adolescent drug use and delinquency: A test of Communities That Care. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 163, 789-798.
- Hunter, S. B., Chinman, M., Ebener, P., Imm, P., Wandersman, A., & Ryan, **G.W.** (2009). Technical Assistance as a Prevention Capacity-Building Tool: A Demonstration Using the Getting to Outcomes® Framework. Health Education and Behavior, 30(5).
- Johnson, D., Headey, B., & Jensen, B. (2003). Communities, social capital and public policy: Literature review [Melbourne Institute Working Paper No. 26/03]. Melbourne, Australia: University of Melbourne.
- Kaftarian, S. J., & Yu, P. (2000). Breaking new frontiers: Outcome evaluations of community-based programs. Evaluation and Program Planning, 23(3), 337-339.
- Lindholm, M., Ryan, D., Kadushin, C., Saxe, L., & Brodsky, A. (2004). "Fighting back" against substance abuse: The structure and function of community coalitions. Human Organization, 63(3), 265-276.
- Livet, M., Courser, M., & Wandersman, A. (2008). The prevention delivery system: Organizational context and use of comprehensive programming frameworks. American Journal of Community Psychology. 41(3/4), 361-378.

- Ogilvie, K. A., Moore, R. S., Ogilvie, D. C., Johnson, K. W., Collins, D. A., & Shamblen, S. R. (2008). Changing community readiness to prevent the abuse of inhalants and other harmful legal products in Alaska. *Journal of Community Health*, 33(4), 248–258.
- **Pentz, M. A.** (2000). Institutionalizing community-based prevention through policy change. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(3), 257–270.
- Perry, C. L., Williams, C. L., Komro, K. A., Veblen-Mortenson, S., Stigler, M. H., & Munson, K. A. et al. (2002). Project northland: Long-term outcomes of community action to reduce adolescent alcohol use. *Health Education Research*, 17(1), 117–132.
- **Quinby, R. K., Hanson, K., Brooke-Weiss, B., Arthur, M. W., & Hawkins, J. D.** (2008). Installing the Communities That Care prevention system: Implementation progress and fidelity in a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 36(3), 313–332.
- **Sorensen, G., Emmons, K., Hunt, M. K., & Johnston, D.** (1998). Implications of the Results of Community Intervention Trials. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 19, 379-416.
- Stigler, M. H., Perry, C. L., Komro, K. A., Cudeck, R., & Williams, C. L. (2006). Teasing apart a multiple component approach to adolescent alcohol prevention: What worked in Project Northland? *Prevention Science*, 7(3), 269–280.
- Valente, T. W., Chou, C. P., & Pentz, M. A. (2007). Community coalitions as a system: Effects of network change on adoption of evidence-based substance abuse prevention. *American Journal of Public Health*, 97(5), 880-886.
- Wagenaar, A. C., Gehan, J. P., Jones-Webb, R., Toomey, T. L., Forster, J. L., Wolfson, M., & Murray, D. M. (1999). Communities mobilizing for change on alcohol: Lessons and results from a 15-community randomized trial. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 27, 315–326.
- Wandersman, A., Imma, P., Chinman, M., & Kaftarian, S. (2000). Getting to outcomes: a results-based approach to accountability, Evaluation and Program Planning, 23, 389–395.
- **Zakocs, R. C., & Guckenburg, S.** (2007). What coalition factors foster community capacity? Lessons learned from the fighting back initiative. *Health Education & Behavior, 34*(2), 354–375.

Applying to both family and community

- **Wright, D. et al.** (2007). Understanding the relative influence of neighborhood, family, and youth and adolescent drug use. Substance Use & Misuse, 42(14), 2159–2171.
- **Kumpfer, K. L.** (2008). A wakeup call to the prevention field: Are prevention programs for substance use effective for girls? Substance Use & Misuse, Special Issue: International Perspectives on Women's Substance Use, 43(8/9), 978–1001.

Evidence-based program guides

- Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. (2002). Achieving Outcomes! A Practitioner's Guide to Effective Prevention. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov/pdfs/ AchievingOutcomes.pdf
- Hawkins, J. D., & Catalano, R. F. (2005). Investing in Your Community's Youth: An Introduction to the Communities That Care System. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://download.ncadi.samhsa. gov/Prevline/pdfs/ctc/Investing%20in%20Your%20Community's%20 Youth.pdf
- **Ives, R.** (2005). Evaluation Guidance for Practitioners: A Practical Guide to Evaluating Drug Education and Prevention Services for Young People. London, United Kingdom: Drugscope.
- National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Capacity Primer:
 Building Membership, Structure and Leadership. Community Anti-Drug
 Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Implementation

 Primer: Putting Your Plan into Action. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of

 America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Planning Primer: Developing a Theory of Change, Logic Models and Strategic and Action Plans. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Sustainability

 Primer: Fostering Long-Term Change to Create Drug-Free Communities.

 Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- Western Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. (n.d). Planning and Best Practices. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
 Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. Retrieved from: http://captus.samhsa.gov/western/resources/bp/index.cfm.
- Yin, R., Yu, P., Muhury, P., Greer, J., & Gwaltney, M. (2000). Prevention works through community partnerships: Findings from SAMHSA/CSAP's national evaluation. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://ncadi.samhsa.gov/govstudy/ms666/findings.aspx#Ackn
- U.S. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2001). Community how to guides on underage drinking prevention. National Association of Governors' Highway Safety Representatives. Retrieved from: http://www.nhtsa.dot.gov/people/injury/alcohol/Community%20Guides%20HTML/ExecSumm. html#Acknowledge
- **United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime.** (2006). *Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes*. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/planning/m&e_E. pdf

Other contextual reports/articles

Commission on Social Determinants of Health. (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/social_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/ en/index.html

Weisz, J., Sandler, I., Durlak, J., & Anton, B. (2005). Promoting and Protecting Youth Mental Health through Evidence-Based Prevention and Treatment. American Psychologist, 60(6), 628-648.

4. REFERENCES

- ¹ Hawkins, J. D., Oesterle, S., Brown, E. C., Arthur, M. W., Abbott, R. D., Fagan, A. A., & Catalano, R. F. (2009). Results of a type 2 translational research trial to prevent adolescent drug use and delinquency: A test of Communities That Care. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 163, 789-798.
- ² Paglia-Boak, A., & Adlaf, E. (2007). Substance use and harm in the general youth population. In Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse (Ed.), Substance Abuse in Canada: Youth in Focus. Ottawa: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. Retrieved from: http://www.ccsa.ca/2007%20 CCSA%20Documents/ccsa-011521-2007-e.pdf
- ³Adelman, H. S., & Taylor, L. (2003). Creating school and community partnerships for substance abuse prevention programs. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23(3).
- ⁴ Collins, D., Johnson, K., & Becker, B. (2007). A meta-analysis of direct and mediating effects of community coalitions that implemented science-based substance abuse prevention interventions. Substance Use & Misuse, 42(6), 985-1007.
- Mation, M., Crusto, C., Wandersman, A., Kumpfer, K. L., Seybolt, D., Morrissey-Kane, E., & Davino, K. (2003). What works in prevention. Principles of effective prevention programs. *American Psychologist*, 58(6/7), 449–456.
- ⁶ Wandersman, A., & Florin, P. (2003). Community interventions and effective prevention. *American Psychologist*, 58, 441–448.
- ⁷ Hallfors, D., Cho, H., Livert, D., & Kadushin, C. (2002). How are community coalitions "fighting back" against substance abuse, and are they winning? *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 23, 237-245.
- ⁸ **Berkowitz, B.** (2001). Studying the Outcomes of Community-Based Coalitions. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 29*(2).
- ⁹ United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2004). Youth participation in decision-making. World Youth Report 2003: The global situation of young people. New York: Author. Retrieved from: http://www. un.org/esa/socdev/unyin/documents/worldyouthreport.pdf
- ¹⁰ Arthur, M. W., & Blitz, C. (2000). Bridging the gap between science and practice in drug abuse prevention through needs assessment and strategic community planning. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(3), 241–255.
- Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371–404.
- ¹² Sorensen, G., Emmons, K., Hunt, M. K., & Johnston, D. (1998). Implications of the Results of Community Intervention Trials. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 19, 379–416.

- ¹³ Spooner, C., & Heatherington, K. (2004). Social determinants of drug use. Technical report #228, p. 20. Sydney, Australia: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales. Retrieved from: http://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/ndarcweb.nsf/website/Publications. reports.TR228
- ¹⁴ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93, 557–574.
- ¹⁵ Hallfors, D., Cho, H., Livert, D., & Kadushin, C. (2002). How are community coalitions "fighting back" against substance abuse, and are they winning? *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 23, 237–245.
- ¹⁶ Vimpani, G. (2005). Getting the mix right: Family, community and social policy interventions to improve outcomes for young people at risk of substance misuse. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 24, 111–125.
- ¹⁷ Holder, H. (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive Behaviors*, 25, 843–859.
- ¹⁸ **Wandersman, A., & Florin, P.** (2003). Community interventions and effective prevention. *American Psychologist, 58,* 441–448.
- ¹⁹ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93, 557–574.
- Wandersman, A., & Florin, P. (2003). Community interventions and effective prevention. American Psychologist, 58, 441–448.
- ²¹ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive Behaviors*, 25, 843–859.
- ²² Gates, S., McCambridge, J., Smith, L. A., & Foxcroft, D. (2006). Interventions for prevention of drug use by young people delivered in non-school settings. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (1). Art. No.: CD005030. D0I:10.1002/14651858.CD005030.pub2. Retrieved from: www.cochrane.org/reviews/en/ab005030.html
- ²³ Arthur, M. W., & Blitz, C. (2000). Bridging the gap between science and practice in drug abuse prevention through needs assessment and strategic community planning. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(3), 241–255.
- ²⁴ Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371-404.
- ²⁵ Holder, H. D., & Moore, R. S. (2000). Institutionalization of community action projects to reduce alcohol-use related problems: Systematic facilitators. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 75–86.
- ²⁶ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93, 557–574.

- ²⁷ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive* Behaviors, 25, 843-859.
- ²⁸ **Pentz, M. A.** (2000). Institutionalizing community-based prevention through policy change. Journal of Community Psychology, 28(3), 257-270.
- ²⁹ **Holder, H. D., & Moore, R. S.** (2000). Institutionalization of community action projects to reduce alcohol-use related problems: Systematic facilitators. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 75-86.
- ³⁰ **Pentz, M. A.** (2000). Institutionalizing community-based prevention through policy change. Journal of Community Psychology, 28(3), 257-270.
- ³¹ Commission on Social Determinants of Health. (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/social_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/ en/index.html
- ³² Beebe, T. J. J., Harrison, P. A., Sharma, A., & Hedger, S. (2001). The community readiness survey: Development and initial validation. Evaluation Review, 25(1), 55-71.
- ³³ Wandersman, A., & Florin, P. (2003). Community interventions and effective prevention. American Psychologist, 58, 441-448.
- ³⁴ Feinberg, M. E., Greenberg, M. T., & Osgood, D. W. (2004). Readiness, functioning, and perceived effectiveness in community prevention coalitions: A study of communities that care. American Journal of Community Psychology, 33(3/4), 163-176.
- ³⁵ Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. Journal of Primary Prevention, 23, 371-404.
- ³⁶ Goodman, R. M., Wandersman, A., Chinman, M., Imm, P., & Morrissey, E. (1996). An ecological assessment of community-based interventions for prevention and health promotion: Approaches to measuring community coalitions. American Journal of Community Psychology, 24.
- ³⁷ Weissberg, R., Kumpfer, C., & Seligman, M. (2003). Prevention that works for children and youth: An introduction. American Psychologist 58,(6/7), 425-432.
- ³⁸ **Knight, C.** (2007). A resilience framework: Perspectives for educators. *Health* Education. 107(6), 543-555.
- ³⁹ Lerner, R.M., Dowling, E.M., & Anderson, P.M. (2003). Positive youth development: Thriving as the basis of personhood and civil society. Applied Developmental Science, 7(3), 172-180.
- ⁴⁰ **Damon, W.** (2004). What is positive youth development? The ANNALS of the American American Academy of Political and Social Science, 591, 13-24.
- ⁴¹ **Eckersley, R.M.** (2005). 'Cultural fraud': The role of culture in drug abuse. Drug and Alcohol Review, 24(2), 157-163.

- ⁴² **Statistics Canada** (2001). Aboriginal peoples of Canada: A demographic profile. Ottawa: Author. Catalogue No.: 96F 96F0030XIE2001007. Retrieved from: http://www12.statcan.ca/english/census01/products/ analytic/companion/abor/contents.cfm
- ⁴³ National Aboriginal Health Organization. (2003). Terminology Guide (adapted for the Web). Retrieved from www.icah.ca/content/en/glossary/ terms/. Retrieved from: http://www.naho.ca/english/pdf/terminology_ guidelines.pdf
- ⁴⁴ Van der Woerd, K.A., Dixon, B.L., McDiarmid, T., Chittenden, M., Murphy, A., & The McCreary Centre Society (2005). Ravens children II: Aboriginal youth health in BC. Vancouver: The McCreary Centre Society. Retrieved from: http://www.mcs.bc.ca/pdf/Ravens_children_2-web.pdf
- ⁴⁵ Erickson, P.G., & Butters, J.E. (2005). How does the Canadian juvenile justice systems respond to detained youth with substance use associated problems? Gaps, challenges, and emerging issues. Substance Use & Misuse, 40(7), 953/973.
- ⁴⁶ Brown, J., Knol, D., Prevost-Derbecker, S., & Andrushko, K. (2007). Housing for Aboriginal Youth in the Inner City of Winnipeg. The First Peoples Child & Family Review, 3, 27-36.
- ⁴⁷ **Anderson. J.** (2003). Aboriginal Children in Poverty in Urban Communities: Social exclusion and the growing racialization of poverty in Canada. Ottawa: Canadian Council on Social Development. Retrieved from: http://www.ccsd.ca/pr/2003/aboriginal.htm
- ⁴⁸ First Nations Child and Family Caring Society of Canada. (2003). *United* Nations Committee on the rights of the child. Non-discrimination and diversity. Ottawa: Author. Retrieved from: http://www.fncfcs.com/home. html
- ⁴⁹ University of Calgary Population Health Intervention Research Centre. (n.d.), Feeling alienated at school: How risky health behaviours start. Calgary: Author. Retrieved from: http://www.ucalgary.ca/PHIRC/html/ snapshots.html
- ⁵⁰ **McNeely, C., & Faici, C.** (2004). School connectedness and the transition into and out of health-risk behavior among adolescents: A comparison of social belonging and teacher support. Journal of School Health, 74(7).
- ⁵¹ The ALSO Foundation & Centre for Youth Studies. (2000). Beyond perceptions: A report on alcohol and other drug use among gay, lesbian, bisexual, and gueer communities in Victoria. Melbourne, Australia: Australian Drug Foundation. Retrieved from: http://www.glhv.org.au/ node/75
- ⁵² Bontempo, D., & D'Augelli, A. (2002). Effects of at-school victimization and sexual orientation on lesbian, gay, or bisexual youths' health risk behavior. Journal of Adolescent Health, 30, 364-374.
- ⁵³ **Agic. B.** (2004). Culture counts: Best Practices in Community Education in Mental Health and Addiction with Ethnoracial/Ethnocultural Communities. Phase One Report. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved from: http://www.camh.net/education/ Resources_communities_organizations/culture_counts_jan05.pdf

- ⁵⁴ Public Health Agency of Canada. (2004). What determines health? Retrieved from: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/ph-sp/determinants/index-eng.php
- ⁵⁵ Ibid
- ⁵⁶ Leatherdale, S., Hammond, D., & Ahmed, R. (2008). Marijuana and tobacco use patterns among youth in Canada. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 19(4), 361-369.
- ⁵⁷ Waddell, C., & Shepherd, C. (2002). Prevalence of mental disorders in children and youth. Mental Health Evaluation & Community Consultation Unit, University of British Columbia. Retrieved from: http://www. childhealthpolicy.sfu.ca/research_reports_08/rr_pdf/RR-3-02-full-report.pdf
- ⁵⁸ Saewyc, E. (2007). Substance use among non-mainstream youth. In Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse (Ed.), Substance Abuse in Canada: Youth in Focus. Ottawa: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. Retrieved from: http://www.ccsa.ca/2007%20CCSA%20Documents/ccsa-011521-2007-e.pdf
- ⁵⁹ Tupker, E. (2004). Youth & drugs and mental health: A resource for professionals. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ⁶⁰ Dell, C.A., & Poole, N. (2008). Worksheet: Applying a Sex/Gender/Diversity-Based Analysis within the National Framework for Action to Reduce the Harms Associated with Alcohol and Other Drugs and Substances in Canada. Retrieved from: http://www.nationalframework-cadrenational.ca/images/uploads/file/sex-diversity-paper-bil.pdf
- ⁶¹ Harrison, S., & Ingber, E. (2004). Working with women. In S. Harrison & V. Carver (Eds.), Alcohol and drug problems: A practical guide for counsellors. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ⁶² Gliksman, L., Demers, A., Adlaf, E.M., Newton-Taylor, B., & Schmidt, K. (2000). Canadian campus survey 1998. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ⁶³ Harrison, S., & Ingber, E. (2004). Working with Women. In S. Harrison and V. Carver (Eds.), Alcohol and drug problems: A practical guide for counsellors (pp. 247–271). Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ⁶⁴ Blake, S.M., Amaro, H., Schwartz, P.M., & Flinchbaugh, L.J. (2001). Developing theory-based substance abuse prevention programs for young adolescent girls. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 21(3), 256–293.
- 65 DeWit, D.J., Akst, L., Braun, K., Jelley, J., Lefebvre, L., & McKee, C. (2002). Sense of school membership: A mediating mechanism linking student perceptions of school culture with academic and behavioural functioning. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved from: http://www.camh.net/about_addiction_mental_health/child_youth_family_resources/school_culture_report.pdf
- ⁶⁶ Adlaf, E. M., & Paglia-Boak, A. (2007). Drug use among Ontario students: Detailed OSDUS findings, 1977-2007. Retrieved from: http://www.camh.net/Research/Areas_of_research/Population_Life_Course_Studies/OSDUS/OSDUHS2007_DrugDetailed_final.pdf

- ⁶⁷ Poulin, C., & Elliott, D. (2007). Student drug use survey in the Atlantic Provinces 2007. Atlantic Technical Report. Retrieved from: http://www. health.gov.nl.ca/health/publications/pdfiles/Atl_Tech_Report_2007_ web_cover.pdf
- ⁶⁸ Paglia-Boak, A., Mann, R. E., Adlaf, E. M., & Rehm, J. (2009). Drug use among Ontario students, 1977-2009: OSDUHS highlights. (CAMH Research Document Series No. 28). Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved from: http://www.camh.net/Research/Areas_ of_research/Population_Life_Course_Studies/OSDUS/Highlights_ DrugReport_2009OSDUHS_Final_Web.pdf
- ⁶⁹ Adlaf, E. M., Demers, A., & Gliksman, L. (Eds.). (2005). Canadian Campus Survey 2004. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved from: http://www.camh.net/Research/Areas_of_research/Population_ Life_Course_Studies/CCS_2004_report.pdf
- ⁷⁰ Parker, H., & Williams, L. (2001). Alcohol, cannabis, ecstasy and cocaine: Drugs of reasoned choice amongst young adults in England. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 12(5/6), 397–413.
- ⁷¹ Poulin, C., & Elliott, D. (2007). Student drug use survey in the Atlantic Provinces 2007. Atlantic Technical Report. Retrieved from: http://www. health.gov.nl.ca/health/publications/pdfiles/Atl_Tech_Report_2007_ web_cover.pdf
- ⁷² Paglia-Boak, A., Mann, R. E., Adlaf, E. M., & Rehm, J. (2009). Drug use among Ontario students, 1977-2009: OSDUHS highlights. (CAMH Research Document Series No. 28). Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved from: http://www.camh.net/Research/Areas_ of_research/Population_Life_Course_Studies/OSDUS/Highlights_ DrugReport_2009OSDUHS_Final_Web.pdf
- ⁷³ Weekes, J. (2005). Drugs and driving FAQs. Retrieved from: http://www.ccsa.ca/NR/rdonlyres/6E9ED99A-BA61-4E19-8FB9-32C512098CD6/0/ccsa0111402005.pdf
- ⁷⁴ Poulin, C., & Elliott, D. (2007). Student drug use survey in the Atlantic Provinces 2007. Atlantic Technical Report. Retrieved from: http://www. health.gov.nl.ca/health/publications/pdfiles/Atl_Tech_Report_2007_ web_cover.pdf
- ⁷⁵ **lbid.**
- ⁷⁶ Zocolillo, M., Vitaro, F., & Tremblay, R. (1999). Problem drug and alcohol use in a community sample of adolescents, *Journal of the American Academy* of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 38(7).
- ⁷⁷ Tjepkema, M. (2004). Alcohol and illicit drug dependence. Supplement to health reports. Retrieved from: http://www.statcan.ca/english/ freepub/82-003-SIE/2004000/pdf/82-003-SIE20040007447.pdf
- ⁷⁸ Paglia-Boak, A., Mann, R. E., Adlaf, E. M., & Rehm, J. (2009). Drug use among Ontario students, 1977-2009: OSDUHS highlights. (CAMH Research Document Series No. 28). Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Retrieved from: http://www.camh.net/Research/Areas_ of_research/Population_Life_Course_Studies/OSDUS/Highlights_ DrugReport_2009OSDUHS_Final_Web.pdf

- ⁷⁹ Adlaf, E. M., & Paglia-Boak, A. (2007). Drug use among Ontario students: Detailed OSDUS findings, 1977-2007. Retrieved from: http://www. camh.net/Research/Areas_of_research/Population_Life_Course_ Studies/OSDUS/OSDUHS2007_DrugDetailed_final.pdf
- ⁸⁰ **Poulin, C., & Elliott, D.** (2007). Student drug use survey in the Atlantic Provinces 2007. Atlantic Technical Report. Retrieved from: http://www. health.gov.nl.ca/health/publications/pdfiles/Atl_Tech_Report_2007_ web_cover.pdf
- ⁸¹ **Thomas, G.** (2004). Alcohol-related harms and control policy in Canada. Retrieved from: http://www.ccsa.ca/NR/rdonlyres/EF556B91-72B8-4FB5-AB3D-ADDD96A9D895/0/ccsa0048402004.pdf
- 82 Smith, A., Stewart D., Peled, M., Poon, C., Saewyc, E., & The McCreary Centre Society. (2009). A Picture of Health: Highlights from the 2008 BC Adolescent Health Survey. Vancouver: The McCreary Centre Society. Retrieved from: http://www.mcs.bc.ca/pdf/AHS%20IV%20March%20 30%20Final.pdf
- 83 Karabanow, J. (2006). Exploring salient issues of youth homelessness in Halifax, Nova Scotia. Ottawa: Human Resources Development Canada. Retrieved from: http://www.halifax.ca/gol/documents/ HRDCfinalREPORT.pdf
- ⁸⁴ Benoit, C., & Jansson, M. (2006). Risky business? Experiences of street youth. Victoria: Centre for Youth and Society, University of Victoria. Retrieved from: http://www.youth.society.uvic.ca/activities/research/ cahr/KnowlEdge_19mar06.pdf
- 85 Williams, J., Toumbourou, J.W., McDonald, M., Jones, S., & Moore, T. (2005). A sea change on the island continent: Frameworks for risk assessment, prevention and intervention in child health in Australia. Children & Society, 19, 91-104.
- ⁸⁶ Becker, J., & Roe, S. (2005) Drug use among vulnerable groups of young people. Findings from the 2003 crime and justice survey. London, United Kingdom: Home Office. Retrieved from: http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/ rds/pdfs05/r254.pdf
- ⁸⁷ Stockwell, T. R., Toumbourou, J.W., Letcher, P., Smart, D., Sanson, A., & Bond, L. (2004). Risk and protection factors for different intensities of adolescent substance use: When does the prevention paradox apply? Drug and Alcohol Review, 23(1), 67-77.
- 88 Lerner, R. M., Dowling, E. M., & Anderson, P. M. (2003). Positive youth development: Thriving as the basis of personhood and civil society. Applied Developmental Science, 7(3), 172-180.
- 89 Damon, W. (2004). What is positive youth development? The ANNALS of the American American Academy of Political and Social Science, 591, 13-24.
- 90 Goodman, R. M., Speers, M. A., Mclerov, K., Fawcett, S., Kegler, M., Parker, E., Smith, S. R., Sterling, T. D., & Wallerstein, N. (1998). Identifying and defining the dimensions of community capacity to provide a basis for measurement. Health Education and Behavior, 25.

- 91 Foster-Fishman, P. G., Berkowitz, S. L., Lounsbury, D. W., Jacobson, S., & Allen, N. A. (2001). Building collaborative capacity in community coalitions: A review and integrative framework. American Journal of Community Psychology, 29(2), 241-261.
- ⁹² Casswell, S. (2000). A decade of community action research. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 55-74.
- 93 Giesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J. (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 31-53.
- ⁹⁴ Western Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. (n.d.). Planning and Best Practices. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. Retrieved from: http://captus.samhsa.gov/western/resources/bp/index.
- ⁹⁵ Wandersman, A., & Florin, P. (2003). Community interventions and effective prevention. American Psychologist, 58, 441-448.
- ⁹⁶ Casswell, S. (2000). A decade of community action research. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 55-74.
- ⁹⁷ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. American Journal of Public Health, 93, 557-574.
- 98 Casswell, S. (2000). A decade of community action research. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 55-74.
- ⁹⁹ Canadian Centres of Excellence for Children's Well-being. Youth engagement. What is youth engagement? Retrieved from: http://www. engagementcentre.ca/vision.php.
- ¹⁰⁰ Kahn, R., Lynn, J., Braga, A., Hoxworth, T., & Donovan, K. (2008). Engage Youth! Colorado's Guide to Building Effective Youth-Adult Partnerships. Denver, CO: Colorado Youth Partnership for Health, Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment. Retrieved from: www.cdphe.state. co.us/.../healthyyouthcolorado/.../YPHGuidebookFINALVersion2.pdf
- ¹⁰¹ Gray, A. (2002). Increasing the participation of children, young people and young adults in decision making: A literature review. New Zealand: Ministry of Social Development & Ministry of Youth Affairs. Retrieved from: http://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/ publications-resources/monitoring/agenda-children-action-areasupdate/increasing-participation-children-young-adults-in-decisionmaking-literature-review.pdf
- ¹⁰² Advocates for Youth. (n.d.). Youth Involvement in Prevention Programming. Issues at a glance. Retrieved from: www.advocatesforyouth.org
- ¹⁰³ **Gray, A.** (2002). Increasing the participation of children, young people and young adults in decision making: A literature review. New Zealand: Ministry of Social Development & Ministry of Youth Affairs. Retrieved from: http://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/ publications-resources/monitoring/agenda-children-action-areasupdate/increasing-participation-children-young-adults-in-decisionmaking-literature-review.pdf

- ¹⁰⁴ **Advocates for Youth.** (n.d.). *Youth Involvement in Prevention Programming. Issues at a glance.* Retrieved from: www.advocatesforyouth.org
- Gray, A. (2002). Increasing the participation of children, young people and young adults in decision making: A literature review. New Zealand: Ministry of Social Development & Ministry of Youth Affairs. Retrieved from: http://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/monitoring/agenda-children-action-areas-update/increasing-participation-children-young-adults-in-decision-making-literature-review.pdf
- Advocates for Youth. (n.d.). Youth Involvement in Prevention Programming. Issues at a glance. Retrieved from: www.advocatesforyouth.org
- ¹⁰⁷ U.S. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2001). Community how to guides on underage drinking prevention. National Association of Governors' Highway Safety Representatives. Retrieved from: http://www. nhtsa.dot.gov/people/injury/alcohol/Community%20Guides%20HTML/ ExecSumm.html#Acknowledge
- ¹⁰⁸ Kahn, R., Lynn, J., Braga, A., Hoxworth, T., & Donovan, K. (2008). Engage Youth! Colorado's Guide to Building Effective Youth-Adult Partnerships. Denver, CO: Colorado Youth Partnership for Health, Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment. Retrieved from: www.cdphe.state. co.us/.../healthyyouthcolorado/.../YPHGuidebookFINALVersion2.pdf
- ¹⁰⁹ U.S. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2001). Community how-to guides on underage drinking prevention. National Association of Governors' Highway Safety Representatives. Retrieved from: http://www. nhtsa.dot.gov/people/injury/alcohol/Community%20Guides%20HTML/ ExecSumm.html#Acknowledge
- Livet, M., Courser, M., & Wandersman, A. (2008). The Prevention Delivery System: Organizational Context and Use of Comprehensive Programming Frameworks. American Journal of Community Psychology, 41, 361–378.
- Dzierzawksi, D., Florin, P., Hawkins, J. D., Holder, H. D., Kressler, H., & Wilson, G. W. (2004). Community Coalitions and Prevention: A Panel Discussion. Science and Practice Perspectives. Retrieved from: http://www.drugabuse.gov/PDF/Perspectives/vol2no2/06Perspectives-Coalitions.pdf
- Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371–404.
- ¹¹³ Chavis, D. M. (2001). The Paradoxes and Promise of Community Coalitions.
 American Journal of Community Psychology, 29, 2.
- ¹¹⁴ Goodman, R. M., Speers, M. A., Mcleroy, K., Fawcett, S., Kegler, M., Parker, E., Smith, S. R., Sterling, T. D., & Wallerstein, N. (1998). Identifying and defining the dimensions of community capacity to provide a basis for measurement. *Health Education and Behavior*, 25.
- Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371–404.

- ¹¹⁶ National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Capacity Primer: Building Membership, Structure and Leadership. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371–404.
- National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Capacity Primer: Building Membership, Structure and Leadership. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- ¹¹⁹ Ibid.
- Livet, M., Courser, M., & Wandersman, A. (2008). The prevention delivery system: Organizational context and use of comprehensive programming frameworks. American Journal of Community Psychology. 41 (3/4), 361–378.
- 121 Chinman, M., Imm, P., & Wandersman, A. (2004). Getting to Outcomes: Promoting Accountability Through Methods and Tools for Planning, Implementation, and Evaluation. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention & RAND Corporation. Retrieved from: http://www.rand.org/ pubs/technical_reports/TR101/
- 1222 Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. (2002). Achieving Outcomes! A Practitioner's Guide to Effective Prevention. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov/pdfs/ AchievingOutcomes.pdf
- ¹²³ National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Capacity Primer: Building Membership, Structure and Leadership. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- ¹²⁴ Ontario Prevention Clearinghouse. (2002). Capacity Building for Health Promotion More than Bricks and Mortar. Toronto: Author. Retrieved from: http://www.opc.on.ca
- 125 Smith, L. (2000). Cited in Hawks, D., Scott, K., & McBride, M. (2002), Prevention of psychoactive substance use: A selected review of what works in the area of prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/en/ prevention_intro.pdf
- ¹²⁶ Glesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J. (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35(1/2), 31-53.
- National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Capacity Primer: Building Membership, Structure and Leadership. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- Midford, R. et al. (1994) Cited in Hawks, D., Scott, K., & McBride, M. (2002), Prevention of psychoactive substance use: A selected review of what works in the area of prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/en/ prevention_intro.pdf

- ¹²⁹ Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. (2002). Achieving Outcomes! A Practitioner's Guide to Effective Prevention. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov/pdfs/ AchievingOutcomes.pdf
- ¹³⁰ **Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E.** (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention, Journal of Primary Prevention, 23. 371-404.
- ¹³¹ Kreuter, M. W., Lezin, N. A., & Young, L. A. (2000). Evaluating communitybased collaborative mechanisms: Implications for practitioners. Health Promotion Practice, 1, 49-63.
- ¹³² Collins, D., Johnson, K., & Becker, B. (2007). A meta-analysis of direct and mediating effects of community coalitions that implemented sciencebased substance abuse prevention interventions. Substance Use & Misuse, 42(6), 985-1007.
- ¹³³ Herrman, H., Saxena, S., & Moodie R. (2004). Promoting mental health: Concepts, emerging evidence, practice. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/mental_health/ evidence/en/promoting_mhh.pdf
- 134 Hunter, S. B., Chinman, M., Ebener, P., Imm, P., Wandersman, A., & Rvan, **G.W.** (2009). Technical Assistance as a Prevention Capacity-Building Tool: A Demonstration Using the Getting to Outcomes® Framework. Health Education and Behavior, 30(5).
- ¹³⁵ Livet, M., Courser, M., & Wandersman, A. (2008). The prevention delivery system: Organizational context and use of comprehensive programming frameworks. American Journal of Community Psychology. 41(3/4), 361-378.
- ¹³⁶ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive* Behaviors, 25, 843-859.
- ¹³⁷ Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. (2002). Achieving Outcomes! A Practitioner's Guide to Effective Prevention. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov/pdfs/ AchievingOutcomes.pdf
- 138 Hunter, S. B., Chinman, M., Ebener, P., Imm, P., Wandersman, A., & Ryan, **G.W.** (2009). Technical Assistance as a Prevention Capacity-Building Tool: A Demonstration Using the Getting to Outcomes® Framework. Health Education and Behavior, 30(5).
- ¹³⁹ Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. (2002). Achieving Outcomes! A Practitioner's Guide to Effective Prevention. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of health and human services. Retrieved from: http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov/pdfs/ AchievingOutcomes.pdf
- ¹⁴⁰ Ibid.
- ¹⁴¹ Hunter, S. B., Chinman, M., Ebener, P., Imm, P., Wandersman, A., & Ryan, **G.W.** (2009). Technical Assistance as a Prevention Capacity-Building Tool: A Demonstration Using the Getting to Outcomes® Framework. Health Education and Behavior, 30(5).

- ¹⁴² **Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E.** (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. Journal of Primary Prevention, 23, 371-404.
- ¹⁴³ **St Leger, L.** (2008). Evaluating community-based health promotion initiatives: an ongoing necessity and challenge. Health Promotion International, 25(4).
- ¹⁴⁴ Hawks, D., Scott, K., & McBride, M. (2002). Prevention of psychoactive substance use: A selected review of what works in the area of prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http:// www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/en/prevention_intro.pdf
- ¹⁴⁵ Ibid.
- ¹⁴⁶ **Midford, R. et al.** (1994) Cited in Hawks, D., Scott, K., & McBride, M. (2002), Prevention of psychoactive substance use: A selected review of what works in the area of prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/en/ prevention_intro.pdf
- ¹⁴⁷ Hallfors, D., Cho, H., Livert, D., & Kadushin, C. (2002). How are community coalitions "fighting back" against substance abuse, and are they winning? American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 23, 237-245.
- ¹⁴⁸ U.S. National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2001). *Community* How To Guides On Underage Drinking Prevention. Guide 1: Coalition Building. Retrieved from: http://www.nhtsa.dot.gov/people/injury/ alcohol/Community%20Guides%20HTML/Guides_index.html
- ¹⁴⁹ National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Capacity Primer: Building Membership, Structure and Leadership. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- ¹⁵⁰ **Giesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J.** (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35 (1/2), 31-53.
- ¹⁵¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁵² **lbid.**
- ¹⁵³ Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. (2002). Achieving Outcomes! A Practitioner's Guide to Effective Prevention. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://www.nrepp.samhsa.gov/pdfs/ AchievingOutcomes.pdf
- ¹⁵⁴ Hawkins, J. D., & Catalano, R. F. (2005). Investing in Your Community's Youth: An Introduction to the Communities That Care System. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- ¹⁵⁵ Yin, R., Yu, P., Muhury, P., Greer, J., & Gwaltney, M. (2000). *Prevention* works through community partnerships: Findings from SAMHSA/ CSAP's national evaluation. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://ncadi.samhsa.gov/govstudy/ms666/findings. aspx#Ackn

- Western Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. (n.d.).
 Planning and Best Practices. Substance Abuse and Mental Health
 Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.
 Retrieved from: http://captus.samhsa.gov/western/resources/bp/index.
 cfm
- ¹⁵⁷ Ibid.
- ¹⁵⁸ Adelman, H.S., & Taylor, L. (2003). Creating school and community partnerships for substance abuse prevention programs. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23(3).
- ¹⁵⁹ Glesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J. (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35 (1/2), 31-53.
- ¹⁶⁰ Ibid.
- Hawkins, J. D., & Catalano, R. F. (2005). Investing in Your Community's Youth: An Introduction to the Communities That Care System. U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Retrieved from: http://download.ncadi.samhsa.gov/Prevline/pdfs/ctc/ Investing%20in%20Your%20Community's%20Youth.pdf
- ¹⁶² Hawks, D., Scott, K., & McBride, M. (2002). Prevention of psychoactive substance use: A selected review of what works in the area of prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http:// www.who.int/mental_health/evidence/en/prevention_intro.pdf
- ¹⁶³ Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371–404.
- ¹⁶⁴ Small, S. A., Cooney, S. M., & O'Connor, C. (2009). Evidence-informed program improvement: Using principles of effectiveness to enhance the quality and impact of family-based prevention programs. *Family Relations*, 58, 1–13.
- ¹⁶⁵ Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371–404.
- Western Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. (n.d.).
 Planning and Best Practices. Substance Abuse and Mental Health
 Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.
 Retrieved from: http://captus.samhsa.gov/western/resources/bp/index.cfm.
- ¹⁶⁷ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/planning/m&e_E.pdf
- National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Planning Primer: Developing a Theory of Change, Logic Models and Strategic and Action Plans. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources

- Western Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. (n.d.).
 Planning and Best Practices; Step 7: Evaluation. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. Retrieved from: http://captus.samhsa.gov/western/resources/bp/index.cfm.
- ¹⁷⁰ National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Implementation Primer: Putting your Plan into Action. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- ¹⁷¹ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93, 557–574.
- Western Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. (n.d.).
 Planning and Best Practices. Substance Abuse and Mental Health
 Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.
 Retrieved from: http://captus.samhsa.gov/western/resources/bp/index.
 cfm
- ¹⁷³ **lbid.**
- ¹⁷⁴ National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Planning Primer: Developing a Theory of Change, Logic Models and Strategic and Action Plans. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- Western Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. (n.d.).
 Planning and Best Practices. Substance Abuse and Mental Health
 Services Administration, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention.
 Retrieved from: http://captus.samhsa.gov/western/resources/bp/index.cfm.
- ¹⁷⁶ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive Behaviors*, 25, 843–859.
- ¹⁷⁷ Birkby, B. (n.d.). Community readiness for strategic planning in substance abuse prevention. Statewide epidemiology workgroup, Substance Abuse Prevention Program. Louisville, KY: Kentucky Department of Public Health. Retrieved from: http://www.reachoflouisville.com/SIG/ community%20readiness%20(final).pdf
- ¹⁷⁸ Graham, K., & Chandler-Coutts, M. (2000). Community action research: Who does what to whom and why? Lessons learned from local prevention efforts (international experiences). Substance Use & Misuse. 35(1/2), 87–110.
- ¹⁷⁹ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive Behaviors*, *25*, 843–859.
- ¹⁸⁰ Ibid.
- ¹⁸¹ Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371–404.
- ¹⁸² Wandersman, A., Imma, P., Chinman, M., & Kaftarian, S. (2000). Getting to Outcomes: A results-based approach to accountability. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 23, 389–395.

- ¹⁸³ National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Sustainability Primer: Fostering Long-Term Change to Create Drug-Free Communities. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www. cadca.org/resources
- 184 Hunter, S. B., Chinman, M., Ebener, P., Imm, P., Wandersman, A., & Ryan, **G.W.** (2009). Technical Assistance as a Prevention Capacity-Building Tool: A Demonstration Using the Getting to Outcomes® Framework. Health Education and Behavior, 30(5).
- ¹⁸⁵ Herrman, H., Saxena, S., & Moodie R. (2004). Promoting mental health: Concepts, emerging evidence, practice. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/mental_health/ evidence/en/promoting_mhh.pdf
- ¹⁸⁶ Chinman, M., Imm, P., & Wandersman, A. (2004). Getting to Outcomes: Promoting Accountability Through Methods and Tools for Planning, Implementation, and Evaluation. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention & RAND Corporation, Retrieved from: http://www.rand.org/ pubs/technical_reports/TR101/
- ¹⁸⁷ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive* Behaviors, 25, 843-859.
- ¹⁸⁸ **Graham. K., & Chandler-Coutts. M.** (2000). Community action research: Who does what to whom and why? Lessons learned from local prevention efforts (international experiences). Substance Use & Misuse. 35(1/2), 87-110.
- ¹⁸⁹ Chinman, M., Imm, P., & Wandersman, A. (2004). Getting to Outcomes: Promoting Accountability Through Methods and Tools for Planning, Implementation, and Evaluation. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention & RAND Corporation. Retrieved from: http://www.rand.org/ pubs/technical_reports/TR101/
- ¹⁹⁰ **Join Together.** (n.d.). Lessons learned from Fighting Back. Boston, MA: Author. Retrieved from: www.jointogether.org
- ¹⁹¹ Hayes, C.D. (n.d.). Sustaining Comprehensive Community Initiatives: Elements of success. Washington, DC: The Finance Project. Retrieved from: http://www.financeproject.org/publications/sustaining.pdf
- ¹⁹² Johnson, K. Hays, C., Center, H., & Daley, C. (2004). Building capacity and sustainable prevention innovations: A sustainability planning model. Evaluation and Program Planning, 27(2).
- ¹⁹³ Hayes, C.D. (n.d.). Sustaining Comprehensive Community Initiatives: Elements of success. Washington, DC: The Finance Project. Retrieved from: http://www.financeproject.org/publications/sustaining.pdf
- ¹⁹⁴ Backer, T. E. (2001). Finding the balance: Program fidelity and adaptation in substance abuse prevention: A state-of-the art review. Rockville, MD: Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. Retrieved from: http://www. nrepp.samhsa.gov/pdfs/FindingBalance2.pdf
- ¹⁹⁵ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/ planning/m&e_E.pdf

- ¹⁹⁶ Ibid.
- ¹⁹⁷ **Ogborne, A.C.** (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ¹⁹⁸ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. American Journal of Public Health, 93, 557-574.
- ¹⁹⁹ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive* Behaviors, 25, 843-859.
- ²⁰⁰ **Adelman, H.S., & Taylor, L.** (2003). Creating school and community partnerships for substance abuse prevention programs. The Journal of Primary Prevention, 23(3).
- ²⁰¹ **Ibid.**
- ²⁰² Yin, R., Yu, P., Muhury, P., Greer, J., & Gwaltney, M. (2000). *Prevention* works through community partnerships: Findings from SAMHSA/ CSAP's national evaluation. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://ncadi.samhsa.gov/govstudy/ms666/findings. aspx#Ackn
- ²⁰³ Peters, L., Wiefferink, C., Hoekstra, F., Buijs, G., Ten Dam, G., & Paulussen, **G.** (2008). A review of similarities between domain-specific determinants of four health behaviors among adolescents. Health Education Research, 24(2), 198-223.
- ²⁰⁴ Weissberg, R. P., & O'Brien, M. U. (2004). What works in school-based social and emotional learning programs for positive youth development. The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 591.86-97.
- ²⁰⁵ Yin, R., Yu, P., Muhury, P., Greer, J., & Gwaltney, M. (2000). *Prevention* works through community partnerships: Findings from SAMHSA/ CSAP's national evaluation. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://ncadi.samhsa.gov/govstudy/ms666/findings. aspx#Ackn
- ²⁰⁶ **Hingson, R., & Howland, J.** (2002). Comprehensive community interventions to promote health: Implications for college-age drinking problems. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 14(Suppl.).
- ²⁰⁷ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. American Journal of Public Health, 93, 557-574.
- ²⁰⁸ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive* Behaviors, 25, 843-859.
- ²⁰⁹ **Pentz, M. A.** (2000). Institutionalizing community-based prevention through policy change. Journal of Community Psychology, 28(3), 257-270.
- ²¹⁰ **Casswell, S.** (2000). A decade of community action research. *Substance Use* & Misuse, 35(1/2), 55-74.

- ²¹¹ **Spooner C.** (2005). Structural determinants of drug use: A plea for broadening our thinking. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 24 (2).
- 212 Commission on Social Determinants of Health. (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.who.int/social_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/ en/index.html
- 213 Spooner, C., & Heatherington, K. (2004). Social determinants of drug use. Technical report #228, p. 20. Sydney, Australia: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales. Retrieved from: http://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/ndarcweb.nsf/website/Publications. reports.TR228
- ²¹⁴ Coburn, D. (2004). Beyond the income inequality hypothesis: class, neo-liberalism, and health inequalities. Social Science and Medicine, 58, 41–56.
- ²¹⁵ **Holder, H.** (2000). Community prevention of alcohol problems. *Addictive Behaviors*, 25, 843–859.
- ²¹⁶ Glesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J. (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35 (1/2), 31–53.
- 217 National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Implementation Primer: Putting your Plan into Action. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- World Health Organization. (1986). Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. First International Conference on Health Promotion, Ottawa, 21 November 1986. WHO/HPR/HEP/95.1.
- ²¹⁹ National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Implementation Primer: Putting your Plan into Action. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- 220 Stevenson, J. F., & Mitchell, R. E. (2003). Community level collaboration for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 371–404.
- Pentz, M. A. (2000). Institutionalizing community-based prevention through policy change. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 28(3), 257–270.
- ²²² Ives, R. (2005). Evaluation Guidance for Practitioners: A Practical Guide to Evaluating Drug Education and Prevention Services for Young People. London, United Kingdom: Drugscope. Retrieved from: http://www.evaluationsupportscotland.org.uk/article.asp?id=45
- ²²³ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/planning/m&e_E.pdf
- ²²⁴ Ogborne, A.C. (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

- ²²⁵ Backer, T. E. (2001). Finding the balance: Program fidelity and adaptation in substance abuse prevention: A state-of-the art review. Rockville, MD: Center for Substance Abuse Prevention. Retrieved from: http://www. nrepp.samhsa.gov/pdfs/FindingBalance2.pdf
- ²²⁶ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/planning/m&e_E.pdf
- 227 National Community Anti-Drug Coalition Institute. (2009). Implementation Primer: Putting your Plan into Action. Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America. Retrieved from: http://www.cadca.org/resources
- ²²⁸ Ogborne, A.C. (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ²²⁹ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/planning/m&e_E.pdf
- ²³⁰ Ogborne, A.C. (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ²³¹ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/planning/m&e_E.pdf
- ²³² Ogborne, A.C. (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ²³³ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/planning/m&e_E.pdf
- ²³⁴ **Ibid.**
- ²³⁵ Giesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J. (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35 (1/2), 31-53.
- ²³⁶ Wandersman, A., Imma, P., Chinman, M., & Kaftarian, S. (2000). Getting to Outcomes: A results-based approach to accountability. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 23, 389–395
- ²³⁷ Ogborne, A.C. (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ²³⁸ Hallfors, D., Cho, H., Livert, D., & Kadushin, C. (2002). How are community coalitions "fighting back" against substance abuse, and are they winning? *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 23, 237–245.

- ²³⁹ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: http://www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/ action/planning/m&e_E.pdf
- ²⁴⁰ **Ogborne, A.C.** (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ²⁴¹ Parry-Langdon, N., Bloor, M., Audrey, S., & Holliday, J. (2003). Process evaluation of health promotion interventions. *Policy & Politics*, 31(2), 207-216.
- ²⁴² Small, S. A., Cooney, S. M., & O'Connor, C. (2009). Evidence-informed program improvement: Using principles of effectiveness to enhance the quality and impact of family-based prevention programs. Family Relations, 58, 1-13.
- ²⁴³ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. American Journal of Public Health, 93, 557-574.
- ²⁴⁴ Victorian Department of Human Services. (2003). Measuring health promotion impacts: A guide to impact evaluation in integrated health promotion. Melbourne. Australia: Author. Retrieved from: www.health.vic. gov.au/healthpromotion/.../measuring_hp_impacts.pdf
- ²⁴⁵ **Ogborne, A.C.** (1996). Developing Program Models for Human Service Agencies: A Step-By-Step Guide. London, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- ²⁴⁶ Hallfors, D., Cho, H., Livert, D., & Kadushin, C. (2002). How are community coalitions "fighting back" against substance abuse, and are they winning? American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 23, 237-245.
- ²⁴⁷ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/ planning/m&e_E.pdf
- ²⁴⁸ Dzierzawski, D., Florin, P., Hawkins, J. D., Holder, H. D., Kressler, H., & Wilson, G. H. (2004). Community coalitions and prevention: A panel discussion. Science & Practice Perspectives: A Publication of the National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2(2), 56-62. Retrieved from: http:// www.drugabuse.gov/PDF/Perspectives/vol2no2/06Perspectives-Coalitions.pdf
- ²⁴⁹ Hallfors, D., Cho, H., Livert, D., & Kadushin, C. (2002). How are community coalitions "fighting back" against substance abuse, and are they winning? American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 23, 237-245.
- ²⁵⁰ **Giesbrecht, N., & Rankin, J.** (2000). Reducing alcohol problems through community action research projects: Context, strategies, implications, and challenges. Substance Use & Misuse, 35 (1/2), 31-53.
- ²⁵¹ Merzel, C., & D'Afflitti, J. (2003). Reconsidering community-based health promotion: Promise, performance, and potential. American Journal of Public Health, 93, 557-574.

- ²⁵² Gates, S., McCambridge, J., Smith, L. A., & Foxcroft, D. (2006). Interventions for prevention of drug use by young people delivered in non-school settings. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, (1). Art. No.: CD005030. DOI:10.1002/14651858.CD005030.pub2. Retrieved from: www.cochrane.org/reviews/en/ab005030.html
- ²⁵³ Clyne, G. (2007). Prevention dividend project. Outcomes and best practices in creating social change. Calgary, 25-26 April, 2007. Retrieved from: http://www.calgary.ca/docgallery/bu/cns/fcss/outcomes_ conference/3c_the_prevention_divident_project.pdf
- ²⁵⁴ Ibid.
- ²⁵⁵ Victorian Government Department of Human Services. (2003). Measuring health promotion impacts: A guide to impact evaluation in integrated health promotion. Melbourne, Australia: Author. Retrieved from: www. health.vic.gov.au/healthpromotion/.../measuring_hp_impacts.pdf
- ²⁵⁶ O'Neill, M., Addy, D., & Roche, A. M. (2004). Guidelines for evaluating alcohol and other drug education and training programs. Canberra, Australia: Australian Department of Health and Ageing. Retrieved from: http://www.nceta.flinders.edu.au/pdf/evalu-guide.pdf
- ²⁵⁷ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/ planning/m&e_E.pdf
- ²⁵⁸ Chinman, M., Imm. P., & Wandersman, A. (2004). Getting to Outcomes: Promoting Accountability Through Methods and Tools for Planning, Implementation, and Evaluation. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention & RAND Corporation. Retrieved from: http://www.rand.org/ pubs/technical_reports/TR101/
- ²⁵⁹ United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2006). Monitoring and Evaluating Youth Substance Abuse Prevention Programmes. Vienna: United Nations. Retrieved from: www.unodc.org/pdf/youthnet/action/ planning/m&e_E.pdf
- ²⁶⁰ W.K. Kellogg Foundation. (1998). Foundation Evaluation Handbook. Battle Creek, MI: Author, Retrieved from: http://meera.snre.umich.edu/ links-resources/copy_of_how-to-guides-for-conducting-ee-evaluation/ general-evaluation-guides/w-k-kellogg-foundation-evaluation-handbook
- ²⁶¹ Dzierzawski, D., Florin, P., Hawkins, J. D., Holder, H. D., Kressler, H., & Wilson, G. H. (2004). Community coalitions and prevention: A panel discussion. Science & Practice Perspectives: A Publication of the National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2(2), 56-62. National Institutes of Health. Retrieved from: http://www.drugabuse.gov/PDF/Perspectives/ vol2no2/06Perspectives-Coalitions.pdf
- ²⁶² Academy of Medical Sciences. (2008). Brain science, addiction and drugs. London, United Kingdom: Author. ISBN No.: 1-903401-18-6. Retrieved from: www.acmedsci.ac.uk/download.php?file=/images/publication
- ²⁶³ Eccles, J. S., & Gootman, J. A. (2000). Community programs to promote youth development. Committee on Community-Level Programs for Youth, U.S. National Research Council. Retrieved from: http://www.nap.edu/ openbook.php?isbn=0309072751

- ²⁶⁴ **Larson, R. W.** (2000). Toward a psychology of positive youth development. *American Psychologist*. 55(1), 170–83.
- Loxley, W., Toumbourou, J. W., & Stockwell, T. (2004). The prevention of substance use, risk and harm in Australia: A review of the evidence. Perth, Australia: Australian Department of Health and Ageing. Retrieved from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/wcms/Publishing.nsf/content/ health-publith-publicat-document-mono_prevention-cnt.htm
- ²⁶⁶ Bray, J. H., Adams, G. J., Getz, J. G., & Baer, P. E. (2001). Developmental, family, and ethnic influences on adolescent alcohol usage: A growth curve approach. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 15, 301–314.
- 267 Spooner, C. & Heatherington, K. (2004). Social determinants of drug use. Technical report #228, p. 20. Sydney, Australia: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales. Retrieved from: http://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/ndarcweb.nsf/website/Publications. reports.TR228
- ²⁶⁸ Kuntsche, E., Simons-Morton, B., Fotiou, A., Ter Bogt, T., & Kokkevi, A. (2009). Decrease in adolescent cannabis use from 2002 to 2006 and links to evenings out with friends in 31 European and North American countries and regions. Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine, 163(2).
- ²⁶⁹ Benoit, C., & Jansson, M. (2006). Risky business? Experiences of street youth. Victoria: Centre for Youth and Society, University of Victoria. Retrieved from: http://www.youth.society.uvic.ca/activities/research/cahr/KnowlEdge_19mar06.pdf
- ²⁷⁰ Velleman, R., Templeton, L., & Copello, A. (2005). The role of the family in preventing and intervening with substance use and misuse: A comprehensive review of family interventions, with a focus on young people. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 24, 93–109.
- ²⁷¹ Jang, S. J., Bader, C. D., & Johnson, B. R. (2008). The cumulative advantage of religiosity in preventing drug use. *Journal of Drug Issues*, (Summer 2008).
- ²⁷² Toumbourou, J. W., Rowland, B., Jefferies, A., Butler, H., & Bond, L. (2004). Preventing drug-related harm through school re-organisation and behavior management [Prevention research evaluation report No. 12]. Melbourne, Australia: Australia Drug Foundation. Retrieved from: http://www.druginfo.adf.org.au/downloads/Prevention_Research_Quarterly/PRQ_04Nov_Early_intervention_in_schools.pdf
- ²⁷³ Fletcher, A., Bonell, C., & Hargreaves, J. (2008). School effects on young people's drug use: A systematic review of intervention and observational studies. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 42(3), 209–220.
- 274 Loxley, W., Toumbourou, J. W., & Stockwell, T. (2004). The prevention of substance use, risk and harm in Australia: A review of the evidence. Perth, Australia: Australian Department of Health and Ageing. Retrieved from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/wcms/Publishing.nsf/content/ health-publith-publicat-document-mono_prevention-cnt.htm

- ²⁷⁵ Morissette, R., & Zhang, X. (2006). Revisiting wealth inequality. *Perspectives on Labour and Income*, 7(12). Retrieved from: http://www.statcan.ca/english/freepub/75-001-XIE/75-001-XIE2006112.pdf
- 276 Spooner, C., & Heatherington, K. (2004). Social determinants of drug use. Technical report #228, p. 20. Sydney, Australia: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales. Retrieved from: http://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/ndarcweb.nsf/website/Publications. reports.TR228